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INTRODUCTION and FORWARD

The DFM (formerly DFI) was developed by the Committee on Budget and Finance (CBF) of the
United States Conference of Catholic Bishops (USCCB), in conjunction with-eosutittee, the
Accounting Practices Committee (APC), and it was initially approved by the full bdoiglwps at

its November, 2002 General Meetirihe DRV wasauthorized for publication bylsgr. William P.

Fay General Secretary, USCCB

As this DRM is revised by the APC, revisions are reviewed and approved through the USCCB and
the revised DM is publishedn the USCCB website.

This manual is published as an aide to Diocesan Financial Officers, Religious Treasurers and other
personnel responsible for the financial administration of dioceses and religious institutions of the
Roman Catholic Church in the Ued States. As mentioned above, thevDWas initially adopted in
November, 2002. However, each year the APC updates the contents of\thiaiDRe approval of

the CBF. The most recent update wasfted in November2014. Its contents are based upon
generdly accepted accounting principles in the United States at the time of its annual updates.

The DAM is not intended to be a comprehensive document addressing all financial administration
matters that might be encountetegldioceses or religious institutisrin the administration of their

finances. Rather, it is intended to be a document that addresses and offers best practices in financial
administration matters that could be considered unique to dioceses and religious institutions. As such,

it is recommenedd that the DM be used in conjunction with other authoritative guidance. The APC

has recommended Practiti onNompioft Firdncialbhnd sdcoumigg Co mp a
Manual in order to access guidance to accounting and financial reporting nta#tease common to

all nonprofit organizations. To obtain this Guide, caB0-431-9025 or go towww.ppcnet.com

Other authoritative guidance materials are commonly available.

The APC is a stlsommittee compred of diocesan financial directors and officers, and treasurers of
religious institutes that was formed by the CBF in 1981. The APC was formed for the purpose of
monitoring, commenting upon and reporting upon accounting and financial reporting princgtles t

are proposed and approved by regulators of such generally accepted principles in the United States.
The members of the APC are aided in their mission by expert advisors from the accounting
profession. The APC is the successor to the Ad Hoc Committésicmesan Financial Statements

which was formed by the United States Catholic Conference, predecessor to the USCCB, in 1971.
The DFI is the successor to these previous publicatiBiscesan Accounting and Financial
Reporting (1971); Accounting Principlesmd Reporting Practices for Churches and ChuRsated
Organizations (1981).


http://www.ppcnet.com/
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I. Financial Management Issues
1. Introduction

The Church is responsible for the financial resources which have been entrusted to it. This
responsibility includes safeguarding Church assets, exercising prudence in financial matters,
accountability to those who provide monetary support to the Churchoaredjulatory authorities,

and compliance with all civil regulations. As such, the Church is committed to the highest standards
of fiscal integrity and accountability. Strong systems of internal controls are needed to safeguard
assets by reducing the risk fraud, misuse, waste or embezzlement. It is important that all diocesan
officials and all employees within a diocese be sure that best financial practices are being followed.
Best financial practices dictate that diocesan organizations review thigiepand procedures in

light of the continuing developments and those recent developments outlined below.

The American Competitiveness and Corporate Accountability Act of 2002, commonly lasotlie
Sarbane©xley Act, was enacted in response to sevewmmporate and accounting scandals that
occurred in 2001 and 2002. l'ts purpose is to re
stability in the financial markets. The law pertains primarily to public companies and addresses
auditor independem; corporate responsibility for financial reports and internal controls, and
management issues. Certain provisions of Sarb@mésy apply to all organizations, including not

for-profits, because of preexisting law. The record retention provision and higtlewblower

protection provisions apply to nédr-profit organizations, including churches. However, it behooves

the Church to consider all of the Act’s provisi

Not-for-profit organizations are fast becoming the focus of similar oversight measures. For example,
California passed the Nonprofit Integrity Act of 2004 which addresses two broad areas of nonprofit
activity: management and fundraising. While religiougamizations are exempt from most of the
provisions of this law, they are subject to its fundraising and compensation review provisions.

The Senate Finance Committee has been considering a host of recommendations intended to
strengthen the ndor-profits ect or s transparency, management ar
Revenue Service (IRS) has expanded its Form 990 regarding information to be included in the Form
relating to a new or expanded section .tiTthleed
remainder of this chapter addresses several financial management issues that are offered as advice to
diocesan bishops to be used in theiccdses as they deem appropriate.

2. Internal Controls

The Committee on Budget and Finance of the UniteateSt Conference of Catholic Bishops
(USCCB) has published a framework titl@locesan Internal ControlsThis twentyeightpage
booklet includes chapters on the following topics:

Internal Control: A Definition

Internal Control: Relationships and Respbiliies

Establishing Internal Controls: Specific Practices, Procedures, and Techniques
Guidelines for a Diocesan Internal Controls Reviewraud and Irregularities: Concepts,
Examples, and Detection Rules

T
T
T
T



Access to the publication can be obtained at http://www.usccb.org/about/financtal
reporting/diocesaimternatcontrolsframework.cfm.

3. Fraud Prevention Programs and Controls

Guidance to help prevent and deter fraud can be fourMamagement Antifraud Programs and
Controls(originally an exhibito SAS No. 99. This document was commissioned by the Fraud

Task Force of the American | nd@PA)tAuditg of Cer t i fi
Standards Board and has been issued to provide guidance to boards of directors, audit committees
and management to prevent and deter fraud. It discusses how to evaluate the risks of fraud as well as
implement the processes, procedures amdrols needed to reduce fraud.

This 22 page document can be obtained at:

http://www.s0x
expert.com/uploads/files/Management%20Antifraud%20Programs%20and%20Controls%20(SA
S%2099%20Exhibit).pdfor http://www.soxexpert.com/resources.html

Its outline is:

1 Introduction

1 Creating a Culture of Honesty and High Ethics

1 Evaluating Antifraud Processes and Controls

1 Developing an Appropriate Oversight Process

1 Other Information- Sample Code of Conduct, Code of Ethics
1 Attachment 1

1 Attachment 2

4. Communications of Internal Control Related Matters Noted in an Audit

AU-C Section 265 Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit
establishes standards and provides guidance for auditors on communicating matters related to an
entity’s internal contr ol over financi al report
applicable whenever an auditor expresses an opinion on financial statements (including a disclaimer

of opinion).

The GAO'sGovernment Auditing Staadds, July 2007 Revisiomas updated Government Auditing
Standard’s internal cont r oAU-CtSeatiani26b44d suahytheseo b e
definitions will be applied by auditors in A133 audits as well.

5. Audit Committee

An independent audit committee should be established, or those responsibilities should be assigned

to the diocesan finance council, if the finance council consists primarily of persons who are not

di ocesan officials. An a undude oversmgim ofithe intereal contrgd r i ma r
structure, evaluating the independent auditors, discussing the audit results with the independent
auditors, overseeing the whistle blower amti-fraud policies, providing guidance in the prevention

and reportingof fraud and reviewing compliance with the Code of Conduct. Members of the audit
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committee should have the necessary professional and technical background to deal with accounting
and internal control matters.

The AICPA Audit Committee Toolkit: Niatr-Profit Organizationss a valuablgublicationfor audit
committeesin performingtheir oversight function effectively and efficiently. Thaiblication is
available at:
http://www.aicpa.org/InterestAreas/BusinessindustryAndGovernment/Resources/NotForProfitRe
sourceCenter/Pages/AICPANiair-ProfitAuditCommittee ToolkitDownloads.aspx

Each Diocese should consider having an “audit c
or Finance Council. For public companies, the SEC defines such a persavirgsthe following
attributes:

1. Anunderstanding of generally accepted accognpirinciples and financial statements;

2. The ability to assess the general application of such principles in connection with the
accounting for estimates, accruals and reserves;

3. Experience preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating financial statemahfsekent
a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to
the breadth and complexity of issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the
di ocese’s financi al St at e me mé & moreopersoasx per i ¢
engaged in such activities;

4. An understanding of internal controls and procedures for financial reporting; and
5. An understanding of audit committee functions.

The need for qualified people on audit committees at a diocese is just asimperit is for a public
company.

A sample charter addressing the Audit Oversight Responsibilities of the Audit Committee (or
Diocesan Finance Council) is attachedhis chapter aSampleE.

6. Compensation Committee_

A best practice is that each ¢hjdiocese is to establish a compensation committee or designate the
finance council to administer the pay and benefits of highly compensated employees. If a separate
committee is established then such committee should work under the auspices of thendioces
Finance Council. Highlycompensated employees are thedgse total compensation equals or
exceeds approximately $115,000 per annum as determined by the IRBE folThe amounwill be
$120,000 for 2015.

A compensation committee is composed of at l&agte (3) individuals, all of whom are deemed
independent, having no conflicts of interest. The compensation committee is responsible for assuring
that the conditions of the rebuttable presumption (See Chaptein€éome Taxes) are met, that
compensations administered consistently within the (arch)diocese and that the related policies and
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practices are consistently applied.

The committee should meet at least two times each year. At one meeting the policies and procedures
should be reviewed and approvéd.the second meeting compensation for the coming year should

be reviewed, adjusted as necessary and approvec
assure that it has been paid in accord with th
Decisions must be based on appropriate comparability data and contemporaneous documentation of

the committee’ s deli berations and decisions sho

Finally, a viable compensation committee should also have access to and the authority to engage
appropriate compensation consultants and/or attorneys to support the work of the committee.

7. Conflict of Interest Policy

Each Diocese should establish a conflict of interest policy. Although such a policy cannot prevent
illegal or unethical behavioit will help establish and create a proper control environment. The
following items should be considered when developing a conflict of interest policy.

* It should be decided who is to monitor and ensure compliance with the conflict of interest
policy. It should also be decided which personnel are required to provide a written acknowledgement
of compliance with the conflict of interest policy and disclose all potential conflicts of interest.

» Dealings with the diocese that appear to have dual interests or a conflict of interest should be
evaluated closely (e.g., transactions with entities in which a diocesan employee or volunteer has a
direct or indirect financial interest, or support beingvied to other organizations with which an
employee or volunteer is directly associated).

 Whether a matter is of significant importance to constitute a conflict of interest should be
determined by the bishop or his designee (e.g. legal counsel).

An exanple of a policy sitement is attached as ExhiBit
8. Whistle — Blower Policy

A strong preventive and detective measure against fraud in any organization is the opportunity for
employees and other constituents to anonymously report suspected wrongdoing (whistle blowing)
without the threat of retaliation. Each diocese should considepting a policy to report wrong

doing (commonly referred to as a whistleblower policy) and developing procedures to address
“whistlebl ower” complaints regarding ethics, i n
matters. A sample policptreport wrongdoing is attached to this chapter as Exhibit C.

9. Anti - Fraud Policy

Each diocese should have anti-fraud policy that is clear, concise and documented. As such, each
diocese should consider drafting a writtarti-fraud policy. The poky should state that fraud is not
tolerated and stipulate that the consequences of participating in fraudulent acts include, but are not
limited to, termination, and civil and criminal prosecution. It should also define fraudulent actions



and address howo report suspected cases of fraud. A samapiifraud policy is attached to this
chapter as Exhibit D.

10. Records Retention Policy

Each diocese should have a records retention policy and procedures. See chapter XVI for additional
information on recat retention guidelines.

11. Code of Conduct

Each diocese should establish a written Code of Conduct and proentil¢mtthe people of the
Diocese. A Code of Conduct memorializes in a clear and distinct manner appropriate behavior and
practices that wilbe followed by all clergy, religious, lay employees and volunteers. A sample Code
of Conduct is attached to this chapter as ExHibit

12. Internal Audits

Each diocese should implement some level of internal audit. Such a function is a very important
component of a sound internal control environment for parishes, schools and other diocesan entities.

The primary role of the internal audit function is to aid pastors and others in fulfilling their canonical
and legal responsibilities. An effectiirgernal audit will help safeguard the assets of a parish, review
recordkeeping, accounting and financial reporting of the parish, identify areas of improvement and
report findings and observations to the pastor, parish finance council and the audibuntiagc
committee of the diocese. Ideally, the internal auditors serve sacpve, cooperative management
advisorypartners to the pastor. A walbveloped internal audit team will function most effectively as
consultants rather than compliance monit@dding value through reviewing the parish business
operation and makinggcommendations for improvement.

An internal audit also provides an independent review and verification that an organization is
complying with laws and policies of the diocese asmaniaking economical and efficient use of its
resources. An internal audit assists management by providing independent and objective analysis of
activities and controls. Internal audits are an objective review of the policies and systems a parish,
school orother diocesan entity has in place that sometimes are never tested. Thus, an internal audit is
designed to determine whether internal controls are in place and functioning so as to safeguard
assets, provide reasonable assurance that financial activétibeiag properly recorded, summarized

and reported, and provide reasonable assurance of compliance with dipodises and civil
regulations.

The following models, or a combination thereof, are suggested as options to achieve an effective
internal aud function, depending upon the financial resources available. These three models

represent three different staffing alternatives. When only minimal financial resources are available
for the internal audit function, the scope of work performed could biéetinto the most highisk

entities and/or activities. The determination of the frequency of audits and the scope of the work
should be a function of general and specific risk analysis, considering such factors as parish size,
staffing, volume of activityhistory, etc.



Staffing a Department

It is recommended as a best practice that dioceses hire internal audit staff to routinely visit parishes to
assess financial management, internal controls and adherence to diocesan policy and civil regulation.

Outsoucing to Qualified CPA Firms

If a lack of funds prevents hiring internal audit staff, a diocese could consider outsourcing the
internal audit function through contracting with independent Certified Public Accountants

(CPA’”s) to perform an internal r elimite@assurancedof agr e e
the adequacy of financial management. The cost of the CPA services could be shared or paid by the
individual parishes.

The Use of Appropriately QualififCredentialed Volunteers

A third alternative is to consider recruiting vV
auditors to visit parishes and conduct financial reviews. The diocese should establish
criteria/credentials for those volunteersdashould select the volunteer auditors. Parish Finance
Council members should not serve in the capacity of reviewing their own parish financial operations.

In all of the above staffing models, the diocese should develop the work program utilized in
perfaming internal audits. Furthermore, the individuals performing the internal audits should report
to the chief fiscal officer of the diocese, as he/she typically has the best understanding of parish
financial issues. This does not typically create a cdnflignterest because the chief fiscal officer of

the diocese does not have direct responsibility for parish, school or other entity accounting.

Conducting internal audits of all parishes, schools and entities on an annual basis represents a
desirable gal; however, it may not be feasible in many dioceses due to financial and/or personnel
constraints. A diocese can have an effective internal audit process with less frequent internal audits if
a proper riskassessment process is utilized.

13. Summary of Good Financial Management Recommendations

A recap of recommended standards for good financial management contained in this chapter and
elsewhere in this manual follows:

A. Adopt a Code of Conduc8ample A) that-

addresses principles of ethics and integrity for all Church personnel,
stipulates guidelines for working with minor children,

addresses conduct for pastoral counselors and spiritual directors,
forbids harassment,

identifies prohibited political activigs,

addresses confidentiality, and

identifies a mechanism for reporting potential violations.
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B. Adopt a Conflict of Interest Policys@mpleB) that—

requires reporting of potential or real conflicts of interest,
prohibits gifts and favors of value that could influence, or be construed as influencing,
a decision or obligation in the perfor man
9 prohibits board members from soliciting business or favors and from voting on
decisions that may constie a conflict of interest or could give appearanceof a
conflict of interest, and
1 prohibits board members from influencing any activity that could confer a benefit on
such member or anyone in the member’'s fam

C. Adopt a WhistleblowePolicy (SampleC) that—

T
T

1 requires reporting of violations of civil and criminal laws or of the Code of Ethics by
Church personnel,

fTstipulates that al/l reports wild/l be treat
investigate allows,

1 stipulateghat all reported violations of the Code of Ethics will be investigated, and

1 prohibits retaliation against a person who makes a complaint or provides information
regarding any reasonably perceived reportable activity.

D. Adopt an Antifraud Policy GampleD) that-

1 clearly states that fraud or financial misconduct is not tolerated and that the prevention
of fraud or financial misconduct is the responsibility of all personnel involved in
Church administration, and

9 stipulates that all suspected cases of fraud or financial misconduct are to be reported
and provides assurance against recrimination,

1 defines actions constituting fraud or financial misconduct, outlines reporting and
investigating procedures, and stipethat fraudulent acts and financial misconduct
will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination and civil and
criminal prosecution.

E. Adopt an Audit Services Pigpproval and Independence Polidpat

1 requires the audit committeor diocesan Finance Council tofaqgprove all services

to be provided by an audit firm and the fees for those services,

precludes specific services that could I m
considers audit partner rotation after seven consecysiaes of service,

stipulates minimum reporting standards by auditors to the audit committee or diocesan
Finance Council.

= =4 =4

F. Establish a diocesan Finance Council (see Chapter 8 of this manual) with a written charter
to monitor diocesan finances and to fulfill the requirements of canon law. Among other
responsibilities, the diocesan Finance Council, which is advisory to thesdiodgshop,
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should be required to recommend to the diocesan bishop:

approval of the hiring of an independent audit firm,

approval of the budget of the diocese,

approval of the annual financial report,

responses to the required communications fronatfutt firm,

approval of asset allocation ranges for diocesan investments, and

approval of diocesan assessments and all transactions requiring Finance Council
approval by canon law.

=A =4 =4 -4 -8 -4

Submit an annual Representation Statement to the metropolitan sli@bfor senior
suffragan bishop) signed by the diocesan Finance Council members, the bishop and chief
financial officer certifying that the diocesan Finance Council executed its responsibilities
and specifying meeting dates during the previous fiscalam@isince yearend.

Have independent audits performed for all significant diocesan entities.

Publish the annual financial report of the diocese (including financial statements and
footnotes, and the report of the independent auditor) so that it is available to all registered
households.

Adopt an Investment Policy Statement and Socially Redplenthvestment Guidelines
that are reviewed periodically.

Establish an Investment Committee with a standard charter to review and approve
investment policies, monitor investments and ensure compliance with the investment policy
and socially responsiblinvestment guidelines.

Parish Financial Management See Chapter XX

Issue budgeting and financial reporting guidelines for all diocesan parishes, schools and
agencies, stipulating that
9 budgets are to be prepared annually,
1 the pastor and financeouncil are to review actual revenues and expenses against
budgeted amounts on a regular basis,
1 periodic financial reports are to be issued to the parish council and an annual financial
report is to be issued to the entire parish community, and
1 the finartial reports and supporting schedules required by the diocese are to be
submitted timely.

Adopt a Clergy Remuneration Policy that stipulates compensation levels for all clergy,
delineates travel, housing, and meal expenses that are the responsiliigypafish, and
summarizes benefit plans available to diocesan priests.

Issue a records retention schedule for financial records that is consistent with the guidelines
published by the United States Conference of Catholic Bishops.

Require compliancerith diocesan guidelines to open all bank and investment accounts.

Establish standard procurement procedures and require competitive bids when hiring an
outside vendor/contractor when the total cost exceeds a specified dollar amount.

Establish guidlines for new acquisitions and construction or renovation projects that
address the necessary planning, financial requirements, fund raising, and construction
process.



Establish standard cash collection count procedures that require multiple unrelated
counters, the use of locked or sealed bags for storing and transporting deposits, and the use
of standard count sheets that are signed by all counters.

Codify all financial policies and procedures for parishes, missions and schools in a manual
that is available through the internet or intranet.

Conduct annual workshops for parish finance council members, parish financial staff and
pastors that address timely isspestaining to parish financial policies and procedures and
civil regulations.

Perform parish financial reviews or internal audits designed to test the existence and
effectiveness of parish internal accounting controls and compliance with diocesaaspolic
and civil regulations.
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Sample A - Code of Conduct

Insert (Arch)diocesan Mission Statement and statement as to importance of complying with the Code
of Conduct.

All clergy, religious, lay employees and volunteers (represeestiof the (Arch)diocese, its
parishes (and parish schools), (Arch)diocesan high schools and other (Arch)diocesan entities must, at
all times, comply with all applicable laws and regulations. The (Arch)diocese will not condone the
activities of those whachieve results through violation of the law or unethical or immoral business
dealings. This includes any payments for illegal acts, indirect contributions, rebates, bribery and
other similar types of activity.

All conduct should be clearly above the mmim standards required by law and expected by the
Church. Accordingly, all representatives must ensure that their actions cannot be interpreted as being,
in any way, in contravention of laws, regulations or principles governing the activities and mfssion o
any (Arch)diocesan entity. Representatives that are uncertain about the application or interpretation
of any legal requirements should refer the matter to their supervisor, who, if necessary, should seek
t he advi ce of Offideerhié designde(s)lbi shop’ s

General Conduct

All representatives of (Arch)diocesan entities are expected to conduct themselves in a professional,
Christian, businesslike manner. Drinking, gambling, fighting, swearing, and similar unprofessional
activities are strictly prohibited while on the job. Representatives must not engage in sexual
harassment, or conduct themselves in a way that could be construed as such, for example, by using
inappropriate language or jokes, keeping or posting inappropriate rigatariaeir work areas, or
accessing inappropriate materials on workplace computers.

Conflicts of Interest

All representatives of (Arch)diocesan entities are expected to perform their duties conscientiously,
honestly, and in accordance with the bestredts of the Church. Representatives must not use their
position or the knowledge gained as a result of their position for private or personal advantage.
Regardless of the circumstances, if a representative senses that a course of action they have pursued,
are presently pursuing, or are contemplating pursuing may involve them in a conflict of interest, they
should immediately communicate all the facts to their supervisor.

Outside Activities of Employees

All Church employees are called always to act in a manner that is consistent with Catholic principles
and teachings, and have a serious responsibility for good public relations. Their readiness to help
parishes, schools, and other charitable and eduché#otnaties is encouraged. Employees must,
however, avoid acquiring any business interest or committing to any other activity that would, or
would appear to:

10
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1 Create an excessive demand upon their time and attention, thus deprvir{@itch)diocesan
employer of theibest efforts on the job, or
1 Create a conflict of interestan obligation, interest, or distractierthat may interfere with
the independent exercise of judgment in thei.

Employee Relationships With Clients and Suppliers

Employees should avoid investing in or acquiring a financial interest for their own accounts in any
business that has a contractual relationship with the (Arch)diocese, or that provides goods or
services, or both to the (Archiiese, if such investment or interest could influence or create the
impression of influencing their decisions in the performance of their duties on behalf of the
(Arch)diocese.

Gifts, Entertainment, and Favors

Representatives must not accept entertaimmgifts, or personal favors that could influence, or
appear to influence, Church business decisions in favor of any person or company with whom or with
which we are likely to have business dealings. Similarly, representatives must not accept any other
preferential treatment under these circumstances because it may be perceived to place them under an
obligation. Meals, entertainment, holiday gifts and similar items that are infrequent and of modest
value are not considered violations of this Code of Condlnciases of doubt, one should discuss the
matter with their supervisor.

Kickbacks and Secret Commissions

Employees may not receive payment or compensation of any kind, except as authorized under their
empl oyer’s remuner at ieaaeptanzd of kickbacks.andlsetret@nmissioosu | a r
from suppliers or others is strictly prohibited. Any breach of this rule may result in immediate
termination and prosecution to the fullest extent of the law.

(Arch)diocesan Funds and Other Assets

Represetatives who have access to (Arch)diocesan entity funds in any form must follow the
prescribed policies and procedures for recording, handling, and protecting those funds as detailed in

t he (Arch)diocese’ s and par i s heterials. edliaes anggp ol i c i
procedures are in place to prevent fraud and dishonesty. If an employee becomes aware of any
evidence of fraud and dishonesty, they should immediately advise the designated personnel so they
can promptly investigate the matter.

Whena representative’s position requires spendir
rei mbursabl e personal expenses, t hat individual
ensure that good value is received for such expenditures.

(Archydioc esan entity funds and all ot her assets of
purposes only and not for personal benefit.
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Records and Communications

Accurate and reliable records of many kinds are necessary to meet agausand financial
obligations, and to manage the affairs of (Arch
reflect all business transactions in an accurate and timely manner. The employees responsible for
accounting and any other record g must exercise diligence in fulfilling these responsibilities.

Representatives must not make or participate in making any false record or communication of any
kind, whether internal or externahcluding but not limited to:

1 False expense, attendance, financial, or similar reports and statements

9 False advertising, deceptive practices, or other misleading representations

Dealing With Outside People and (Arch)dioceses

Representatives must take care to separate their perabemifrom their official positions when
communicating on matters not involving (Arch)diocesan entity business. Employees must not use
(Arch)diocesan entity identification, stationery, supplies, and equipment for personal or political
matters.

When commai cati ng publicly on matters t hat i nvol"
representatives must not presume to speak for the entity or (Arch)diocese on any topic, unless they

are certain that the views they express are those of the entity, and gistent i ty’ s desi r
views be publicly disseminated.

When dealing with anyone, including public officials, outside the (Arch)diocese, representatives
must take care not to compromise the integrity or damage the reputation of either the (Arptgbisho
the (Arch)diocesan entity, or any individual, business, or government body.

Prompt Communications

In all matters relevant to parishioners, churches, schools, government authorities, the public and
others in the (Arch)diocese, all representativestrmake every effort to achieve complete, accurate,
and timely communicatiorsresponding promptly and courteously to all proper requests for
information and to all complaints.

Privacy and Confidentiality
When handling financial and personal informatioowtithe (Arch)diocese, parishes, parishioners, or
others with whom we have dealings, representatives must observe the following principles:

1. Collect, use, and retain only the personal information necessary for the business. Whenever

possible, obtain any kevant information directly from the person concerned. Use only
reputable and reliable sources to supplement this information.

2. Retain information only for as long as necessary or as required by law. Protect the physical
security of this information.
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3. Limit internal access to personal information to those with a legitimate business reason for
seeking that information. Use only personal information for the purposes for which it was
originally obtained. Obtain the consent of theso@ concerned before externally disclosing
any personal information, unless legal processes or contractual obligation provides otherwise.
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Sample B — Conflicts of Interest/Private Inurements Policy

Purpose

The purpose of this conflicts of interest and privateementpolicy is to protect the (Arch)diocese's
interest when it is contemplating entering into a transaction or arrangement that might benefit the
interests of private individuals, including but dimbited to employees and individuals performing

work on behalf of the (Arch)diocese and other persons in a position to influence the affairs of the
(Arch)diocese. This policy is intended to supplement but not replace any applicable state laws
governing caflicts of interest applicable to neprofit and charitable corporations. This policy
should be distributed to existing and future executives, officers, trustees, directors, and members of
advisory boards, councils and committees.

Introduction

Non-profit charitable, religious, and educational organizations obtain thegxampt status under

the theory that they perform valuable services for society and lessen the burdens of government. If a
tax-exempt organization allows its money or other propertyetaided for private rather than public

gain (i.e., for "privatenurement or "private benefit"), then it risks losing its exemption. In addition,
underthe "intermediate sanctions" provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, "disqualified persons”
such as (Ach)bishops, CFOs, other (Arch)diocesan officials, board members, major donors doing
work for the (Arch)diocese, etc., who receive "excess benefits" are subject to an excise tax ranging
from 25% to 200%, depending on the circumstances. Furthermore, amyzatgaal manager who
knowingly facilitates such an excess benefit is subject to a 10% tax. In light of these IRS restrictions
and, more importantly, in order to assist the (Arch)diocese in fulfilling its responsibilities to act as a
competent and trustwihy steward of church goods, the (Arch)diocese has developed this policy.

Identifying a Private Inurement or Private Benefit Problem

In brief, "privateinurement is the paymentor diversion of an exempt organization's assets to its
officials, officers, directors, employees, relatives, friends, major donors, or others in a special
relationship to the organization who can influence or control the policy or thedkay activities of

the organizatiotior less than full and adequate consideratitiris abroad concept that can exist in a
variety of transactions under a variety of circumstances. Piiivatementalso extends to the use of
organizational assets for "private benefits" such as sales, leasing, construction contracts, service
transactions, etcat other than fair market value or the exploitation of the exempt organifation
the benefit of a private busine@sg., "sweetheart deals,” promotional schemes, and/or giveaways to
private individuals or businesses). Thus, under IRS regulationsyatepbenefit is similar to, but
broader than, privat@urement

To avoid a material private inurement or benefit in the types of transactions described above, the
particular (Arch)diocesan parish, school, or agency must enter into transactionbémefis, rather

than for a private party's benefit, and exercise due diligence to ensure that the proposed transaction is
fair and reasonable such that under the circumstances the organization could not have obtained a
more advantageous arrangement witdsomable effort. In addition to screening proposed

transactions through the applicable councils, boards, or trustees, care should be taken to follow
(Arch)diocesan policies and procedures pertaining to the signing of contracts.
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Conflicts of Interest

A conflict of interest may exist when persons employed by the "(Arch)diocese” (i.e., the Central
Administrative Office, parishes, schools, (Arch)diocesan agencies, and/or affiliated entities), those
volunteers of the (Arch)dioces®lding trusteeships or other management authority, or those serving
on advisory or consultative boards, councils or committees have a direct or indirect financial interest,
as defined below.

Financial Interest

A person has a “financial interest" if theerpon has, directly or indirectly, through business,
investment, or family (including spouses; brothers or sisters; spouses of brothers or sisters; ancestors;
children, grandchildren, and great grandchildren; and spouses of children, grandchildrenatnd gre
grandchildren), any one of the following:

a. An ownership or investment interest in any entity with which the (Arch)diocese has
a transaction or arrangement;

b. A compensation arrangement with the (Wdiocese or with any entity or
individual with whom the (Arch)diocese has a transaction or arrangement;

c. A potential ownership or investment interest with, or compensation arrangement
with, any entity or individual with whom the (Arch)diocese is negotiating a
transaction or arrangement. Compensationcludes direct and indirect
remuneration as well as gifts or favors that are substantial in nature.

Duty to Disclose

In connection with any actual or possible conflict of interest, an interested person must disclose the
existence and nature of his orrlimancial interest and all material facts. Reports should be made to
(Arch)diocesan personnel as designated by the (Arch)bishop, i.e., vicar general, chancellor, attorney,
chief financial officer or internal auditor. Reports should include relevant nradfbon that is
discernible.

Investigation
The designated (Arch)diocesan personnel shall be responsible for a thorough and expeditious
investigation of the actual/possible conflict of interest.

Proposed decisions on disposition of a case will be disdussth the (Arch)bishop or his
designee(s). The results of all reported conflicts of interest and the final resolution shall be reported
to the Audit Committee.
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Subsequent Conflicts and Disclosures
Notwithstanding previouslisclosurs of actual or potential conflicts of interest, an individual shall
make a new disclosure of conflicts when any matter involving the conflict of interest arises for
discussion or action. In the event that an individual is uncertain whether @al actpotential
conflict of interest exists, the individual should make disclosure of the circumstances that may give
rise to an actual or potential conflict.

Confidential or Privileged Information

Information known to be confidential that is acquilgdindividuals in the course of employment or
association with the (Arch)diocese and its affiliated entities shall be used only for the benefit and
purposes of the (Arch)diocese. Individuals shall neither disclose confidential information outside the
scopeof their authorized duties nor utilize their position or association with the (Arch)diocese for
personal identification or advantage, although there may be instances, based on the use of careful
discretion and judgment, where incidental use of the asgwtiaith the (Arch)diocese may be
appropriate.
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Sample C — Whistleblower Policy

Sample Policy to Report Wrong-doing

Federal and/or State regulatory requirements for establishing whistleblower reporting programs and
for the protecobn of employees from retaliatory actions should be considered in developing and
implementing a policy to report wroragping such as the example that follows.

(Arch)diocese of Xxx Policy to Report Wrong-doing General

The (Arch)diocese of Xxx Code of Cormturequires all representatives of the Church, including
clergy, religious, directors, and other volunteers, and lay employees, to observe high standards of
business and personal ethics in the conduct of their duties and responsibilities. All represenitativ

the Church must practice honesty and integrity in fulfilling their responsibilities and comply with all
applicable laws and regulations.

The objectives of the Policy to Report Wredging are to establish policies and procedures for:
1 The submissionf concerns regarding questionable financial or legal matters, violations
and suspected violations of the Code of Conduct, Code of Canon Law and other
concerns by the stakeholders of the Church, on a confidential and anonymous basis;
1 The receipt, retgion, and treatment of complaints received by the organization;
1 The protection of anyone reporting concerns from retaliatory actions.

Reporting Responsibility

Each representative of the (Arch)diocese of Xxx has an obligation to report in accordance with this
policy (a) questionable or improper accounting or auditing matters, (b) violations and suspected
violations of (Arch) di oc e $imarcial, leGab af eanamital cGnoemnd u c t
(hereinafter collectively referred to as Concerns).

Reports of Concerns should be made to (Arch)diocesan personnel as designated by the (Arch)bishop,
i.e., vicar general, chancellor, attorney, chief financial offaeinternal auditor. All Concerns are to

be reported as soon as possible. Reports of Concerns should include all relevant information about
the suspected act, including any material evidence that exists.

No Retaliation

This policy is intended to encrmage and enable stakeholders to raise Concerns within the
Organization for investigation and appropriate action. With this goal in mind, no stakeholder who, in
good faith, reports a Concern shall be subject to retaliation or, in the case of an emplogese, ad
employment consequences. Moreover, anyone who retaliates against someone who has reported a
Concern in good faith is subject to discipline up to and including dismissal from their position within

the Church.

Investigation

The designated (Arch)diosan personnel shall be responsible for a thorough and expeditious
investigation of the reported Concern.
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Proposed decisions on disposition of a case will be discussed with the (Arch)bishop or his
designee(s). The results of all ceed Concern investigations and the final resolution shall be
reported to the audit committee.

Acting in Good Faith

Anyone reporting a Concern must act in good faith and have reasonable grounds for believing the
information disclosed indicates an improper accounting or auditing practice, or a violation of the
Code of Conduct or other management policies. The act ofngalllegations that prove to be
unsubstantiated, and that prove to have been made maliciously, recklessly, or with the foreknowledge
that the allegations are false, will be viewed as a serious disciplinary offense and may result in
discipline, up to and rluding dismissal from their position with the Church. Such conduct may also
give rise to other actions, including civil lawsuits.

Confidentiality

Reports of Concerns, and investigations pertaining thereto, shall be kept confidential to the extent
possilbe, consistent with the need to conduct an adequate investigation. Disclosure of reports of
Concerns to individuals not involved in the investigation will be viewed as a serious disciplinary
offense and may result in discipline, up to and including tertoim®f the violators position in the

Church. Such conduct may also give rise to other actions, including civil lawsuits.

Sample Whistleblower Tracking Report

Date Tracking Description of | Submitted By Current Status: Actions Taken
Submitted Number Concern (CL) Clergy R Resolved
(R) Religious Lay Ul Under Investigation
(E) Employee D Dismissed
(C) Constituent W Withdrawn
(V) Vendor P Pending/ No Action
(S) Stakeholder
(0) Other
Date Comments

Documentation
Before using this sample, the (Arch)diocese should review any applicable state or local laws or
regulations, and the appropriate rules promulgated by other relevant regulatory bodies, if any.

18



Sample D
Page 1 of 2

Sample D - Anti-Fraud Policy

Policy Statement

The (Arch)diocesef Xxx promotes a culture of honest and
There is a significant responsibility associated with being stewards of the temporal resources of the
church: responsibility to saf ewgaiafmahcia rmagersCdh ur c h’
be accountable to those who provide monetary support to the Church, and to comply with all civil
regulations.

Fraud is not tolerated. The prevention of fraud is the responsibility of all clergy, religious, lay
employees, truees, finance council members and other volunteers involved in church administration
by adherence to (Arch)diocese policies and procedures. The (Arch)diocese expects that any
suspected case of fraud will be reported, and provides assurance againstagorinffersons found

to have participated in fraudulent acts will be subject to disciplinary action, including termination,
and civil and criminal prosecution.

Actions Constituting Fraud

The (Arch)diocese of Xxx defines fraud as the intentional misusenieappropriation of an
(Arch)diocesan entity’s resources or assets for
Fraud also includes the intentional false representation or concealment of a material fact relating to

the misuse or misappropiabn of an ( Arch)di ocesan entity’s re
also includes any intentional falsification of, or misrepresentation in, financial statements. Actions
constituting fraud include, but are not limited to:

1 Misappropriation of fundssecurities, supplies or other assets;

1 Impropriety in the handling or reporting of money or financial transactions;

1 Breach of fiduciary duty, including disclosing confidential information to outside parties;

1 Seeking anything of value from contractovendors or persons providing (or seeking to
provide) services/ materials to an (Arch)dio
benefit;

1 Accepting anything of value from contractors, vendors or persons providing (or seeking to
provide) services/matetii s t o an (Arch)diocesan entity f
benefit, in violation of the (Arch)diocesan Conflict of Interest Policy;

Bribery;

Inappropriate use of computer systems or other property of the (Arch)diocesan entity;
Unauthorized destruicin or removal of records, furniture, fixtures and equipment;
Intentional falsification of, or misrepresentatiorn financial statements; and

Any dishonest act.

=A =4 =4 -4 -4

Reporting Fraud to the (Arch)diocese

Suspected fraud should be reported to (Arch)diocpesasonnel as designated by the (Arch)bishop,

i.e., vicar general, chancellor, attorney, chief financial officer or internal auditor. All suspected
frauds are to be reported as soon as possible. Failure to promptly report suspected acts of fraud may
jeopa di ze t he (Arch)diocese’ s ability to recove
improperly prepared financial statements on a timely basis. Reports of suspected fraud should
include all relevant information about the suspected act, including aterial evidence that exists.
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Investigation
The designated (Arch)diocesan personnel shall be responsible for a thorough and expeditious
investigation of the suspected fraud. Unless the report was anonymous, the person submitting the
initial report will receive confirmation indicating that their report was received and that the
subsequent investigation is confidential. That person may or may not be contacted during the
investigation.

Proposed decisions on disposition of a case wilbdbcided by the (Arch)diocesan (Arch)bishop or
his designee(s). The results of all reported fraud investigations and the final resolution of all
confirmed acts of financial fraud shall be reported to the Audit Committee/Finance Council.

Records Retention
Fraud investigation files should be retained in accordance with guidelines established by the
(Arch)diocesan attorney.

Confidentiality

Information about cases will be disclosed to those parties with a legitimate need to know. All parties
with knowledg of such cases are to maintain confidentiality in order to avoid damaging the
reputations of persons suspected but subsequently found innocent of wrongful conduct, and to protect
the (Arch)diocese from potential civil liability.
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Sample E - Audit Oversight Responsibilities of the Audit Committee
(or (Arch)diocesan Finance Council)

Summary

The (Arch)diocesan Finance Council has a responsibility to oversee the financial reporting process of
(Arch)diocesan entities and to advise the (Arch)bishop in matters pertaining to financial reporting
and the annual financial audit.

However, it is not the responsibility of the (Arch)diocesan Finance Council to provide expert
assurance regarding the fircdal statements or the annual financial audit. Furthermore, diocesan
officials are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements, for the fair presentation in the
financi al statements of t he e nttiestandecash floivi imanci a
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, and for the design and
implementation of its systems of internal accounting control.

Furthermore, the (Arch)diocesan Finance Council is advisory toAttad)pishop, in most matters

(see Chapter VIII), and discharges its duty by (1) acting in good faith; (2) utilizing the care that an
ordinary prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar conditions; and (3) acting in a
manner that they esonably believe to be in the best interests of the (Arch)diocese.

The inquiries, discussions and reviews required in the following key responsibilities are to be
performed by the (Arch)diocesdainance Council or may be wholly or partially performed by an
(Arch)diocesan Audit Committee. However, if any such matters are assigned to an Audit Committee,
the Finance Council should require the Audit Committee to report fully all significant matters o
findings to the Finance Council.

Key Responsibilities

Systems of Internal Accounting Controls

1) Inquire whether diocesan officials are setting the appropriate tone by communicating the
importance of internal controls so that all individuals possessderstanding of their roles and
responsibilities.

2) Inquire whether diocesan officials are using independent firms to review computer systems and
applications, the security of such systems and applications, and the contingency plan for
processing finacial information in the event of a systems breakdown.

3) Discuss with the independent auditors any internal control recommendations made during the
course of their audit and inquire from both the outside auditors and diocesan officials as to whether
internal control recommendations identified by the independent auditors have been implemented.

4) Inquire of the independent auditors, diocesan officials and legal counsel about any suspected
or confirmed fraud, illegal acts, or deficiencies in intéomatrols.
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5) Regarding complaints pertaining to accounting and auditing matters:
a) Inquire whether procedures have been established for the confidential, anonymous submission
by employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting and auditing matters; and

b) Review the receipt and treatment of complaints received regarding &ingoan auditing
matters that were submitted by any party, internal or external to the organization.

Compliance with laws and regulations
1) Review the findings of any examinations by regulatory agencies.

2) Review with counsel any legal matters that could have a significant impact on the financial
statements.

Compliance with Code of Conduct and other management policies

1) Ensure that a policy addressing ethical conduct is formalized in writing andit thet
communicated to all employees and volunteers.

2) Ensure that whistleblower arahti-fraud policies are formalized in writing and that they are
communicated to all employees and volunteers.

3) Periodically obtain updates from management and gecewakel regarding compliance with the
code of conduct.

4) Periodically obtain the results of all reported fraud and whistleblower investigations.

5) Inquire whether conflict of interest forms have been received from appropriate officials and
reviewed forconflict issues.

Financial Reporting

Before the audited financial statements are issued to the public, meet with diocesan officials and the
independent auditors to review the annual financial statements and the results of the audit. This
meeting shouldake place not later than approximately four months after the end of the fiscal year.
Ask diocesan officials and the independent auditors about significant risks and exposures, the
accounting and disclosure of these risks and exposures in the annuahfisetements, and plans

to minimize such risks in the future. Also, ask the auditors their assessment of the quality of
accounting principles, the degree wmdasonablenessf estimates and about other significant
judgments made by diocesan officials mearing the financial statements and disclosures. Ask the
independent auditors to report on and to discuss the following:

a) All changes to significant accounting policies and practices used by the diocese; including

critical accounting estimates, andw@urrent and anticipated future events impact those
determinations;
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b) All changes in alternative treatments (accounting and disclosure) of financial information
within generally accepted accounting principles for policies andipeacrelated to material
items that have been discussed with diocesan officials, including the ramifications of the use
of such alternatives and the treatment preferred by the auditors; and

c) Other material written communications between the auditors and diocesan officials. The
following are examples, not alhclusive, of written communications that should be reviewed:

i) Schedules of material unadjusted differences and a listing of aladjustments and
reclassifications not recorded, if any, for all entities;

i) Di ocesan management s’ representation | ett
iii) Reports on observations and recommendations on internal controls;

iv) The engagenrd letter for the audit of the financial statements;

v) The audit firm s independence in relatiol
vi) The final billing for services rendered, if different than the- gperoved amount.

Independent Auditors
a) Recommaead to the (Arch)bishop the appointment or discharge of the independent auditors.

b) Recommend all audit, review and attest services, all agneewl procedures, and all other
services to be performed for all diocesan entities by the independent auditors.

¢) Review and confirm the independence of the independent auditors by:
i) Reviewing the nonaudit services performed by the auditors, and

i) Revi ewing the audi tors’ | ead and concurr
schedules.
d Recommend approval of the independent auditor

Other Matters

a) Meet with the independent auditors and diocesan officials in separate executive sessions to discuss
any matters that the Audit Committee/Finance Council believes should be digotigatsly.

b) Ensure that significant findings by the independent auditors are received and addressed on a timely
basis.

c) If necessary, recommend to the (Arch)bishop that he institute special investigations and, if
appropriate, hire special counselexperts.

d) Advise the (Arch)diocese concerning the possible hiring a member of the audit engagement team
for a financial reporting oversight position in the diocese.

€). Annually review and update this docem, as needed.

23



1. Cemeteries

Many dioceses operate cemeteries. These may be sepastteprofit corporations, or they may be
divisions operating within the central administrative offices. The accounting for these operations is
the same regardlesstbie entity structure.

Generally accepted accounting principles for diocesan cemeteries are generally included in the
Codification as it relates to various assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Accounting policies and
disclosures in the following areanay be unique to cemeteries:

1 Provision of perpetual care and maintenance

U Liability for future care costs

U Net asset classification
Revenue recognition policies for deferred service contracts
Rights of return
Recognizing the costs of developed spacthase spaces are sold
Installment sales contracts
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In addition, state and local laws and regulations do vary significantly and these variations can have a
significant impact on the items discussed below. Dioceses should have discussions with thesr audito
and legal counsel.

Provision of Perpetual Care and Maintenance

Typically, cemeteries maintain the property and facilities associated with the operations of the
cemeteries in perpetuity. The annual operating costs can be substantial and when prigected
perpetuity, in most instances, can be material to not only the cemeteries but also to the diocese that
oversees their operations.

From a canonical perspective there is no explicit obligation on the part of the operators of the
cemeteries to ensure rpetual maintenance. However, given the fact that cemeteries are sacred
grounds for the burial of the dead, they should be cared for with dignity, thus implying a moral
obligation to maintain cemeteries. As a result, contractual terms vary greatly frodiooese to

another but generally call for some commitment by the cemeteries to maintain properties as
cemeteries. In addition, state and local laws vary. In some cases, state law may require that operating
cemeteries are required to deposit a portioneg¥ Bales proceeds into a state or statesupervised

fund set up to provide for perpetual care. Other regulations require the establishment of segregated or
setaside net assets in separate bank accounts but maintained on the statement of finarariabiposit

the cemeteries. Finally, some state statutes specifically exclude religious cemeteries from these
requirements all togetheA brief legal description of maintenance funds can be found here:

http://cemeteries.uslegal.com/cemetergintenance/maint&ancefunds/
The accounting treatment for the perpetual care and maintenance of cemeteries is dependent on the
applicability of a number of the above factors. A careful and detailed review of the contractual terms

and the state and local laws in eachsdigtion should be undertaken with the assistance of the
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operator’s attorneys and accountants in arriuvi
contracts would be governed by state law and the contractual terms should be reviewed periodically
to ersure a continued appropriate understanding and accounting of the contractual terms. In some
instances, a conclusion may be reached that supports the recording of an actuarially calculated
liability projection to properly reflect a specific obligation toopide perpetual care and
maintenance. In other instances, the review may lead to the conclusion that amounts set aside should
be recorded as unrestricted assets held for limited use.

An essential step is determining whether the existing factors (coraraetms, state and local laws

and regulations, published intent, etc.) support recording a liability. A conclusion that a liability
exists would result in future maintenance costs (discounted at an appropriate discount rate) being
recorded as sales occur.

Readers may want to review the discussion paper prepared in 2013 by the Accounting Practices
CommitteeGr ant Thor nt oMadaging\WWdmetere peragiual care obligations within

your dioceseat

http://www.grantthornton.com/issues/library/whitepapers/nfp/2013/09-managing-cemetery-perpetual-
care.aspx

Net Asset Classifications

The net assets of cemeteries are typically classified in the financial statements as unrestricted, as the
revenues generally originate from exchange transactions. As discussed above, some cemeteries
designate a portion of unrestricted net assets for pemhanaintenance and future development.
Some cemeteries operate in accordance with state laws that requisalseif sales contracts for
permanent maintenance funds and for future development funds. Such laws may require that the
principal shall remai inviolate. The net assets could therefore fall into any one of the following
categories:

1 Unrestricted—operating (includes net assets invested in land, building, and
equipment)

Unrestricted—designated for future development or for future maintenance
Unrestricted—assets held for limited use

Temporarily restricteg-donorimposed

Permanently restricteddonorimposed restrictions (such as trust funds)

= =4 =4 =9

Undesignated unrestricted net assetfiese represent general operations of the cemeteries.

Unrestricted designated for future development or future maintenanSeme cemeteries internally
designate a portion of the unrestricted net assets for future development or future maintenance. These
designations should be formally made by the appropriate goverm@rgpns or groups. These
designated net assets are to be held by the cemeteries and are to be used solely for development and
maintenance of cemetery grounds. Such designations may-tesignated by the cemeteries
because they do not represent funds icstt by a donor. Other designations may be contractually
stipulated.

Unrestricted assets held for limited usgtates may have a requirement that a portion of the sales for
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lots, crypts, and niches be set aside for permanent maintenance funds. In sesnéhesprincipal is

to remain inviolate. If after review of state and local laws and the contractual terms the organization
concludes that amounts set aside should be recorded as net assets, these should be recorded as
unrestriced assets held for limideuse.

Temporarily restrictedIn the event a contribution, independent of a burial contract, is made to the
cemetery that is restricted by time or purpose, the unexpended portion is presented as temporarily
restricted. Expenses may be incurred for pugpofor which both unrestricted and temporarily
restricted net assets are available. If such an expense is incurred, the temporarily restricted net assets
are used first unless the expense is for a purpose that is directly attributable to another specific
external source of revenue.

Permanently restrictedlf a contribution is made to the cemetery which stipulates that the principal
cannot be used and only the earnings thereon are to provide special care or adornments (i.e., flags,
wreaths, etc.) or perpetumaintenance for all or any portion of the entire cemetery grounds, then
these funds are permanently restricted. The earnings on the funds used to provide this required
special care or adornments are treated as current revenue. Any unused earninge Wwealtd as
temporarily restricted until the required special care or adornments are provided.

Revenue Recognition for Deferred Service Contracts

Typically revenue is recognized upon the execution of a contract at the time a contract is signed.
Some sales contracts provide for the option to prepay burial or other service fees. Such prepayments
are reflected as deferred revenues and are recognizesiegmie when the burial or other service is
performed.

Rights of Return

Some cemeteries have sales contracts that provide for the right of return for a definite period. A
provision for cancellation of those sales contracts written in prior years igleecm the financial
statements based upon historical experience.

Amortization of Developed Space

Inventory of developed space should be recorded at historical cost. The cost of each space is based
on an allocation of total expenses incurred in devabpgine burial space. The costs of the space is
computed on a basis of the cost of each space sold and is recorded as cost of sales at the time of sale.

Installment Sales Contracts

Some cemeteries allow customers to purchase contracts on the installetieod.nf provision for
interest in accordance with Codification 835 needs to be considered if the interest rate is below
market.

If preneed contracts are sold, there could be state requirements to segregate some or all of the funds

collected in a trust. le accounting and reporting can be significant based on contractual and
cancellation terms.
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[11. Compensation of Priests and the Dual Tax Status of
Priests

The IRS expects that ministers, including priests, are ordinarily classified as employees f& incom
tax purposes but sedfimployed for Social security and Medicare tax purpddémister Audit
Technique Guide April 2009) No denomination has been successful in defending the self
employment status position for clergy, although certain individual cldrgye successfully
maintained selemployment status.

From the middle to late 1990s, whéme IRS audited priests who filed their tax returns as-self
employed for income tax purposes, it typically reclassified them fromesglloyed status to
employeestatus.

In determining the employee or independent contractor status of taxpayers, the IRS now uses the
threecategory approach (behavioral control, financial control and the relationship of the parties) to
determine the amount of control exercised ober firiest's dutiegSee Chapter VI: "Compensation

of Lay Employees and Deacons of the Church” for a more detailed discussion of the three categories
and IRS Publication 13 ; Empl oyer ' s Su p.pAndRseandysid of theathree Gui d e
categories ashey pertain to priests would most likely result in a determination that the priest is an
employee, as did the twenrtgctor analysis under Rev. Rul.-41.

Priests who file their tax returns based on Forn2Wile asemployeesThis means that they report

their unreimbursedusiness expenses &orm 2106 Unreimbursed Employee Business Expenses

(or the simpleForm 2106 EZ) and then transfer those expenses to Scheduteriized Deductions
Common expenses include meals, entertainment, transportation and travel. It should be noted that the
deductible portion of both meals and entertainment is 50% of the @eslerally speaking for

priests, the standard deduction is greater than allowadi@zéd deductionsn which case there

would be no tax benefit to filing either Form 2106 or Schedul&h®e standard deduction amount is
adjusted for inflation each year and implicity encompasses tax deductions not common to priests
(e.g., real estatextas and mortgage interest).

If the diocese adopts an accountable business expense reimbursement plan, the reimbursements paid
to the priest are not taxable. To be an accountable plan, the expenses be r el ated to
responsibilities the prist must adequately account for the expenses and all excess reimbursements
must be returne(lRS Publication 463)If the diocese adopts a nancountable reimbursement plan,

the reimbursement is added to wages as taxable income reported on FamamdAthepriest may

claim the expenses on Form 2106 as explained above.

In very limited cases, a few priests may be permitted to file their tax returns based on Form 1099
MISC filed as bona fidendependent contractorg his means that they report all income agldted
expenses on Schedule C. Under this tax status, priests receive fulkfaletlailar deduction offset
against their income for ministnglated expenses.
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Other Clergy Tax Considerations:
Housing Allowance Designation

For a discussion of housing allowances for both active and retired priests, please see Chapter IV:
"Compensation of Diocesan Priests: Pension and OtheiRetisement Benefits."

Tax-free Board
Meals provided to priests are an incomeftae benefit, uder the following conditions:

1. The meals are consumed on the parish premises.
2. The meals are provided for convenience of the parish, i.e., the pfiestis cal | . ”

Meals that do not meddoth of the above requirements do not qualify as afte& benefit. If the

priest is provided with a food allowance or reimbursement for food purchases or restaurant meals, it
may represertaxable income to the priest unless it qualifies as a business [Tlexpense under an
accountable reimbursement plan.

Stipends, Mass Fees, Allowances

The IRS considers Mass Stipends, Fees, Stole Fees and Honoraria as payments for services rendered
and, thus, represent earnings subject to both federal income tax aadS8carity/SeHEmployment

tax. Allowances paid to a priest (auto, clothing, etc) represent earnings subject to federal income tax

and Social Security/SeE mp | oy ment t ax. Any amoun tesiplopmentd t o -
or income taxes are taxabteome for both taxes.

Income Tax Withholding

Priests are exempt from all federal payroll withholding requirements. However, a priest may elect to
have federal income tax withheld from his pay. He may elect to have sufficient amounts withheld
only as feeral income taxo cover both federal income taxes and Social SecurityE3efiloyment

tax. As discussed above, the priest is consideredesgdfoyed for Social Security purposes;
therefore, Social Security (FICA) and Medicare taxes shoelgtrbe withhéd from his pay. State

and local withholding requirements for priests may vary by state and locality.

Clergy Exemption for 403(b) or 401(k) Contributions

Contributions by priests to a Church sponsored 403(b) or 401(k) plan are excluded from ng$earnin

for selfemployment purposes. Therefore, when priests calculate their income subject-to self
employment tax, they should exclude the amounts contributed to their 403(b) or 401(k) plan via
payroll deduction.
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IVV. Compensation of Diocesan Priests: Pension and Other
Post-Retirement Benefits

Introduction

Canonlaw stipulates that the diocesan bishop must provide suitable support and housing for all
diocesan clergy upon their retirement from active service. In the United States, the USCCB has
promulgated a set of norms in light of this provision of canon lawadimering to these norms,
diocess have developedvarious approacksto providing for the welbeing of its retired priests.

Many dioceses have adopted defined benefit plans to provide pension benefits for retired priests. In
some cases, dioceses spontoesheltered annuity plans or other forms of defined contribution
plans.

Most retired clergyare eligible forMedicare benefits. CurrentlyParts A (hospital inpatient and
limited long term care), B (physician and outpatient) and D (pharmacy) progremavailable.
Persons need to pay close attention to enroliment requirements for these benefits, especially Part D,
as timing affects the participansost. Dioceses may provide other pastirement benefits, such as
supplemental medical and dentahbéts, longterm care, and housing allowances. Although there

are numerous types of benefit programs, all dioceses are obligated to provide financial support for
retired priests in accord with the gospel spirit. As medical programs evolve and as fedthaiane
requirements change, it is important to adjust paymesusrdingly

The accounting treatment for pension and jpestement benefit plans is specified in the Financial
Accounting Standards Board Codification topic sections 712,-ridtrement PostEmployment
Benefits; section 715, CompensatienRetirement Benefits; and section 9585, Notfor-Profit
Entities Compensation Retirement Benefits.

These pronouncemerapply to all entities issuing financial statements in conformity géheraly
accepted accounting principles (GAAP), including the Catholic Church. (These pronouncements
apply to lay employee plans as well as diocesan clergy plans.) Accounting guidance is periodically
revised; diocesan staff should consult with professionalbasges are effective.

Accounting Treatment

While it is recommended thagtired priests' benefits be formalized in a written plan docuniteist

not required by canon lawwWhen developing or changing a plan document, legal counsel should be
consulted.In the case of benefits provided without a written plan document, it is important to
distinguish between benefits that are provided on a consistent basis over time and those benefits that
are occasional and discretionafys canon law requires that diocegesvide support for their retired

clergy, all dioceses will have some (if not all) benefits that are provided on a consistent basis. Even
when benefits are not formalizeth a plan documenbut areprovided on a consistent basis, it is
necessary t@expense the projected benefit obligation over the period of time that services are
provided by the priest. A corresponding liability is recorded, which is satisfied as retirement benefits
are paid or fundedBenefits that are provided on a cdmsecase basis, without any consistency or
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expectation thereof, represent discretionary payments and may be accounted for -@sygopayo
(expensd when incurred) basis.

The regular, systematic practice of providiogrtain benefits to retired priests (such as monthly
pension payments, payment of premiums for Medicare supplemental insurance policies, payment of
medical and dental bills, housing subsidies, etc.) is evidence of a defined benefit pension plan or a
postretirement benefit plan, whether or not a written plan document exists. The benefits may be in
the form of either a reimbursement to the retiree or direct payment to a provider. Under these
circumstances, benefits are viewed as deferred compensationeansntg whereby the diocese
agrees to pay future benefits in exchange for current services. Therefore, the expected cost of
providing pension and other pastirement benefits to priests is to be recognized over their years of
active service in the dioceseThe obligation of the diocese for pension and other-pisement
benefits is to be accruén accordance with sound actuarial principles and the terms of the plan.

ASC 715 applies to all ndor-profit organizations with singlemployer, multipleenployer and
multi-employer defined benefit pension, health or other postretirement plans. Organizations with
singleemployer and multiplemployer plans are required to: (1) report the funded status of its plans,
measured as the difference between the Value of the plan assets and the benefit obligation,

directly on its balance sheet (recognition provisions), (2) align the measurement date for plan assets
and benefit obligati ons -ead(mhelasurentest daderpasionsgéddt i on’ s
provide certain disclosures in the organizatio
employer plans are not required to report the funded status of the plans on their balance sheet;
however, there are required disclosures to be made mthg ani zati on’ s financi al

ASC 715, Compensation Retirement Benefits is a complex topic, and the circumstances of each
plan need to be considered in its full implementation. Since these circumstances can vary widely
from plan to plan, it wouldbe prudent for dioceses to seek professional advice with respect to their
own particular situations.

Employers are required to provide significant disclosures about the assets in postretirement benefits
plans (e.g. fair value of plan assets, concentratand categories of plan assets, etc.), (ASCZI1.5

50-3; 958715501). The content and presentation of these disclosures chaegeslically and

current guidance should be reviewed when financial statements and footnotes are prepared.

An analysis of pgments made to, or on behalf of, retired priests should be conducted to determine
whether—despite the absence of a written plahere is a pattern of payments that represent a
systematic practice of providing benefits that should be accounted for in @ccerdith relevant
accounting pronouncements. Additionally, consideration should be given to formalizing existing
practice in a written plan document. This provides clarity to the priests and eliminates
misunderstandings as to exactly what benefits theyegpect. The tax treatment for benefits should

be well documented and followed consistently.

Plan Funding

The method of funding these benefit plans is varied and often complex. Many dioceses rely on
special assessments, special collections,-farging campaigns, or a combination of these and other
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methods. Some dioceses cover pension and othergioetnent benefits on a pagyou go basis,

while others prdund these obligations. Rfanding can take several forms. Some dioceses set funds
aside n a separate account or simply designate a portion of their unrestricted net assets. Some
dioceses establish a separate trust arrangement, thereby transferring the assets off the balance sheet
and legally restricting the use of the assets.

Consideration sbuld be given to préunding pension and poesttirement benefit plans. Insufficient

liquid assets may result in the diocese's inability to meet its obligation to retired priests. If funds are
not segregated for these purposes, usually in a trust, this assebe subject to creditoclaims

Trusts should not be over funded; a funding policy should be developed, approved by competent
authority and followed consistently.

Only assets that are segregated and legally restricted for pension anetipasientoenefits qualify

as plan assets under the provisions of GAAP. Assets that are not segregated in a trust or otherwise
effectively restricted so that they cannot be used by the diocese for other purposes do not qualify as
plan assets.

Health care costs ao®ntinuingto increase each year. Medical costs as a percentage of GNP are also
expected to continue to increase and life expectancies are continuing to increase. The issue of
recognizing and funding these future obligations is more critical today tlesin \&hen pension and
postretirement plans are pfanded, assets should be appropriately invested to generate a return on
investment while maintaining the corpus of the fund and providing sufficient liquidity to reduce the
amount of future funding needed

Status of Priests' Retirement Plans

Consultation with diocesan legal counsel or pension counsel is necessary to determine whether a
diocesan retirement plan (for lay employees or priests) meets the requirements of the Internal
Revenue Code (IRC) either as a qualified defined benefit oredkefiontribution plan or as a section
403(b) taxdeferred annuity, and whether the plan qualifies as a "church plan" under section 414(e) of
the Code. Although qualified church plans are not subject to ERISA (Employee Retirement Income
Security Act) vestingparticipation, and funding rules and are not required to file the annual Form
5500, such plans must nonetheless comply with numerous technical requirements, including certain
preERISA standards. Because pension legislation is amended frequently, qeromdpliance
reviews of all diocesan retirement plans are advisable.

Housing Allowance Designation

IRC section 107 provides an exclusion from gross income for a parsonage (housing) allowance

provided to clergy (active as well as retired). This includkesrental value of a home furnished to

him as part of compensation or a housing allowance, to the extent that the payment is used to rent or
provide a home. In order to qualify under IRC section 107, the trustees of the priests' retirement plan,

or the bisiop, must designate a portion of each payment as a housing allowance excludable under
IRC section 10%prior to the beginning of each year

The amount excludable from gross income as a housing allowance is limited to the least of the
following three optios:
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* The amount actually used to provide a home (including rent, furnishings, repairs, insurance,
taxes, utilities—but not food or entertainment)

* The amount officially designated as a housing allowance

» The fair rental value of the home, including furnigfs, utilities, garage, etc.

The sum of all pension payments issued in a calendar year are to be reported as the gross distribution
amount on form 109®R. If the diocese has properly designated all, or a portion of the pension
payments as a housing allamce, the taxable portion of the total payments cannot be determined by
the diocese, since the amount excludable from income as a housing allowance has to be determined
by the taxpayer based on the three options shown above. Therefore, the taxable anformt o
1099R shoul d be |l eft blank and the box —taxabl e

The exclusion from income for federal income tax purposes applies to both active and retired clergy.
The exclusion from income for Sémployment tax purposes applisly to retired clergy.

Guidelines for the Retirement of Bishops

1. Beginning January 1, 2011, the stipend recommended for all bishops in retivathbata
minimum of $1,900.00 per month, to be adjusted annually according to the local cost of living
index.If pension benefits granted to a BisiHemeritusalready provide the minimum amount
recommended for the stipend, no additional funds need be givem thg other hand, pension
benefits do not meet the minimum recommended amount, additional funds should be supplied to
reach the recommended minimum level. If pension benefits granted to retired priests of the
diocese exceed the minimum recommended BishopEmeritus the greater amount should
be considered appropriate for the Bisloperitus

2. In addition to the monthly stipend, it is also recommended that in fraternal charity and solicitude
each diocese also provide the following:

i. Appropriae housing and board If he so desires, and unless the Holy See has provided
otherwise, appropriate housing and board within the Diocese where the Eisheuslast
served, including the use of a private chapel and housekeeping assistance. It isredzohing
the Congregation for Bishops that the official residence provided by the Diocese be reserved for
the presiding Diocesan Bishop. The Diocese is obligated to provide a Bisheptuswith
appropriate housing and board even should he choosede mgside of the Diocese.

ii. Health and welfare benefits, including major medical and the full cost of medical and hospital
care. This includes any applicable coverage for home health care, assisted living facilities or
long-term care facilities.

iii. An office with secretarial assistance commensurate with need.

iv. Suitable funeral and burial.

It is recommended that each Diocese also provide the folldBengfits
i. Transportation including an insured automobileMsruse.

ii. Travel expenss (i.e., transportation, lodging, food, etc.) to allow Bighop Emeritusto
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attend:

a. Provincial meetings and workshops

b. Regional meetings, workshops and retreats

c. Meetings of the USCCB

d. Ad liminavisits to the Holy See

e. Ecumenical couna) Synods of Bishops, and meetings of the Roman Curia to which the
BishopEmeritusis associated.

f. Episcopal installations.

3. The sustenance of a Bish&merituswho is a member of an institute of consecrated life or a
society of apostolic life is to be provided by the Diocese in which he last served, unless the
institute or society wishes to provide such support.

4. If it seems advisable in order to seek soragrde of uniformity, th®ioceses of a given region
or province, in a spirit of subsidiarity, should take upon themselves the responsibility to interpret
and implement these guidelines, taking into account the local economy. Only in this way can the
differing living costs in the various regions of the country be factored into the consideration of
retirement benefits.

5. The United States Conference of Catholic Bishops will review these guidelines again in 2015 to
ascertain their continuing validity.
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V. Compensation of Religious

M embers of religious ordemsho provide services to a diocesan employer (defined here to include
the diocese and any affiliated entities listedTine Official Catholic Directory{OCD], i.e., the
Kenedy Directory) are subject to distinct tax and reporting rules, primarily as a result of their vow of
poverty.

Employment Classification

Status as a member of a religious order does not automatically determine employment classificatio
Rather, classification of a religious as an employee of a diocesan employer or as an independent
contractor should be made by applying the common law tests as interpreted by the Internal Revenue
Service (IRS). (See Chapter VI "Compensation of Lay Enga#eyand Deacons of the Church.")

Taxation of Compensation

No individual religious is "tavexempt." Tax exemption applies, if at all, to a religious order that
gualifies as tax exempt under section 501(c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code. Furtheasstatus
member of a religious order does not automatically immunize from federal income and employment
taxation the compensation paid to a religious who is performing services for a diocesan employer.
Rather, the taxability of such compensation (including leyge fringe benefits, if any) provided by

the diocesan employer, is determined in accordance with the principles set forth in Revenue Ruling
(Rev. Rul.) 77290, 19772 C.B. 26.

Rev. Rul. 77-290

Under Rev. Rul. 77290, a member of a religious order puiivig services to a diocesan employer

will be consideredfor tax purposedo be an agent of his or her order and will not be liable
individually for federal income or employment taxesn compensation paid by the diocesan
employer,providedthree criterigare met: (1) the religious must be subject to a vow of poverty; (2)
the religious must be providing services for a diocesan employer listed in theaB®direction of

his or her ecclesiastical superiors; and (3) the religious must remit the full bof@ampensation to

his or her religious order, which must be exempt from federal income tax under section 501(c)(3) of
the Codelf any Rev. Rul. 7290 criterion fails to be met, the religious is taxable individually on
compensation received.

Rev. Rul. 77-290 does not purport to determine the employment status of a religious providing
service for a diocesan employer, and does not preclude classification of a religious as an employee of
a diocesan employ4eor the provision of customary employee benefits religious who are
employees.

Verifying Rev. Rul. 77-290 Requirements

It is incumbent on the diocesan employer to determine whether a member of a religious order meets
all three criteria of Rev. Rul. 7290 before suspending its general withholding and reporting
obligations under the Internal Revenue Code. The diocesanyamplwuld verify that the
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individual is a member of a section 501(c)(3) religious order subject to a vow of poverty recognized
by the Churchand that the individual's services have been authorized by his or her religious superior.
These first two issuesan be resolved in any reasonable manner, e.g., by correspondence with the
member's religious superior. Section 501(c)(3) status should be verified by reference to the current
OCD. The diocesan employer should also verify that the full amount of contipenpaid to the
religious will be remitted to the religious order. This can be accomplished in one of several ways,
listed below in order of preference: (1) by direct deposit to a bank account bearing the name and
empl oyer i denti f i cthetreligions order;nd) leyrcheck ‘padydbld to the religious
order; or (3) by check payable jointly to the religious order and the individual religious.

As a general rule, compensation paid directly to an individual religious will be treated as taxable to
the individual religious. However, in limited circumstances, diocesan employers may be justified in
treating such compensation as qualifying under Rev. RuR9D7 In these circumstances, the
diocesan employer should determine that there exists a sanifimpediment to the payment of
compensation to the religious order directly as outlined ablovaddition, the diocesan employer
should obtain appropriate written documentation from the superior of the religious order certifying
that compensation paidirectly to the individual religious will be remitted to the religious order in
accordance with the requirements of Rev. Rut2%@. This supporting documentation should be
updated annually.

NOTE: As religious increasingly come to the United States fommgregations outside the country,
special care must be taken to review and conform payment for services to the criteria identified
above. If the religious congregation is not exempt from taxes by inclusion in the OCD, any payment
must usually be made uadan ordinary and taxable employment relationship.

Reporting Compensation

The manner of reporting compensation of religious performing services for diocesan employers
depends on the taxability of that compensation. If the criteria of Rev. RO ae satisfied and
compensation is not taxable to the individual religiowsreporting on Form W2 or Form 1099 is

3 7
required.

If the criteria of Rev. Rul. 7290 havenot been satisfied, e.g., if the diocesan employer has been
unable to verify that the full amount of compensation will be remitted to theaedigirder, the
compensation itaxable to the individual religious and should be reported in the ordinary course of
employment. Thus, if the religious is taxable and is classified as an employee (see above) of the
diocesan employer, compensation must be reported on Folmnlfthe religious is taxable and is
classified as an independent contractor of the diocesalbgenpcompensation must be reported on
Form 1099. No withholding is required with respect to independent contractors.

Notes

1 As used herein, ®“religious order” means canon
life that also meet the requiremts of Rev. Proc. 920, 19911 C.B. 524.

2 For purposes of Rev. Rul. 2R0, "employment taxes" refers to FICA and Medicare taxes.

3 This also includes asterisked (domestic-@mup Ruling) listings in the OCD, since these are
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subject to the same standsuaf relationship to the Church as are ordinary Group Ruling listings
in the OCD.

4 In fact, Rev. Rul. 7290 presumeghat the religious are employees of the entities described
therein, since neither FICA nor income tax withholding would be at issue in the absence of
status as an employee.

5 Any questions that arise concerning the nature or validity of the vow of powaden by a
particular individual can be referred to a canon lawyer specializing in the field of religious life.

6 For example, mere insistence that compensation be paid directly to the individual religious does
not meet this standard. In practice, such sitna will be rare.

7 Some diocesan employers may currently report compensation paid to nontaxable religious,
generally in one of two ways: (1) issuance of a Form 1099 bearing the religious order or civil
corporation’”s empl oyer r(R)dsuance of a Form d®ibearng theu mb e r
Social Security number (SSN) of the religious employee. The first practice is problematic for the
religious order and should not occur. The second practice is also problematic and may trigger
IRS scrutiny. Althougltommercial payroll services may initially require issuance of a Form W
2 or Form 1099, with persistence and determination they can be persuaded to modify their
computer programs to accommodate the special needs of diocesan employers with respect to
Rev. Ru. 77-290.

8 Reporting and tax withholding with respect to taxable religious will differ for religious priests
and norordained religious. The compensation of a taxable religious priest who is performing
ministerial services should be reported in the sarmenar as that of diocesan priest employees.
Under Treas. Reg. § 1.147a), ministerial services include (1) performance of sacerdotal
functions; (2) conduct of religious worship; (3) administration and maintenance of religious
organizations and their irdeal agencies; and (4) performance of teaching and administrative
duties at theological seminaries. Note that taxable priests performing ministerial services are
treated as semployed for Social Security tax purpose®nif theyare classified as emplees
for income tax purposes (see Chapter Il "Compensation of Priests and the Dual Tax Status of
Priests" for further discussion). They are liable for SECA tax under section 1402 of the Code.
No FICA taxes should be withheld. The compensation of a taxab{pous priest employee
who is not performing ministerial services, or of a taxable 1oodained religious employee,
should be reported in the same manner as that of diocesan lay employees, with income and
FICA tax withheld.

When Medicare is Secondary Payer (Medicare rules for religious may differ)

50.1 -Clarification of Current Employment Status for Specific Groulp(s?ev. 1, 1601-03) A -
Member of Religious Order B3329.3.DE, A3-3491, A3IM 3491, HO263, SNF336, HH253,
A3-3492.B.3.e (section d wasleleted with a comment) (Rev. 34, Issued:-009D5:
Effective/Implementation Dates: {@¥-05)

A member of a religious order whose members are required to take a vow of poverty is not
considered to have current employment status with the religiousibtderservices he/she performs

as a member of the order are considered employment by the order for Social Security purposes only.
This applies where the religious order elected Social Security coverage for its members under section
3121(r) of the InterdaRevenue Member of Religious Order Code. Thus, Medicare is primary payer

to any group health coverage provided by the religious order.
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This exception applies only to members of religious orders who have taken a vow of poverty. It does
not apply to clerg or to any member of a religious order who has not taken a vow of poverty or to
lay employees of the order. This exception applies not only to services performed for the order itself
(such as administrative, housekeeping, and religious services), bub a@so/ices performed at the
direction of the order for employers outside of the order provided that the outside employer does not
provide the member of the religious order with its own group health plan coverage. A member of a
religious order has curremmployment status with the outside employer as a result of providing
services on behalf of the outside employer (an ongoing business relationship exists). If the outside
employer provides group health plan coverage to the member of the religious otHerbasis of

that current employment status relationship, the usual Medicare Secondary Payer rules apply.

Medicare is the secondary payer to the group health plan of the outside employer if the outside
employer has the requisite number of employees.

EXAMPLE 1

Sister Mary Agnes is a member of a religious order where members are required to take a vow of
poverty. Sister Mary Agnes was assigned to teach at a church school in the Diocese of the
Metropolis. The Diocese does not provide group health ptarerage to Sister Mary Agnes. The

only group health coverage available to Sister Mary Agnes is provided by the religious order.
Medicare is the primary payer for services provided to Sister Mary Agnes.

EXAMPLE 2

Sister Mary Teresa is a member of a religi order whose members are required to take a vow of
poverty. Sister Mary Teresa was assigned to teach at a church school in the Diocese of Smallville. On
the basis of her teaching relationship with the Diocese of Smallville, the Diocese provides group
health plan coverage to Sister Mary Teresa. The group health plan provided by the Diocese of
Smallville is the primary payer and Medicare is the secondary payer for services provided to Sister
Mary Teresa.

Carriers should note that the exemption only agpleethe working aged and disability provisions

that base a group health plan's obligation to be a primary payer on a current employment status
relationship. The exception does not apply to the End Stage Renal Disease (ESRD), workers
compensation or liabtly and nefault provisions.

Notes

Excerpted from the Medicare Secondary Payer (MSP) Manual which is published by the Center for Medicare and
Medicaid Services, a federal agency within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
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V1. Compensation of Lay Employees and
Deacons of the Church
Introduction

Compensationissuesrelated toLay Employees and Deacons working for a Diocese anitdor
parishes are numerous and driven by signifiéadéral, state, and even locagulations.

This chapteprovides a general overview of the followitigeetopics—
1 Classification of Personnel as Employees or Independent Contractors
1 Exempt vs. NorExempt employees
1 Taxation of ordained deacons

Accordingly, this chapter does not address Lay Retirement Benefit Plans, other employee, benefits
numerous other matters impacting the compensation of Lay employees and Deacons.

Classification: Employee or Independent Contractor

The mission of the Church requires the efforts of the ordained, the professed and the laity. When the
efforts result in paid compensation to lay people, it is important to record and report the
compensation properhAt calendar year endyo methods are pscribed by the Internal Revenue
Service (IRS) to report compensation: Form2Wor employees, and Form 1099 for independent
contractors. Once lusinesgetermines thevorker status of a lay worker, the reporting procedures

are quite clear. The challendees in the determination ofvorker status (employee versus
independent contractor)

Clearly afull-time lay worker with benefits (e.g., a maintenance woré#ige assistantor school
teacher) is an employee and thus the employer withholds fedetalasthlocal taxes; withholds and
matches Social Security (FICA) and Medicare taxes; and reports compensation and withholdings on
Form W:2.

Of course, when garish hires an outside servi¢ghich could conceivably be an individual sole
proprietorshipto repair theparishboiler, the parishmay properly treat the service as being provided

by an independent contractor and issue a chieckr payment of t hwith nocontr a
withholding obligations At the end of the calendar year the parish i88ue a Form 1098 that
independent contractéor services rendered.

Diocesan personnel should be aware that paymentstemop | oyees t hat are <c¢l as
persons’” , including payments for goodieproperei mbur
tax form (e.g.Form 8283 for purposes of determining if exemption from withholding taxes is

warranted and, if the individual is traveling to this country, proper immigration status should be

confirmed prior to services being provided
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As a general rule, most individual workers that receive compensatiovhéitever form) should be
classified as employees. It is the Diocesan entity that should make the classification decision based
on its review of all the facts and circumstances; it is not up to the worker as to how he/she should be
classified.

Businesss should refer tolRS Publication 15-A: Emplover’s Supplemental Tax Guide for
official guidance on these determinatiomsvn.irs.goy). It is revised annually.

The IRS hasprovidedthe following threecategory approacko assist businesses determining
proper worker classification

A worker's status under the common law test is determined by applying relevant facts that fall into
these three categories: behavioral control, financial control, and the type of relationship itself. In each
case, it is verymportant to consider all the faetso single fact provides the answer. This common

law test applies for purposes of FICA, FUTA, Federal income tax withholding, and the Railroad
Retirement Tax Act, if there is no controlling statute.

1. Behavioral Control Facts reviewed under the Behavioral Control analysieow whethera
business haa right to direct or control how the worker does the work. A worker is an employee
when the business has the right to direct and control the worker. The business does riot ha
actually direct or control the way the work is deras long as the employer has the right to direct
and control the work.

For example:

» Instructions—If the worker receives extensive instructions lwow work is to be done, this
suggests that the wark may be an employee. Instructions can cover a wide range of topics, for
example: how, when, or where to do the work, what tools or equipment to use, what assistants to hire
to help with the work, and where to purchase supplies and services. If a weckéres less
extensive instructions abowthatshould be done, but nbbwit should be done, the worker may be

an independent contractor. For instance, instructions about time and place may be less important than
directions orhowthe work is performed.

e Training—If the worker is provided with training about required procedures and methods, this
suggests that the business wants the work done in a certain way, and the worker may be an employee.

2. Financial Control. Factsreviewed under the Financial Cooitanalysisshow whether there is a
right to direct or control the business part of the work.

For example:

» Significant Investmentlf the worker has a significant investment in/hes work, the worker

may be an independent contractor. While there is no precise dollar test, the investment must have
substance. However, a significant investment is not necessary to be an independent contractor.

* Expenses-If the worker is not reimbursed for some or all business expenses, then the worker
may be an independent cont rrantbtrsed husiness pxpendesadrel y i |
high.
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*  Opportunity for Profit or Loss-If the worker can realize a profit ordar a loss, this suggests
that the worker is in business for himself and that the worker may be an independent contractor.

3. Relationship of the PartiesThese are facts that illustrate how the business and the worker
perceive their relationship. Forample:

» Employee BenefitsIf the worker receives benefits, this is an indication that the worker is an
employee. If the worker does not receive benefits, the worker could be either an employee or an
independent contractor.

*  Written Contracts—A written contact may show what both the worker and the business intend.
This may be very significant if it is difficult, if not impossible, to determine status based on other
facts. At the same time, a written contract in and of itself should not be the deternantng f

In uncertain cases, employers have the option of filing Fori:%5form designed by the IRS that

asks questions about the three factors outlined above. The IRS is usually not quick in responding to a
Form SS8 inquiry. Further,if the employmenstatus is so uncertain, it is likely that the IRS will

rule in favor of employee status.

Exempt vs. Non-Exempt Employees

This topic refers to whether an employee is exempt from the overtime rules, or is subject to overtime
rules (norexempt). This detemination of employee status can be subjective, although there are
guidelines from the Department of Labor (DOL).

The overtime rules for neexempt employees require that those employees be paid for overtime.
However the rules for determining overtime hownd the rates for those hours are complex.
Furthermore, in March 13, 2014 President Obama issued a memorandum directing the Secretary of
Labor to review the existing Fair Labor Standards Act regulations. The memorandum instructs the
Secretary to updategulations regarding who qualifies for overtime protection under the Fair Labo
Standards Act (FLSA or Act).Any revisionsthat the Department of Labor (DOL) proposes will

apply only to nor~ederal employees, i.e., those in private sector organizatisf this writing,

those updates are yet to issue.

Currently, he FLSA requires that most employees in the United States be paid at least the federal
minimum wage for all hours worked and overtime pay at time andhali¢he regular rate of pay for
all hours worked over 40 hours in a workweek.

However, theFLSA provides an exemption from both minimum wage and overtime pay for
employees employed as bona fide executive, administrative, professional outside sales employees
and certain computer employees. To qualify for exemption, employees generally must meet certai
tests regarding their job duties and be paid on a salary basis at not less than $455 per week. Job titles
do not determine exempt status. I n order for an
and salary must meet all the requirementhaft DOL’ s regul ati ons.

The following are some categories of exemptions. Please review the DOL summary sheets available
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on its website for further discussion of the following. As well, be aware that the regulations can be
complex and should be reviewedrefully, and that new case law is constantly refining how the
following categories should be evaluated.

Executive Exemption

To qualify for the executive employee exemption, all of the following tests must be met:

)l
)l

The employee must be compensated galary basis (as defined in the regulations

at a rate not less than $455 per week;

The employee’s primary duty managiigabe manag
customarily recognized department or subdivision of the enterprise;

The employee must customardyd regularly direct the work of at least two or more

other fulktime employees or their equivalent; and

The employee must have the authority to hire or fire other employees, or the
empl oyee’s suggestions and r ec amememdati on
promotion or any other change of status of other employees must be given particular
weight.

Administrative Exemptions

To qualify for the administrative employee exemption, all of the following tests must be met:

T

T

The employee must be compensated osakary or fee basis (as defined in the
regulations) at a rate not less than $455 per week;

The employee’s primary duty mmantalwore t he pe
directly related to the management or genbuainess operations of the employer or

the employer’s customers; and

The employee’s primary duty includes the e
judgment with respect to matters of significance.

Professional Exemption (learned and creative)

To qualfy for the learned professional employee exemption, aheffbllowing tests must be met:

T

T

= =9

The employee must be compensated osakary or fee basis (as defined in the
regulations) at a rate not less than $455 per week;

The empl oyee’ s hernhe pesforrgancd af twgrk requisng advanced
knowledge, defined as work which is predominantly intellectual in character and
which includes work requiring the consistent exercise of discretion and judgment.
The advanced knowledge must be in a field afrsze or learning; and

The advanced knowledge must be customarily acquired by a prolonged course of
specidized intellectual instruction.
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To qualify for the creative professional employee exemption, all of the following tests must be met:
1 The employee must be compensated on a salary or fee basis (as defined in the
regulations) at a rate not less than $455 per waaek;
T The employee’s primary duty must be the p
imagination, originality or talent in @cognized field of artistic or creative endeavor.

Computer Employee Exemption

To qualify for the computer employee exemption, the following tests must be met:

1  The employee must be compensatigter on a salary or fee basis (as defined

in the regulatios) at a rate not less than $455 per weekif compensated on an

hourly basis, at a rate not less than $27.63 an hour;

1 The employee must be employed as a computer systems analyst, computer

programmer, software engineer or other similarly skilled wonmkeéhé computer field

performing the duties described belamnd,

T The employee’s primary duty must consi st

1) The application of systems analysis techniques and procedures, including consulting
with users, to determine hardware, software or systentifunat specifications;

2) The design, development, documentation, analysis, creation, testing or modification
of computer systems or programs, including prototypes, based on and related to
user or system design specifications;

3) The design, documentatiptesting, creation or modification of computer programs
related to machine operating systems; or

4) A combination of the aforementioned duties, the performance of which requires the
same level of skills.

Highly Compensated Employees

Highly compensatecemployees performing office or nenanual work and paid total annual
compensation of 115,0000r more are exempt from the FLSA if they customarily and regularly
perform at least one of the duties of an exempt executive, administrative or professiomgieempl
identified in the standard tests for exemptidhis is a complex exemption that requires a thorough
understanding of what constitutes compensatiBeference sbuld also be made to Chapter XIV

Il ncome taxes, for additsomBa&lnhedi scdsaincemactegasdi
presumption standards for lay employees.

Outside Sales Exemption

The Outside Sales Exemption would not generally apply to parishes and schools. However, it could
apply in entities such as radio and TV statiam@neteries, etc., where outside sales personnel may
be employed. If this is the case, to qualify for the outside sales employee iexertip following

must be met:

T The employee’s primary duty must be makin
FLSA), or obtaining orders or contracts for services or for the use of
facilities for which a consideration will be paid by the client or
customer; and,
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1 The employee must be customarily and regularly engaged away from the
empl oyer’s place or places of business.

Taxation of Ordained Deacons

Permanent Deacons
Depending upon the facts and circumstances of their Church employment, permanent deacons will be

classified either as |l ay employees or “minister
to be mae at the discretion of the deacon or the Church employer. In order to be classified as a
mi ni ster of t he gospel under t he I nternal Re

commi ssi oned, o r &ndmust e peribrmingitbe datiesrignorsmally those

of a minister of the gospel. All ordained permanent deacons meet the first requirement. However, all
permanent deacons do not necessarily meet the second requirement. The specific job performed by a
particular deacon must be analyzediétermine whether that job involves the performance of duties
that are normally those of a minister of the g
ministration of sacerdotal functions and the conduct of religious worship, and the comchicico

and maintenance of religious organizations (including the religious boards, societies, and other
integral agencies of such organizations), under the authority of a religious body constituting a church

or church denominatidn.vi tWhetomesrt iaupastiac Ulsarc ec
on the tenets or practices of the particular church or denomination. Under canon law, deacons do not
perform the same sacerdotal functions as priests, but may nonetheless perform services normally
those ofa minister of the gospel within the meaning of the IRS regulations. It is recommended that
decisions about the proper classifications of deacons for tax purposes be made centrally by the
diocese in order to ensure consistency of interpretation amongndaaceimilar job categories.

If a deacon qualifies as a minister of the gospel for tax purposes, he must be treated consistently as
such forall tax purposes. Thus, such a deacon is eligible for the section 107 housing allowance
exclusion (assuming afither applicable requirements are met), and must also be treated-as self
employed for social security purposes, being liable for SECA taxes. If a deacon does not qualify as a
minister of the gospel for tax purposé®.(he is not performing duties thateanormally those of a
minister of the gospel), he must be treated in the same manner as lay employees for tax purposes.

Transitional Deacons

When a seminarian is ordained to the deaconate, he should be treated in the same manner as an
ordained permanenteacon for tax purposes. Thus, if he is assigned to a parish during the summer or
for a yearlong training assignment and is performing duties that are normally those of a minister of
the gospel, he would be eligible for the Section 107 housing allowambes®n, and would be

treated as sekmployed for social security purposes and be liable for SECA taxes. If he is not
performing duties that are normally those of a minister of the gospel, he would be treated in the same
manner asay employees for taxysposes.

Religious Orders

Some permanent and transitional deacons may also be members of religious orders. In this case, the
norms in Chapter VCompensation of Religiopare applicable. The norms given above apply only

to diocesan permanent and transitional deacons.
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VI1I. Diocesan Payments Associated with Priestly Formation

Introduction

The education and financial supportseiminarians are provided by dioceses through various means.
Education is typically provided through enroliment in a seminary, and financial support may be
provided for room and board, travel, medical, and other living expenses. Additionally, the
seminaran may be enrolled in the diocesan group health insurance program. There are four general
financial arrangements:

1. Costs incurred are the responsibility of the seminarian, and paid by him or his family.

2. Costs are paid by the diocese, either directhhtogeminarian or to the service provider on the
seminarian’s behalf.

3. The diocese provides a loan to the seminarian, with a written promissory note. The loan may
provide for forgiveness of the debt if certain conditions are met.

4. The seminarian obtains adweational loan from a thirgarty lender, with a commitment from
the diocese to repay the | oan on the seminar.i

These four arrangements are not mutually exclusive; dioceses may use a combination of the above
arrangments in providing for the various financial needs of the seminarian.

Accounting Treatment

All costs paid by the diocese to or on behalf of the seminarian without any expectation of repayment
(arrangement #2 above), are to be recorded as an expensep@ritiaeincurred. Tuition payments

made in advance of the semester or school year are to be recorded as prepaid tuition and amortized
over the period in which the instruction occurs.

Loans made by the diocese to the seminarian (arrangement #3 above) are considered to be
programmatic investments due to the fact that the loan is made to further the tax exempt objective of
the Diocese and the production of income or appreciation ofstet & not a significant purpose of
making the loan.

In some cases, the loaa) pears a market interest rate, abgthe Diocese expects at origination to
collect all contractually required payments when due. In that case, at origination, thedokhl&h
recognized at the amount of cash (or other assets) transferred to the borrower.

In other cases, a programmatic loan is interest free or has a-breldwet interest rate. In this
situation, imputation of interest for this loan is required andldbe@ should be recorded at the
present value of the future estimated cash flows.

To estimate the present value of a loan under such circumstances, an applicable interest rate is
approximated that may differ from the stated rate. This process of appraximiaticalled
imputation and the resulting rate is callediarputed interest rate

When determining an appropriate interest rate, to the extent possible, the Diocese would consider
market inputs relevant to the loan being made. These might include thealoe of money, credit
standing of the borrower, collateral, duration of the loan, restrictive covenants, and liquidity. In the
absence of market inputs, the Diocese would use its own assumptions about the assumptions that
market participants would us@&der similar circumstances.

44



For example, a Diocese lends $100,000 to a seminarian to cover the cost of his education. The note is
noninterest bearing, is unsecured, and a balloon payment is due at the end-péahdebm. The

Diocese determines that aarket rate for a loan with the same terms and a borrower of equal credit
worthiness as the seminarian is 15 percent. The present value of the contractual payments due under
the loan is $49,720. Using the interest method, the Diocese would make the fpkmriyt

Loan receivable $100,000

ProgramExpense $50,280
Cash $100,000
Discount on loan receivab(e contraasset a/c) $50,280

Use of the Interest Method while the loan is outstanding:

The discount on the loan is amortizasl interest income over the life of the loan in such a way as to
result in a constant rate of interest when applied to the amount outstanding at the beginning of any
given period. The difference between the periodic interest cost calculated using riet mtethod

and the nominal interest on the outstanding amount of the debt is the amount of periodic
amortization. Continuing the example above, at the end of year 1, the Diocese would make the
following entry to record the imputed interest income at &f&@nt and the periodic amortization of

the discount:

Discount on loan receivab(a contraasset a/c) $ 7,458
Interest Income $7,458

If a loan that is not impaired is forgiven and the Diocese communicates to the borrower that the
amount is érgiven, the Diocese should recogniaeprogram expensén the case of loans that
specify conditions for forgiveness, the outstanding loan balance is accounted for, as described above,
as a loan receivable until all of the specific conditions are metce @re conditions are met, the
Diocese should adjust the outstanding loan balance to zero with a corresponding adjustment made to
program expense Communication of the forgiveness to the borrower is key to the classification,
because in accordance with $B ASC 40520-40-1, the debt is not extinguished until the debtor is
legally released from being the primary obligor under the liability. In the absence of that
communication, the Diocese continues to act as a lender rather than a donor.

Commitmentsmadeyp t he di ocese to repay | oans on the se
are to be recorded as a liability when the conditions surrounding the commitment have substantially

been met. When the conditions surrounding the commitment have substaegailynet, the

expense and the corresponding accrual should be recorded at fair value. Consideration should be

given to disclosing the value of conditional commitments in the footnotes to the financial statements.

Income Tax Considerations

Arrangemen#l. No tax consequences to the diocese.

Arrangement #2Under Internal Revenue Code section 117, amounts paid by the diocese to or on
behalf of a seminarian who is a degree candidate at an educational institution for tuition or amounts
used for requireddo k s , suppli es, fees and equi pment are
All other amounts, including but not limited to room & board, personal travel expenses, medical
insurance and owdf-pocket expenses, and living allowances or stipends, am@blea to the
seminarian. Dioceses do not have any IRS reporting or withholding requirements regarding taxable
or nontaxable scholarship amouniglessany portion of the funds relates to payments for services
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rendered by the seminarian. Dioceses shpuddide each seminarian with an annual statement that
informs him of any taxable amounts provided by the diocese for each calendar year to assist the
seminarian in preparing his own federal and state income tax returns. The statements should be
deliveredto the seminarian by January 31 of the year following the calendar year for which the
taxable amounts were provided. A recommended practice would be to report taxable payments made
to or on behalf of seminariarfey example monthly living expense stipes, on Form 10981SC to

the extent they exceed $600 annually, but this is not required by federal tax law unless the payments
are for services rendered by the seminarian.

Arrangement #3.A bona fide loan made by the diocese to the seminarian doespnesent taxable
income to the seminarian. However, subsequent forgiveness of the loan will usually result in taxable
income to the seminarian, and should be reported as wages on Fa@rifif e seminarian is an
employee) or income on Form 1088SC (if he is an independent contractor). It is recommended
that any discharge of indebtedness be done gradually so that the sermigadaral and state
income tax liability associated with the dischaigepread over multiple years

Arrangement #4.A commi me n t made by the diocese to repay
certain conditions are met does not represent taxable income to the seminarian at the time the
commi t ment i s mad e . However, the diocese’s s
semharian’s behalf wil/ usually result in taxabl
in the previous paragraph, and should be reported as wages on Farif We seminarian is an

employee) or income on Form 1888SC (if he is an independenbntractor).
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VII1. Deposit and Loan Programs

Many dioceses, through their Administrative Offices or another eatigeptdeposits from parishes,
schools, agencies and/or other ecclesiastical entities within the diocese. In turn, these funds are
loaned to parishes and potentially other entities within the diocesan community. Names for this may
vary (deposit and loan fund, mgal revolving fund, savings and loan program, etc.); but for the
purposes of this chapter, this activity wil!/ b €
In the majority of instances, the Program will be (1) one where the Administrat@saatgrincipal

paying a return to depositors and charges interest to borrowers (diocesan program), (2) an investment
and lending program that operates for the mutual benefit (mutual program) of the parishes and other
participating agencies/entities of tHecese (the participants bear the loan and investment risks and
proceeds), or, (3) one where an option is given to the depositors to participate in a type (1) or type (2)
arrangementhybrid program).

Deposit rates should be reviewed (and adjusted asp@gte) on a periodic basis to remain
attractive to depositors.

Loan rates should be reviewed (and adjusted as appropriate) on a periodic basis. Market rates
and other diocesan program rates may be used as benchmarks.

Civil Structure

The civil structure of the Program may vary from diocese to diocese depending upon the policies,
diocesan civil structure, applicable state laws, regulatory considerations, canonical determinations,
and other financial and operating considerations of the diocese. Exavhpglash structures would

be as a separate Trust or as a separate Corporation. While some dioceses elect to include the Program
as a Fund within the existing civil structure of the diocese, best practices suggest that careful
consideration must be givenéstablishing either a Trust or Corporation to account for and report the
operating activities of these programs. In addition|l entities within the dioceseeligible to
participate in the Program should be clearly set forth by the governing documtér@sobgram.

Advantages for Borrowers

The deposit and loan funds generally operate on a revolving basis where cash from parishes and
others are accumulated and loaned out at an interest rate that may be less than that commercially
available. Loan origiation points, application charges, loan servicing fees, and the establishment of
financial debt covenants are either reastent or generally less than what commercial banking
terms would be. Likewise, the internal loan documentation may be less rigordath parishes and
dioceses.

In addition dioceses are often emmore flexible position in regard to defaults.

Advantages to Depositors

The Program generally pagn attractive yield on deposits in the fund and conditions on withdrawals
of fundsmay not be as restrictive as a typiiaincial institution In addition, it may be reassuring
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to a parish community, including its pastor and the parish finance council, that their cash funds are
maintained within a diocesatrogram.

Establishment of the Program

Diocesan entitiesvith cash in excess of dag-day operating requiremenssiouldbe encouraged or

required, according to the respective diocesan policy, to placesthrpius caslor a portion thereof

in the Program. The Pogram will promulgate policies thatef i ne t he Program’s
provide accountability and transparency.

Operating, Investment and Lending Policies

The Program should be operated in a prudent manfieat includes the distribution of periodic
statenents of account to both the depositansl theborrowers.

The Program’ s investment approachTheiovestmedie car
asset allocation anthe nature of the investments themselves should be desigrfednat c h” t he
liquidit y needs of depbsers. Faeremlly theninvestment approach should be
conservative

Loans should be (1) evaluated and approved based on financial projections furnished by prospective
borrowers; (2) evidenced by formal promissory notes atdig repayment schedules and interest
rates, signed by proper ecclesial authoriincluding the acknowledgement of the respective parish
finance council representatives; and (3) regularly reviewed. The Program should utilize a standard
promissory note hat can be modified for certain borroweseeds and/or specific terms and
conditions. The promissory note should reference conformity to both Canon Law and the governing
laws of the state in which the diocese operascausehe amountdoanedunder tke note are the
patrimonies of other parishes and/or agencies within the territory of the diocese, consideration should
be given to disclosing this in the note and havebtreower acknowledge that such funds have been
made available to it in a spirit ofnity and mutual assistance. Finally, the borrower should also
acknowledge its legal and moral responsibility to repay the promissory note in a timely and
responsible manner. A sample promissory note is included later in this clagisrderation should

be given to identifying collateral for the loan, such as real estate that may be available for sale.

The regular review of the lending arrangement and of the credit status of the borrowassialiil
i nclude moni t or finargial oohditi;, bulgets and capital purchases.

The liquidity of the fund is important for operational purposes. Formal cash projections should be
prepared using loan repayment schedules and anticipated loans, deposits, and withdrawals.
Projections should be updatedduently and reviewed according to prescribed policy.

Allowance for Loan Losses

Provision should be made for loans that will be uncollectible in the ordinary course of operations. An
allowance should be established so that loans can be written off when they are determined to be
uncollectible. The approval for the writdf of loans asuncollectible should be substantiated.
Reference should be made to Topic 310, Receivables, and specific disclosures about the credit
quality of financing receivables and the allowance for loan losses. Pursuant to Accounting Standards
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Update No. 201420, the diocese should make financial reporting disclosures to facilitate thé users
evaluation of the loans within the Program, including:

A The nature of credit risk inherent in the
A How that risk is analyzed and assed in arriving at the allowance for loan losses
A The changes and reasons for those changes in the allowance for loan losses

At a minimum, all loans should be reviewed on an annual basis for collectability and allowances
adjusted accordingly. Policiesalid be adopted that ensure consistency in loan collectability
reviews.

Financial Reporting

For accounteportingpurposesthe recipients and users of the reports and the civil structure of the
Program should be considered in determining the form emwctent of the report. These
considerations would include, but not.be I imite

Diocesan Program

In a diocesan program, thedministrator of these fundscursthe investment and loan
repayment risk and paydepositors a fixed or defined variable return.

On the Statement of Financial Position of the Administrator, the assets (e.g., loans
receivable net of reserve for uncollectibles, investments, cash) are reported as assets
according to their character. Theposits of the participants and distributable or accrued
income payable are classified as a liability.

On the Statement of Activities, the investment income, interest on loans, and realized and
unrealized gains and losses from the assets are reportezeasies. The expenses
relating to the deposit and loan program (the interest paid to depositors and the expense
for uncollectible loans) are reported as expenses.

Mutual Programs

In amutual programthe benefit and risk of loss for the funds aggredjare borne by the
depositing participants. When the deposits are held in a trust, the financial statements
should clearly specify the trust relationship.

The entity having custody of the assets of the mutual program should report those assets
(e.g., loas receivable, investments, cash) as assets held for others. The deposits of the
participants and any undistributed income are classified as a liability. No amounts are
reported in the Statement of Activities because all investment income and costs inure to
the participants.

Hybrid Program

The aggregate interests of each entity should be separated into either the Diocesan
Program group or the Mutual Program group based upon their applicable elections for
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participation, and the guidance given above for emobp shall be followed.
Oversight

It is recommended that the Program has an Administrative Committee, whose role is to meet on
a periodic basis and:

Review the financial position of the Program

Review the loan portfolio and loan risk

Approve sigificant new loans

Provide guidance on investment of deposits, loan rates, and deposit rates
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SAMPLE PROMISSORY NOTE - This is a sample document and should be reviewed by
diocesan counsel and tailored to the specific requirements of the diocesan Deposit and Loan
program.

Promissory Note
$ (Date)

For value received, , (Name of the Rprg(City), a separate juridic person under the

1983 Code of Canon Law of the Roman Catholic Church and a parish within the Diocese of
___________ (“the Borrower " (nsert mame ohthe Bragramh, the p a 'y
Trust or legal entityY t he “ Trust” or the “Lender”), the | es
may have actually been advanced under the terms of this Note together with any interest accrued and
unpaid until all amounts owing under this Note are paid in full. The patiesowledge that the

Lender has executed this Note to allow the Borrower to draw funds for the exclusive use of funding
construction costs related to the

the loan proceeds are being usediie specifiegurposes only.

Borrower agrees to abide by the promises and agreements entered into under this Agreement.

Terms and Conditions:

1. Borrower is required to repay this Note in __ years from the date of the Project completion
(Date of Compttion). The Date of Completion shall be defined as the earlier of (i) 30 days
after the Borrower is issued a certificate of occupancy or (ii) 30 days after the advancement
of all the proceeds under the Note. Monthly payments, which include both priacigpal
interest (the Payment) will be established based on a prepared amortization schedule which
wi || be calcul ated based on the outstanding
rate upon Date of Completion. Each payment of principal and sttehall be paid by the
Borrower on the first of the month pursuant to the prepared amortization schedule, without
any right of sebff or counterclaim to(insert name and address of the Program, the Trust or
legal entity) The initial payment shall be dwn the first day of the month following the Date
of Completion. If any payment under this Note becomes due and payable on a day other than
a business day, the payment shall be due on the next succeeding business day, provided,
however, that if the dat®r any payment of interest is extended as provided hereunder or by
operation of law or otherwise, interest shall continue to accrue and be payable at the then
applicable rate during such extension. Any payments required for any other fees, charges or
miscellaneous payments will be invoiced to the Borrower and are due within 30 days after
receipt.

a. Amortization Reset The principal amortization schedule for this Note, as set forth in
1. above, may be adjusted one time during the term of the Ndbe &otrower and
the Lender shall agree (the “Amortizati ol
prepays the principal amount owing with respect to any such Note in an aggregate
amount equal to at | east $50,000h(the
Prepayment Increment is made during the first twelve months from the Date of
Completion (the ®“Reset Period”). At suct
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made with respect to the Note, then within the first 15 business days of the next
succeeding dandar quarter, upon the written request of the Borrower, the Lender
shall effect the Amortization Reset at the prevailing interest rate at that time and over
the remaining term of the Note.

No additionaladvances will be made under the terms of tdite after the Date of
Completion whether or not the full amount of the Note has been drawn.

This Note has a variable interest rate feature. The interest rate on this Note may change from
time to time if the rate identified below changes. Intereatl $fe computed on the basis of

365 days per year. Interest on this Note shall be calculated and payable at a variable rate
equal to the Prime Rate (“Prime Rate”) as pt
Prime Rate on this Note would be _ . Bér annum, assuming advances were made
concurrent with the date of this Note. Interest rate changes on this Note will occur the first

day of the month following the day that the Prime Rate changes. Interest shall accrue on
each advance under this Note the date such advance is loaned to Borrower. The Borrower

should be aware that it may have a balloon payment due upon the maturity date of this Note

due to the fluctuations in the interest over the term of the Note.

This Note allows for the prepaymieof principal and interest amounts due hereunder,
without a penalty.
a. However, the Payment, as defined within this Note, must be made on time on the first
of eachmonth, regardless of prepayments until the outstanding principal, together
with all accrued interest, is paid in full.

b. Prepayments wil/l not be consi deaveetdtusi n t he
or delinquency.

c. The Borrower is pagiueif the monthly Payment is made after the schedidlate
(the first of each month) and delinquent if the monthly Payment is not made.

Upon Default, as defined hereirthe interest rate on this Note shall be increased to the
interest rate in effect alhé¢ time ofDefault, plus two percent (2%).

All pledge payments received by Borrower are to be sefih$ert name of the Program, the

Trust or legal name ofentity nd deposited into Borrower’ s de
Borrower directs thathey be used to make construction payments, scheduled Payments
and/or to make Prepayment Increments until the outstanding principal together with all
accrued interest is paid in full.

Lender reserves the right, at its sole discretion, to assign omlsadk any part of the
outstanding indebtedness under this Note to
choosing at any time.

The terms and conditions of this Note are governed by the particular laws of the Diocese of
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Covenants

Until the Note is paid in full, together with any and all accrued and unpaid interest thereon and all
other amounts due hereunder (Other fees, charges or miscellaneous payments as defined below) are
paid and satisfied in full, and this Promissory Note has beeninated, the Borrower covenants and
agrees that it will:

1. Use all | oan proceeds solely for the Borrowe

2. Promptly inform Lender in writing of (i) all adverse changes in the financial condition of the
Borrower; and (ii) ap and all matters affecting the Borrower that could materially affect the
Borrower’'s financi al condition.

3. The Borrower recognizes its obligations to repay the indebtedness referenced herein and
commits that such repayment obligation shall always hold a preeminent position in current
and future budgeting and planning. Borrower also recognizes that it mayonesstiice its
future operating budgets in order to accommodate the debt service of this Note.

4. Borrower must continually revaluate its ten (10) year forecast, provided to (insert the name
of the Program, the Trust or legal name of entity) dated as of , to ensure that it can
balance its operating budget, (i.e. revenues must exceed or equal expenditures, including debt
and interest payments).

5. Borrower must encourage parishioners to remain faithful to their offertory donations during
the pledge payent period.

6. Borrower covenants and agrees that it will not incur any additional indebtedness until the
Note has been paid in full without the prior written approval of the (insert name of the
Program, the Trust or legal name of entity). A violation @ ttovenant shall be deemed an
event of default under the terms of the Note.

7. Perform and comply with all terms, conditions and provisions set forth under the Note, and
promptly notify Lender of the occurrence or imminent occurrence of any event or
circumgance that may constitute a Default under this Note and/or the other obligations of
Borrower.

8. (Add other elevant covenants as necessary)
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Events of Default and Lender Remedies

1.

I f any one or more of the following events
by Borrower:

a. Non-payment Borrower shall fail to pay the principal and interest hereunder when due
(whether as stated or at maturity, by accelenatiootherwise), within five (5) business days
after the principal or interest shall become due and payable, or shall fail to pay any other fees,
charges or miscellaneous payments payable hereunder within 30 days after such other fees
are invoiced; and fts to notify theLender(or respective entity managing the Program) prior
to the end of such five or thirty day period or such earlier time as the payment at issue is
otherwise due, that Borrower is unable to meet its repayment obligation(s) hereunder; or,

b. Compliance Borrower shall fail to comply with the Covenants and any other terms and
conditions of this Note, or fails to comply with the terms and conditions of any other
agreement between Borrower and Lender; or

c. Material adverse change in fimgal condition Any material adverse change in Borrower's
financial condition, either as disclosed to Lender by Borrower or as determined by Lender in
review of Borrower’s routine financi al repor

2. Remedies in the Event of Bower Default.

a. Other Action as Warranted Lender may take such action as
sole discretion, is deemed warranted with respect to the outstanding obligations of Borrower
to Lender hereunder, including the acceleration ofiticebtedness, and Lender shall be
entitled to all such remedies as legal and equitable principles allow.

Representations, Warranties and Other

1.

The Borrower acknowledges that the amounts provided under this Note are the patrimonies of
other parishes and organizations within the territory of the Diocese of that have
been generously made available to it in a spirit of unity and mussatance. The Borrower

also acknowledges its legal and moral responsibility to repay this Note in a timely and
responsible manner and pledges to do the same.

The Borrower agrees not to assign anythef t he
Note without the prior written consent of Lender, which consent may be withheld by Lender in

its sole discretion. The Borrower agrees that Lender is entitled to assign some or all of its rights
and remedies described in this Note with appropriatieento Borrower but in which no consent

from the Borrower is required.

The Borrower agrees to make payment to Lender at any address designated by Lender and in
lawful United States currency. The Borrower waives presentment, demand for paymer#, noti

of dishonor and protest and further waives any right to require Lender to proceed against anyone
else before proceeding against the Borrower. This Note shall be binding upon the heirs,
successors and assigns of the Borrower and Lender. This Note néprise complete and
integrated understanding between the Borrower and Lender regarding the terms hereof and may
not be modified, amended or waived except by a written instrument duly executed by both
parties.
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Borrower hereby represents and warraht&t this Note constitutes the legal, valid and binding
obligation of Borrower enforceable in accordance with its terms, except to the extent that
enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar laws of
general applicatio relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditor's rights from time to time
in effect.

To the extent permitted by | aw, the Borrower
and other costs incurred in collecting any amount due or endpeny right or remedy under

this Note, including audit or internal investigation fees incurred should there be a material
adverse change in the Borrower’'s financial <co

This Note shall be governed in all respects by the laws of the State of and the Code
of Canon Law of the Roman Catholic Church.

BORROWER:

(Name of the Parish), a parish of the Diocese of

By: Reverend , Pastor

Witnessed and approved by the Parish Finance Council for (Name of Parish)

(Name of Chairperson), Chairperson, (Name of

Parish) Parish Finance Council
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IX. Diocesan Finance Councils

Canon 492 of the Code of Canon Law mandates all dioceses to establish a finance council:

Canon 49&1. In every diocese a finance council is to be established, over which the diocesan
bishop himself or his delegate presides and which consists of athiesesimembers of the Christian
faithful truly expert in financial affairs and civil law, outstanding in integrity, and appointed by the
bishop.

82. Members of the finance council are to be appointed for five years, but at the end of this
period they can bappointed for other fivgear terms.

83. Persons who are related to the bishop up to the fourth degree of consanguinity or affinity
are excluded from the finance council.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Finance Council

The diocese should prepare aadbr for the finance council that includes, at a minimum, the
following roles and responsibilities (a sample charter is included later in this chapker)inance
council must prepare the annual diocesan budget according to the instruction of teardlmiskop

(c. 493). (While the annual budget may initially be prepared by the staff of the diocese, final approval
and recommendation to the Bishop rests with the finance council.)

The finance council must examine the annual report of income and expesdirepared by the
diocesan finance officer (cc. 493, 494). (This examination may take the form of reviewing the annual
audited financial statements as presented by the diocese's independent auditors.)

The finance council is to giveounseto the bishp on the following:

Appointment of a finance officer (c. 494)

Removal of the finance officer (c. 494)

Imposition of taxes, either ordinary or extraordinary (c. 1263)

Decisions relative to the more important acts of administration (It is for the conference of

bishops to define what is meant by acts of extraordinary administration.) (c. 1277)

Determination of the meaning of acts of extraordinary administration fotutestisubject to

his control if the statutes are not specific (c. 1281.2)

6. Review of annual reports submitted to him by clerical and lay administrators of any
ecclesiastical goods (c. 1287.1)

7. Leasing of ecclesiastical goods owned by the diocese whersitketwalue of the property

to be leased exceeds $400,088e( Chapter XVI, subtopiteasingc. 1297 and USCCB

Complimentary Norms for Canon 1297)

Investment of tangible and intangible property assigned to an endowment (c. 1305)
9. Modification of the olbations imposed in executing last wills for pious causes if such
obligations cannot be fulfilled (c. 1310.2)

Hwnh

o

o
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The finance council must give or withhatdnsento the bishop on the following:

1 Performance of an act of extraordinary administratiodefsed by the United States

Conference of Catholic Bishops (USCCB) (c. 1277):
i. Initiating a program of financing by the issuance of instruments such as

bonds, annuities, mortgages or bank debt in excess of the minimum amount
set in accord with Canon 12821.

ii. Resolving an individual or aggregate claim(s) by financial settlement in
excess of the minimum amount set in accord with Canon 8292

iii. Engaging in the regular management or operation of a trade or business that is
not substantially related to the fmmance of the religious, spiritual,
educational or charitable purposes of the Church, for the purpose of
generating income to carry on such activities.

iv. Entering into any financial transaction or contractual agreement, the terms of
which address mattensvolving an actual or potential conflict of interest for
the diocesan bishop, auxiliary bishop(s), vicar(s) general, episcopal vicar(s),
or the diocesan finance officer.

1 Leasing of ecclesiastical goods owned by the diocese when the market value of the
property to be leased exceeds $1,000,000 or the lease is to be for three years or longer
(see Chapter XVI, subtopit:easing c. 1297 and USCCB Complimentary Norms for
Canon 1297)

T Alienation of property at or aboveCBthe “m
(c. 1292 § 1) (see Chapter XVsubtopic: Alienation and Acts of Ordinary and
Extraordinary Administration)

1 Alienation of property of other public juridic persons subject to the diocesan bishop at
or above the “mini mum” amo 2928 1le(set @hapter s h e d
XV, subtopic: Alienation and Acts of Ordinary and Extraordinary Administration)

1 In addition to alienation, the entering into any transaction that worsens the financial
condition of the diocese (c. 1295)

Be aware that consent must also be obtained from the Holy See for alienation of
property given to the Church by vow, property precious for artistic or historical
reasons or when the value of the property exceeds the “maximum” amount established
by the USCCB (see Chapter XVI, subtopic: Alienation and Acts of Ordinary and
Extraordinary Administration). Consent of the Holy See is also required for the valid
leasing of ecclesiastical goods when the market value of the goods exceeds $5,000,000.
(See USCCB Complementary Norms for Cad@97—Leasing of Church Property.)

Other

The diocese should consult witls canon lawyer to clarify the role of the diocesan finance council
and ensure that it operates consistent with canon law. In addition to specific canon law requirements,
diocesarbishops should consider consulting with their finance councils on the following:

1 Appointment of auditors (In addition, the diocesan finance council should

perform the audit committee oversight role if an audit committee does not exist,
including oversighof financial management policies and the implementation
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thereof.

Appointment of legal counsel

Employee compensation and benefits

Insurance and risk management

Property management

Construction management

Investment policies

Internal controls

Development (fundraising) See USCCB Complimentary Norms for Canon 1262
(effective August 15, 2007) and U.S. Catholic bishéps)ciples and Guidelines
for Fund Raising in the United States by Arch/Diocese, Arch/Diocesan Agencies
and Religious Institute@November 16, 1977), available from the USCCB
Finance Office

Banking arrangements

Fulfilling the requirements of the Resolution on Diocesan Financial Reporting
that became effective January 1, 2001

=4 =4 =4 -8 _8_9_9_-2

E

At its General Meeting in November 2000, the bishopsiumeusly adopted a Resolution on

Diocesan Financial Reporting, effective January 1, 2001 requesting each suffragan bishop to send an
annual letter to his metropolitan archbishop (and each metropolitan archbishop to send an annual
letter to the senior sutigan bishop in the province) specifying compliance with certain provisions of
canon lawAt its November 2011 meeting the Resolution was extended to remain in effect through
November 2016The finance council should assist the bishop in fulfilling the irequents of the

resolution. The resolution and reporting form are reproduced later in this chapter.
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SAMPLE

Sample Statutes of Diocesan Finance Council
STATUTES FOR THE FINANCE COUNCIL OF THE ARCHDIOCESE of N.

ARTICLE | The name of this body shall be the Archdiocesan Finance Council referred to
someti mes as “ AFC”

ARTICLE Il Purpose

The Archdiocesan Finance Council is one of the three major councils of the Archdiocese of N. It is
established by the Archbishop for thepase of advising and assisting him in financial matters.

The finance council must prepare the annual archdiocesan budget. (While the annual budget may
initially be prepared by the staff of the archdiocese, final approval and recommendation to the Bishop
rests with the finance council.)

The finance council must examine the annual report of income and expenditures prepared by the
archdiocesan finance officer. (This examination may take the form of reviewing the annual audited
financial statements as presented by the archdiocese's indepaunditors.)

The finance council must give or withhold consent to the archbishop on the following:

1 Performance of an act of extraordinary administration as defined by the United States
Conference of Catholic Bishops (USCCB) (c. 1277)
i.  Initiating a progam of financing by the issuance of instruments such as
bonds, annuities, mortgages or bank debt in excess of the minimum
amount set in accord with Canon 1292.

ii.  Resolving an individual or aggregate claim(s) by financial settlement in
excess of the mininma amount set in accord with Canon 1Z9P.

iii.  Engaging in the regular management or operation of a trade or business
that is not substantially related to the performance of the religious,
spiritual, educational or charitable purposes of the Church, for the
purpose of generating income to carry on such activities.

iv.  Entering into any financial transaction or contractual agreement, the
terms of which address matters involving an actual or potential conflict
of interest for the diocesan bishop, auxiliary bishpp(gar(s) general,
episcopal vicar(s), or the diocesan finance officer.

1 Leasing of ecclesiastical goods owned by the archdiocese when the market value of the
property to be leased exceeds $1,000,000 or the lease is to be for three years or longer
(c. 129 and USCCB Complimentary Norms for Canon 1297)

1 Alienation of property at or above the amount established by the USCCB (c. 1292 § 1)
and updated annually based on the consumer price index.

1 Alienation of property of other public juridic persons subjecth® archbishop at or
above the amount established by the USCCB (c. 1292 § 1) and updated annually based
on the consumer price index
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In addition to alienation, the entering into any transaction that worsens the financial
condition of the archdiocese (295)

The finance council is to give counsel to the archbishop on the following:

1. Appointment of a finance officer (c. 494)

2.
3.
4.

5.

00

Removal of the finance officer (c. 494)

Imposition of taxes, either ordinary or extraordinary (c. 1263)

Decisions relative to the more important acts of administration (It is for the confefence
bishops to define what is meant by acts of extraordinary administration.) (c. 1277)
Determination of the meaning of acts of extraordinary administration for institutes
subject to his control if the statutes are not specific (c. 1281.2)

. Review of annual reports submitted to him by clerical and lay administratorg of an

ecclesiastical goods (c. 1287.1)

. Leasing of ecclesiastical goods owned by the archdiocese when the market value of the

property to be leased exceeds $400,000 (c. 1297 and USCCB Complimentary Norms for
Canon 1297)

. Investment of tangible anntangible property assigned to an endowment (c. 1305)
. Modification of the obligations imposed in executing last wills for pious causes if such

obligations cannot be fulfilled (c. 1310.2)

In addition to the canon law requirements outlined aptive finance council will also advise the
archbishop with regard to the following:

T
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Appointment of auditors (In addition, the finance council will perform the audit

committee oversight role, including oversight of financial management policies and the

implementation thereof.)

Appointment of legal counsel

Employee compensation and benefits

Insurance and risk management

Property management

Construction management

Investment policies

Internal controls

Development (fundraising}See USCCB Complimentarydxins for Canon 1262
(effective August 15, 2007) and U.S. Catholic bishéps)jciples and Guidelines for
Fund Raising in the United States by Arch/Dioceses, Arch/Diocesan Agencies and
Religious InstitutegNovember 16, 1977), available from the USCCB Ro®Office

Banking arrangements

Fulfilling the requirements of the Resolution on Diocesan Financial Reporting that

became effective January 1, 2001

ARTICLE Il Membership

AFC shall be composed of not fewer than 19 persons, including the Archbishop of N., or the person
who, in his stead, exercises ordinary jurisdiction over the spiritual and temporal affairs of the
Archdiocese N. in accordance with legislation of the Romaiid@lic Church and the Vicar General

of the Archdiocese.
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1) Two members of this Council shall be elected by the Archdiocesan Pastoral Council.

2) Two members of this Council shall be priests serving the Archdiocese of N., elected by the
Presbyteral Courlcof the Archdiocese.

3) One member of this Council shall be a religious sister serving the Archdiocese of N., elected by
the Sisters Council of the Archdiocese.

4) One member of this Council shall be a permanent deacon, serving the Archdiocesdeatéddl, e
by the Deacon Council of the Archdiocese.

5) At least eight members of this Council shall be appointedlarge positions by the Archbishop.
6) Three members of this Council shall be appointed by the Archbishop as:

a) Chair of the ArchdiocesaFinance Council
b)  Chair of the Revenue Committee
c) Chair of the Allocations Committee

The Vicar of Finance shall also be anddficio, nonvoting member of this Council.

It shall be the responsibility of each of the six elected members of the AFC to communicate the
activities and recommendations of the AFC to the body which elected each such member and to
encourage that body to exercise care in the election of its metobamnsure its representatives have

the interest and time to serve, and to communicate to the AFC its observations or recommendations
in regards to matters being considered by the AFC.

ARTICLE IV Term of Office

1) The regular term of office of the eledter appointed aarge members of the AFC shall be

five years, with approximatelyotehi rd of t hose members’ ter ms
2) No elected or appointed-t&rge members shall serve more than two consecutiveyéae
terms.

3) The Chair ofthe Revenue Committee and the Chair of the Allocations Committee shall be
appointed to a twayear term. These Chairs may not serve more than three consecutive two
year terms. The Chair of this Council shall be appointed for eyeaeterm.

ARTICLE V Vacacies

Vacancies on the AFC by reason of resignation, death, disability, termination of office, or otherwise,
shall be filled by the same constituency or person which originally selected the member whose
position has become vacant.
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ARTICLE VI Officers and Duties
The officers of the AFC shall be a Chair and a Mdwir.

1)

2)

The Chair of this Council shall conduct all meetings of the AFC and its Executive
Committee.

The ViceChair of the Council shall act in the place of the Chair when the Chalasent

or unable to attend a meeting of the AFC or the Executive Committee, and shall assist the

Chair i n the perfor manc ehair Ehallthé @po@dtedaby theé s
Archbishop from among the membership of the Council for ayeae tem.

ARTICLE VII Meetings

Meetings of the AFC shall be held at the call of either the Archbishop, the Chair, or by a majority of

the full membership of the AFC. All meetings of AFC will be staffed by the Vicar of Finance.

ARTICLE VIII Committees

There shall be an Executive Committee and two standing committees of the AFC. The standing
committees shall be the Revenue Committee and the Allocations Committee. The Vicar of Finance

shall staff all committees of the AFC.

1)

2)

Executive Committee: There shall be an Executive Committee composed of the
Archbishop or his delegate, the Chair of the AFC, who shall be the Chair of the
Executive Committee, the Vie€hair of the AFC, the Chair of the Revenue
Committee, the Chair of thAllocations Committee, and two members of the AFC
elected to ongear terms by the AFC.

The Executive Committee shall be responsible for the affairs of the Council between

meetings, adoption of a yearly schedule of AFC meetings, preparing agendas for the
AFC meetings, assigning AFC members to the standing committees, approving the
annual plans and schedules of standing committees, recommending policies and
procedures guiding the budget process and the operations of the AFC, and for

determining the purposenmembership and term of each ad hoc committee. It shall
report all of its activities and actions to the AFC at the next meeting of the AFC for
ratification.

All AFC members shall serve on at least one of the three committees. Members may

indicate their comittee preference prior to appointment.

Revenue Committee: The Revenue Committee shall consist of a Chair appointed by the

Archbishop, at least five members of the AFC appointed by the Executive Committee,
and up to five or six others recommended iy AFC Revenue Committee members
and approved by the Archbishop for thiesar terms.

The Revenue Committee shall review and coordinate revenue projections of all sources

of operating and capital funds, and assist and advise on the annual angearulti

fundraising strategies and efforts of the Archdiocesan Central Corporation prior to any

major fundraising campaigns.
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The Revenue Committee acts as a central area for communications on all major
fundraising by agencies, departments, and institutions batldeinand outside the
Archdiocesan Corporation to help monitor and coordinate these efforts.

3) Allocations Committee: The Allocations Committee shall consist of a Chair appointed
by the Archbishop, at least five members of the AFC appointed by the Bweecut
Committee and the Chairs of the Allocation Panels. Allocation Panel Chairs shall be
suggested by the Allocations Committee Chair, recommended by the AFC and
approved by the Archbishop for a epear term.

The Allocations Committee and its panel, eawnsisting of up to six persons
appointed to staggered thrgear terms by the Allocations Committee Chair, shall
review the thregiear and annual proposals for new and expanded programs, the three
year goals and annual objectives and the thieee and amual budgets of each
department and agency requesting funds from the Central Corporation, and it shall
prepare recommendations for the AFC on them. The panels shall further establish
contact with their respective agencies/departments, conduct budgetgbheaamd
prepare and present to the Allocations Committee recommendations from their
respective panels.

The Allocations Committee shall annually prepare a recommended total budget
including funds and comments on existing, expanded and new programs, érom th
panel recommendations and submit it to the

The Allocations Committee and its panels shall review needs on-aioteat basis and
recommend to the AFC such changes in allocations as it deems necessary.

The Revenue and Allocations Committees shall work closely with the division directors
and other staff as appropriate, to become informed about proposals, plans and studies
that can impact on revenue or spending, the goals or objectives of departments and
agencies, and strategies and funding to achieve them.

ARTICLE IX Quorum and Voting

A majority of the full membership shall be necessary and sufficient to constitute a quorum for the
transactions of business at all meetings of AFC and its committeesgsadail the members of the
council of its committees were properly notified of meeting in accordance with canon 127. The act of
a majority of the members present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the
AFC or its committees.

ARTICLE X Amendments

Amendments to these statutes shall be proposed at any meeting of the AFC, followingeekwo
notice, upon a twohirds vote of the full membership of the AFC. They would be effective upon the
approval by the Archbishop.
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Diocesan Financial Reporting—USCCB Resolution

The diocesan finance council has a recommended reporting responsibility in accord with the 2000
USCCB resolution on diocesan financial reporting.

Bishop Joseph A. Fiorenza, thPnesident of the National Conference ofti@dic Bishops (NCCB;

later the United States Conference of Catholic Bishops), appointed an Ad Hoc Committee on
Diocesan Financial Reporting, chaired by Bishop Joseph P. Delaney, to study ways in which bishops
could better acknowledge their compliance witte requirements of canon law for financial
reporting. This preamble and resolution were approved by the body of bishops at their November
2000 General Meeting.

Preamble

In 1971 the NCCB publisheBiocesan Accounting and Financial Reportiig the Probgue the

Manual says "the bishops of the United States recognize that these limited material resources have to
be managed more effectively than ever before. To accomplish this, each ordinary and his managers
need an accounting and reporting system whidhrefiect the financial condition and the results of
diocesan operations in a rational and meaningful manner. . . . The prime objective of this Manual is
to present a system of accounting and financial reporting which is usable by each and every diocese
in the United States. This will permit financial reporting to the ordinary, the Catholic community, or
the community at large."

In 1983 the Conference publishAdcounting Principles and Reporting Practices for Churches and
ChurchRelated Organizations1 which it was stated "a wide variety of individuals and groups is
interested in the financial statements of Churches and Cheliatied organizations. Among them are
governance, communicants and contributors, service beneficiaries, members of theatoganiz
board of trustees, employees of the organizations, governmental agencies providing funds for
programs and services, creditors and potential creditors, and constituent organizations."

Also in 1983, Pope John Paul Il promulgated the revizadk ofCanon LawCodex luris Canonici

Canons 49294 provide for the establishment of diocesan finance councils, the preparation of
diocesan budgets, and the responsibilities of the diocesan finance officer. Canoi2 12 tscuss

the responsibilities of diesan bishops with regard to the administration of goods, consultation with
the finance council and college of consultors and delegation of responsibilities to the finance officer.
Canon 1284 enumerates specific duties of administrators of ecclesiasimds. gCanon 436
describes the competence of the metropolitan in suffragan dioceses.

In 1995 the Committee on Budget and Finance published a fram@&imcksan Internal Controls

In its foreword, Archbishop Thomas J. Murphy, Treasurer, said that "canch stags that all
administrators are to perform their duties with
delegate the authority but not the responsibility. He has the duty to ensure that no abuses exist in the
administration of church goodsithin the diocese." The executive summary of that document points

out, "Although the bishop will not become too involved in the details of the internal control system,

he is the only person who has the power to ensure that each area of a diocese utaitses o
responsibility for the system. The proper tone must be set at the top of the organization, and for a
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diocese, this is the bishop."

Chapter 2 provides, "The bishop, as head of the organization, should assume ownership of the system
of internal contol. He is responsible for ensuring integrity, ethics, competence, and other factors of a
positive control environment. The bishop fulfills his responsibilities by providing leadership to his
senior management team, who shape the values, principles aatirgpeolicies that are the basis

for a strong internal control system. . . . The bishop and his representatives, therefore, establish a
controlled environment that ensures effective communications and sets up monitoring procedures."
That document wentroto say, "The finance council of a diocese should have a significant role in the
internal control function of a diocese and in providing direction, guidance, and oversight to the
bishop. In addition to its advisory capacity, the finance council has &peglits and duties under

canon law."

Having considered the almost thiygar history of this Conference's interest in the promotion of
responsibility and good stewardship over the ecclesiastical goods entrusted to the diocesan bishop,
this Committee pposes that the bishops of the United States now consider how they might provide
fraternal support to each other in some collegial manner while at the same time respecting the
principle of subsidiarity and the desire to not burden any person or office umithalistic
responsibility that might encroach on the legitimate rights of a diocesan bishop to manage his
diocese.

The Committee proposes that the Conference consider advegtentia thais, helping bishops pay
attention to the law of the Church amahéirming that each is doing so. The Committee proposes that
each suffragan bishop would provide an affirmative statement to his metropolitan archbishop that he
is in compliance with the canon law and, therefore, proposes the following be adopted agiarreso

of the National Conference of Catholic Bishops. As we are all called to the proper administration of
the Church's temporal goods in Book V of tbede of Canon Lawthe submission of a statement is
understood to mean that fiscal matters are beidgeaded in a timely and appropriate manner.

The diocesan bishop (under church law) has ecclesial and civil responsibility for the management of
the diocese. Church law provides a context and direction to the bishop in the exercise of these
responsibilities (as described in the preliminary statemant) therefore this resolution is offered to
assist the bishop in the exercise of his duties and not to change or diminish those responsibilities.

Resolution

Annually, after the end of the fiscal year, each suffragan bishop is asked to send a leger to
metropolitan archbishop containing:

1. The names and professional titles of the members of his diocesan finance council; The dates on
which the finance council has met during the preceding fiscal year and since the end of that fiscal
year.

2. A statament signed by the finance council members and the finance officer stating that they have
met, reviewed, and discussed the [audited] financial statements of the diocese and the management
letter, if any, for that fiscal year and have reviewed the managdetr and the recommendations

made by the auditors.
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3. A statement that the finance council was consulted in accord with the prescriptions of canon
law.

The metropolitan archbishop will provide this same letter to the senior suffragan bishop in the
province.

This resolution became effective January 1120and has subsequently been renewed through
November 2016

NOTE: A sample (arch)diocesan financial reporting form can be found on the following page.
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SAMPLE (ARCH) DIOCESAN FINANCIAL REPORTING FORM

Name and Professional Titles of (Arch) Diocesan Finance Council Members

NAME TITLE

PR

etc.

(Arch) Diocesan Finance Council Meeting Dates

bR

etc.
(Arch) Diocesan Finance Council and Finance Officer Attestation

We have met, reviewed and discussed the [audited] financial statements of the (insert name of
diocese) and the management letter for the fiscal year ended (insert year) including the
recommedations made by the auditors

We have been consulted in accord with the prescriptions of canon law.

SIGNATURE PRINTED NAME

PR

etc.
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X. Diocesan Finance Officer

Canon Law

Canon 494 — 81. In every diocese, after having heard the college of consultors and the finance
council, the bishop is to appoint a finance officer who is truly expert in financial affairs and
absolutely distinguished for honesty.

82. The finance officer is to be appadtfor a fiveyear term but can be appointed
for other fiveyear terms at the end of this period. The finance officer is not to be removed while in
this function except for a grave cause to be assessed by the bishop after he has heard the college of
consutors and the finance council.

83. It is for the finance officer to administer the goods of the diocese under the
authority of the bishop in accord with the budget determined by the finance council and, from the
income of the diocese, to meet expenses hwiiie bishop or others designated by him have
legitimately authorized.

84. At the end of the year, the finance officer must render an account of receipts and
expenditures to the finance council.

Quialifications

The diocesan finance officer may be a dexn a layperson in communion with the Church and must
be someone of high integrity and an expert in financial matters. A certified public accountant or
someone with similar qualifications and experience usually is preferred.

Position Description

Each docese should develop a position description for the finance officer that describes the
gualifications, duties, and reporting responsibilities for the position. The position description also
should include clear requirements, expectations, and relatiortbhipsill exist with other offices in

the diocese.

Other References

SeeThe Diocesan Finance Officer New Commentary on the Code of Canon Ladlited by John P.

Beal, James A. Coriden, and Thomas J. Green , published by Paulist Press, 997 Macatthur Bl
Mahwah, N. J. 07430, copyright © 2000 by The Canon Law Society of America, pagéS&51
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Xl. Federal Funding

General

The past several decades have seen huge increases in federal awards to state and local governments
and nonprofit organizations. Many of these federal awards are of a social service nature and have
been granted to churaklated organizations interestednireeting the needs of the underprivileged in

this country (e.g., foster care grants to Catholic Charities). As the amounts awarded to governmental
units and nofprofit organizations have increased, so have the attempts to ensure that such funds are
spent & intended and that such funds are not subject to fraud, waste, and abuse. Additionally, the
terms of federal awards are becoming more restrictive with regard to the religious character that may
be involved with the use of those funds. Accordingly, camilshbe exercised to safeguard the free
exercise of our Catholic faith. Failure to spend funds in accordance with grant terms can result in
disallowed costs or permanent loss of funding.

Certain organizations expending $500,08@50,00effective forfiscal years beginning on or after
Jan. 1, 201por more in federal awards are subject to the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996
(P.L. 104156), as well as the United States Office of Management and Budget's (OMB) Cireular A
133, Audits of States, Local Gavenents and No#rofit Organizations

In accordance with thAlICPA Audit and Accounting Guide , Government Auditing Standards and
Circular A-1 3 3 A ulek iSihgte ,Audit should cover the entire operations of the auditee, or at the
option of the auditeehe audit may include a series of audits that cover departments, agencies and
other organizational units that expended or otherwise administered federal awards during the fiscal
year, provided that each audit encompasses the financial statements anté sehexienditures of
federal awards for each such department, agency and organizationalt . ”

In defining the entity to be audited, tB¢CPA Audit and Accounting Guide, Government Auditing
Standards and CircularA 33 A u d i Oree ofdhe mitiakasks dufing the planning process of

a single audit is determining whether management has properly defined the entity to be audited.
Circular A-133 states that single audits should cover the entire operations of the auditee. However,
Circular A-133 provias the auditee the option to meet the audit requirements of the circular through

a series of audits that cover arganizatodal uniésdhats de p ¢
expended or otherwise administered federal awards during a fiscal fy@arauditee elects this

option, separate financial statements and a schedule of expenditures of federal awards should be
prepared for such department, agency or other organizational unit. In these circumstances, an
audit ee’ s -whe fipanaial zternents may also include departments, agencies or
organizational units that have separate audits and prepare separate financial statements.
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Recipients of federal funds subject to OMB Circula 23 include nosprofit organizations such as
colleges and miversities, hospitals, museums, libraries, and health and welfare agencies. These
entities operate in an environment that often has two specific attributes:

1. These organizations often carry out the programs legislated by Congress. To do that, they
receivefederal grants and contracts that include certain terms and conditions that must be
met. Administrative rules and cost principles, as well as specific statutory requirements,
dictate the responsibilities imposed by the receipt of federal funds. A catdel@mount
of federal government guidance on audits of these organizations deals with the receipt and
expenditure of such awards.

2. These organizations generally have-éxempt status under applicable provisions of the
Internal Revenue Code. As a conditiof receiving taxexempt status, many of these non
profit organizations agree to limit or handle in accordance with federal regulations certain
activities (e.g., lobbying, operating a business that is not related to the exempt purpose, etc.).

Responsibilities of the Receiving Organization

By accepting donations from individuals or organizations that have attached restrictions to the
donation, an organization incurs a legal and moral obligation to adhere to the restrictions imposed by
the donor. The clealternative is not to accept the donations. Federal awards are no different in this
respect. The receipt of federal funds in any form as explained below implicitly acknowledges
acceptance of gramiposed responsibilities. Ignoring or inadequately adigeriio these
requirements may cause the federal agency to refuse further funding or even require the return of the
federal funds granted.

It should be noted that neprofit organizations may receive federal funds directly (i.e., from the
federal governmeptor indirectly (i.e., the funds may be passed through from state or local
governments or other neprofit organizations). Even if the funds are received indirectly, the
organization is still subject to-A33 requirements.

Data Collection Form

One of the products of an audit conducted in accordance with OMB CircilaB As the completion

of form SFSAC, Data Collection Form for Reporting on Audits of States, Local Governments and
Nonprofit OrganizationsThe form summarizes information reganglithe grantee, the auditor work
performed, and the results of the audit work, including any findings. Parts of the form are to be
completed by the auditor and other parts are to be completed by the grantee. The completed form is

to be electronically sigreby the auditor and the grantee and electronically submitted along with the
grantee’ s reporting package, to the Single Aui
clearinghouse uses the information to ensure all covered entities have a Singlan8iui create a

database that summarizes results from all single audits. The electronically submitted package is made
available to the Federal granting agencies.
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Defining Federal Awards

Federal awards include not only cash but also other types of assistance. There are fifteen types of
assistance, of which seven are financial and eight are nonfinancial.

Financial Types

Formula grants

Project grants

Direct payments for specified use
Direct payments with unrestricted use
Direct loans

Guaranteed or insured loans
Insurance

= =4 -a-a_-8_-48_-°

Nonfinancial Types

Sale, exchange, or donation of property and goods
Use of property, facilities, and equipment
Provision of specialized services

Advisory servies and counseling

Dissemination of technical information

Training

Investigation of complaints

Federal employment

= =4 -48_8_-5_9_-4a_-°

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

An exhaustive analysis of the requirements imposed on an organization receiving federal funds is
beyond the scope of this section. What follows is general background information on the kinds of
requirements to which an organization may subject itself, el a8 some direction for how to
determine conclusively what the organization must do to meet those requirements. These compliance
requirements subject to audit testing are found irfOE Circular A133 Compliance Supplement

a. Activities allowed or uallowed. Requires that the types of goods or services purchased
with federal awards be specified as allowable under program requirements.

b. Allowable costs/cost principle®rescribe direct and indirect costs allowable as costs of
federally funded progras. (These are further described in various OMB circulars;
generally the one impacting not for profits is OMB Circulat22.)

c. Cash managemenRequires recipients to have procedures to minimize the time elapsing
between the transfer of funds from HH€S. Treasury and disbursement by the recipient.

d. DavisBacon Act.Requires that, when required by federal grant program legislation, wage

rates paid to laborers on federally financed construction projects at least equal regionally
prevailing rates.
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e. Eligibility. Specifies the criteria for determining the individuals, groups of individuals, or
subrecipients that can participate in the program and the amounts for which they qualify.

f. Equipment and real property managemenRequires organizations tmaintain an
equipment and property management system for its federal award programs and related
activities in accordance with certain federal standards.

g. Matching, level of effort, earmarkingRequires that an organization receiving federal
awards contbute its own resources to programs funded in some specified ratio to
resources provided by the funding source.

h. Period of availability of federal fundsRequires—where a funding period is specified
that a recipient charge to the grant only allowabE<cesulting from obligations incurred
during the funding period and any gaevard costs or carryover balances authorized by the
federal awarding agency and the applicable cost circular.

i. Procurement and suspension and debarmerequires the followig:

1. That recipientsestablish procedures for the procurement of supplies and other
expendable property, equipment, real property, and other services with federal funds
to ensure that such materials and services are obtained in an effective manner and in
compliance with theqpvisions of applicable federal statutes and executive orders.

2. That contracts not be made to parties that are suspended or debarred or whose
principals are suspended or debarred.

j. Program income.Requires that gross income received which is directly generated by the
federallyfunded project during the grant period be retained by the recipient and used in
accordance with federal awarding agency regulations or the terms and conditions of the
award.

k. Real property acquisition and relocation assistandéese requirements deal with real
property acquisition, appraisal, negotiation, and relocation when federal awards are used.

I. Reporting.Requires that specific reports be filed and stipulategiaddl requirements that
apply to those reports.

m. Subrecipient monitoring.Requires federal award recipients (pdg®ugh entities) to
have adequate monitoring and follay that covers entities to which they have in turn
awarded federal funds.

n. Special tests and provision#ncludes other provisions for which federal agencies have
determined that noncompliance could have a direct and material effect on the program.

Not all of the compliance requirements necessarily apply to a given progradetdionine which
requirements do apply, the grant agreement, United States Statutes, the United States Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR), the OMB Circular-E33 Compliance Supplement and tBatalog of Federal
Domestic Assistana@ae sources that may be saoited.
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The first place to look for these requirements is the grant document itself. Because all of these
requirements are imposed by contract (as opposed to being a matter of law), all should be
incorporated into the grant or contract either directlbpreference-so read the document first.

Also, many grants or contracts, although quite brief, will refer to standard attachments that are
incorporated by reference into every grant issued by a given agency.

OMB has issued a number of circulars that mayrnzorporated completely or partially by reference
in grants or contracts. Some of the more important circulars are as follows:

1 A-110—Uniform Requirements for Grants and Agreements with Institutions of
Higher Education, Hospitals, and Other Nonprofit Institutions

1 A-21—Cost Principles for Educational Institutions

1 A-122—Cost Principles for Nonprofit Organizations

The first circular, A110, includes many of the administrative requirements pertainingdierdlly

funded programs. The last tweA-21 and Al22—establish the principles to be used in determining

the costs of grants and contracts, including the basic principles of allowable and unallowable costs
and the mechanics involved in establishing indicest rates.

Federal sponsors want to ensure that the limited financial assistance is spent appropriately by non
profit organizations. Over the past few years, the federal government has continued to change
promulgated cost principles to stop perceivdalises by recipients of federal funds. In many
instances, these changes have simply reduced the recipients' ability to recover the cost of the program
or research. While in the past the government was committed to full cost recovery by recipients of
federal funds, the introduction of limitations on the amount of costs recovered has forced more
organizations to increase their internal contributions to the programs.

Recent changes in audit documentation requirements may result in additional sample sizes for
compliance testing during financial audits. Early conversations with auditors will minimize any
surprises during the audit.

American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) Requirements

ARRA created new funding opportunities for many charities and alsatectenew reporting
requirements for recipient organizations under section 1512 of the Act. An implementation guide was
issued June 22, 2009 and can be located at:

http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pKiERBL 226/pdf/20130465.pdf

On December 18, 2009, OMB issued a memorandum titdpdated Guidance on the American
Recovery and Reinvestment AcData Quality, NorReporting Recipients, and Reporting of Job
EstimatesThis guidance should be of particular interest to Catholic organizations that are recipients
of federal assistance awards under the Recovery Act and required to report under Section 1512 of the
Act.

Among the matters required to be reported by recipierderuBection 1512 of the Recovery Act are
estimates on the number of jobs created and retained. The OMB guidance focuses on this particular
aspect of the 1512 reporting and incorporates lessons learned from the reporting period that ended
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http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2013-12-26/pdf/2013-30465.pdf

September 30, 200&he first reporting period under the Recovery Act). It replaces Section 5
“Reporting on Jobs Creation Est i gudaeesdoduypentRe ci pi
titled, Implementing Guidance for the Reports on Use of Funds Pursuant to the Rectaargl A

reflects important simplifications to the manner in which job estimates are calculated and
reported. Specifically, the memorandum states that:

1 Recipients will now report job estimates on a quarterly, rather than cumulative, basis. As a
result, re@ients will no longer be required to sum various data on hours worked across
multiple quarters of data when calculating job estimates.

1 Recipients will no longer be required to make a subjective judgment on whether jobs were
created or retained as a rdasof the Recovery Act. Instead, recipients will report on jobs
funded with Recovery Act dollars.

1 A simplified formula is provided to calculate job estimates and additional examples are
included to assist in the understanding of how to apply the formula.

1 Recipients should implement the updated methodology to the greatest extent possible for the
January reporting period and that questions on the guidance should be directed to
recovery@omb.eop.gov

Related Regulatory and Professional Literature

Many of thepublications referred to in this chapter are available on the Internet.
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XI11. Foundations and Endowments

Most dioceses have fundraising and investment functions. These may be legally sepdoate not
profit corporations (“foundation”) or may be divisions operating within the Central Administrative
Offices (CAO). The receipts of restricted gifts, including emehents, require specific accounting
treatment.

Foundations

Please refer to FASB Codification Section 98805, Financially Interrelated Entities of NBor
Profit Entities. In many cases a foundation may require consolidation, as discussed incR8&opi
810 of the Codification.

Classification of a beneficiary’s i nt gasmgt i n
foundation in the beneficiary’ s financi al stat
Practice Aids Section @D.13 to 6140.18.

Endowments

Financial reporting standards for endowments generally are included in FASB Codification Sections
95821045 and 9580545. For a more thorough discussion of accounting for investment, please
refer to Chapter XIMnvestmentsAlso, Chapter 8 of the AICPA Audit & Accounting Guide for Not
for-Profit Entities has an tdepth discussion of accounting for investments.

The model Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA) was approved by the
Uniform Law Commissn in July 2006 to modernize the Uniform Management of Institutional
Funds Act of 1972 (UMIFA) for governing the investment and management of -destdcted
endowment funds by ndor-profit organizations. State legislatures may enact UPMIFA as written o

a modified version of it, and they may issue supplementary guidance that affects the accounting for
endowment funds. Classification of Donor Restricted Endowment Funds Subject to UPMIFA is
discussed in Paragraphs 988545-28 through 32 of the Codifidah. Classification of Donor
Restricted Endowment Funds Subject to Trust Law or to UMIFA is discussed in Paragreé305958
45-33 through 95805-45-35 of the Codification.

Information on the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act of 20®@ikble at
http://www.law.upenn.edu/bll/archives/ulc/umoifa/2006final_act.pdiThe current status of
enactments and introduced legislation can be found at
http://uniformlaws.org/Act.aspx?title=Prudent%20Management%200f%20Institutional%
20Funds%?20Act
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Spending Rate Policies

Many dioceses manage their investments on a total return basis. Under the total return concept, the
dioceses focus on the overall return of their investments, including both investment income and net
appreciation. A diocese may @t a specific spendiagate formula to calculate how much of that
return will be used for current operations. A typical spending policy could be a percentage rate
applied to the average thrgear or twelvequarter endowment balance. Some states that have
enacted UPMIFA may have adopted a safe harbor spending rate, so it is important to comply with the
state law where the diocese is located. In making a determination to appropriate or accumulate
endowment funds, UPMIFA requires the institution to act imdydaith, with the care that an
ordinarily prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances, and shall
consider, if relevant, the following factors: (1) the duration and preservation of the endowment fund,;
(2) the purposes of ¢hinstitution and the endowment fund; (3) general economic conditions; (4) the
possible effect of inflation or deflation; (5) the expected total return from income and the
appreciation of investments; (6) other resources of the institution; and (7) gstn@nt policy of

the institution.

Donor Advised Funds

For Donor Advised Funds, please refer to Chaptsr Mdcome Taxor a discussion of this topic.

Net Asset Classifications

Paragraph 9521045 of the FASB Codification provides guidance for thessifgcation of net

assets. The amounts for each of the three classes of net assets (permanently restricted, temporarily
restricted, and unrestricted) are based on the existence or absence eimmsed restrictions.

Chapter 11 of the AICPA Audit and Aganting Guide for Nofor-Profit entities also provides
guidance for net asset classifications.
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XI111. Fundraising, Diocesan Appeals and Gift Acceptance

Canon 1262 The faithful are to give support to the Chulnhresponding to appeals and according
to the norms established by the Episcopal Confetence

In accord with the prescripts of canon 1262 and effective as of August 15, 2007, the following norms
(verbatim) were decreed to govern fundraising appeals taithéul for Church support.

I. Norms:

Motivation

1.

Fundraising appeals are to be truthful and forthright, theologically sound, and should strive to
motivate the faithful to a greater love of God and neighbor.

Fundraising efforts are to be for definededs.

. The relationship of trust between donor and fuaider requires that

a. Funds collected are used for their intended purposes;
b. Funds collected are not absorbed by excessiveraisithg costs.

Donors are to be informed regarding the use of donated funds and assured that any restrictions on
the use of the funds by the donor will be honored.

Competent Ecclesiastical Authority

5.

Institutes of consecrated life and societies of apostolic life requpeoval of the respective
competent major superiors and the diocesan bishop to solicit funds; diocesan entities require
approval of the diocesan bishop to solicit funds; other Catholic entities and organizations require
the approval of the diocesan bighim solicit funds.

. Approval for fundraising by the competent authority is to be given in writing with reference to

the purpose for which the funds are being raised, the time frame, and the methods to be used in
raising them.

. Oversight of funeraising pograms is to be maintained by competent authority through periodic

review and, where necessary, appropriate sanction.

Competent major superiors of institutes of consecrated life and societies of apostolic life are to
submit to the diocesan bishop of thiace where the fundhising originates periodic reports on
the fundraising programs and the apostolic activities they support.

Accountability
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9. Fundraisers are to provide regular reports to competent authority on the extent to which
promises expressent implied in the solicitation of funds have been fulfilled.

10. Fundraising reports are to be prepared in scope and design to meet the particular concerns of

those to whom the reports are due:

a. The governing body and membership of the Hftaising aganization;

b. The competent authorities who approved and monitor ther&isidg effort;
c. The donors to the organization;

d. The beneficiaries of the funds raised.

11. Annual fundraising reports are to provide both financial information ancexaew of the
apostolic work for which the funds were raised. They are to set forth, at the least, the amount of
money collected, the cost of conducting the fuading effort, and the amount and use of the
funds disbursed.

Procedures

12. Funds beyond operating expenses are not to be accumulated or invested byaisiugaffice,
but are to be turned over to the appropriate office for allocation and investment.

13. Special care is to be taken to see that ethical business relationshipairsteen®d by the fund
raiser with suppliers of goods and services.

14. Contracts between a religious furalser and commercial suppliers and consultants are to insure
that control over materials, designs, money and general operations remain in the héweds of t
religious fundraiser.

15. Agreements are not to be made which directly or indirectly base payment either to the
commercial firm or to the religious furrdiser on a percentage basis.

Oversight
16. Competent authority is to ensure that firaging organizations:

a. Make available fundaising reports to benefactors on a regular basis or upon reasonable
request;

b. Provide their governing bodies with an annual financial statement prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles and, where size warrants, by a certified public
accountant.

17.In response to formal complaints, competent authority is to promptly investigate charges, remedy
abuses and, when necessary, terminate therisdg program.

[End of Norms]
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1. Guidance and Suggestions Concerning Canon 1262

1.1t is important to det er mi nwthimatDiocese are subjecttta es  (
canon 1262 (norm 5).
1 Diocesan entities juridic persons (parishes and seminaries) and other entities

9 Public juridic persons and their apostolates.

1 Institutes of Consecrated Life (religious orders of men or women and their related religious
institute schools and retreat centers.

1 Societies of Aposia Life.

1 Other Catholic entities, e.g. Catholic Schools, Opus Dei Apostolates, Religious Institute
Schools, Catholic Cemeteries and Mortuaries, Retreat Centers and Catholic Foundations.

2. Ongoing oversight of fundaising programs (norms 7 and 8) is required. The norms require
periodicr eports but do not define the meaning of
between the qualifying entities and the diocesan bishomadking the periodic report on the
programs, care must be taken to honor a donor’

3. Implementation of canon 1262 should be done in close collaboration with a Judiaal ovi
Canonist of the Diocese.

4. Create a list of Qu#ying Entities within the territory of the Diocese.

1 Utilizing the Official Catholic Directory listingor other official sourcesdetermine what
entities within the territory of the Diocese are Public Juridic Persons and their apostolates.

1 Research shad include a review of the underlying canonical decrees for these entities
within a Diocese.

5. Update the particular norms/laws and/or guidance of the local Diocese to address requirements of
canon 1262Each Diocesehouldset forth its own particulaalv in varying manners (e.g. policy
and procedures manualsyhich shouldinclude the parishes and other public juridic persons
within the territory of each Diocese.

1 The general principals of Canon 12@@ not reference materialityConsideration should be
given to establishingapplicability or materiality thresholds for canon 1262 within the
Di ocese. For exampl e, it i s doubt ful t hat t
school raffles, auctions, candy sales, and falivwhereas it certainly includes the
solicitation of pledges payable over an extended period of time in order to finance significant
expenditures representing acts of extraordinary administration.

6. Prepare a Diocesan notification letter to be settiécadministrator of those qualifying entities to
notify them of the required norms of canon 1262 and how these norms will be implemented as
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particular law within the Diocese.

7. Consider a twestep process for fuadhising campaigns in order to obtameé Bi shop’' s wr
approval:

* Phase HPreliminaryapproval. This should be completed during the early stages of planning
for the fundraising campaign prior to commencement of a feasibility study or retention of a
campaign consultant. Essentially, tmgial request is to seek confirmation with the Bishop
that the funeraising concept makes sense prior to incurring substantial time, effort and

dollars.
* Phase Il- Formal approval After feasibility and other planning work has been
compl et ed, including the approvals of the

and/or administrator have been received, a formal written request should be made to the
Bishop requesting written apprdv&uch request should include the goals, methods
and purpose of the fup@ising campaign as explicitly as possible.

8. The publication ofannualfund-raising reports should be made available to all donors and
beneficiaries of raised funds.

9. Periodic fundraising reports should be supplied to the governing body (finance council,
board of directors, board of trustees, etc.) concerning the status of theising.

10. Annually, the qualifying entity conducting a fusrdising campaign shoulgrovide to the Office
of the Diocesan Bishop information updating the status of the campaign, the cost/benefits,
problems/complaints, etc.

11.The due process procedures of the particular Diocese should be used to resolve disputes or
conflicts arising beteen donors and organizations, in accord with the norms for due process.

Diocesan Appeals

Many dioceses conduct annual appeals (also sometimes referred to as campaigns) to raise funds for
specific programs, obligations or other special needs of the s#icaed/or its parishes and schools.

The purpose of the appeal as represented in the appeal literature or other communications and other
specific donofimposed restrictions should determine the accounting and reporting practices for the
funds received andotbe received as a result of the appeal. This includes determinations as to
whether the appeal funds are classified as Unrestricted, Temporarily Restricted or Permanently
Restricted.

Unconditional promises to give should be recorded ladgesreceivablein accordance with the
requirements of FASB ASC Topic #958, Swpic #605, Not for Profit Revenue Recognition.
Unless the donors have explicitly indicated that these funds be used for the current reporting period,
the Pledges Receivable that are intentdgdthe donor for use in a future period and are not
permanently restricted should be reported as Temporarily Restricted Assets as they are subject to a
time restriction. If the donors explicitly indicate that the Pledges Receivable are for the current
repating period and do not indicate any purpose restriction, they should be recorded as Unrestricted
Assets.
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With respect to other accounting and reporting requirements related to Pledges Receivable, generally
accepted accounting principles require thatard)allowance for estimatashcollectible pledges be

recorded and presented; 2) if the pledges are to lectaal over a period of more than one year from

the report date, both the receivable and aigwance for uncollectible pledgesust be adjusted to

net present value; and, 3) if the reporting entity is raising funds explicitly for another entity, those
funds should be reported as an *“ aged togtfortProfa nsact i
Entities, Financially Interrelated Entities and ASC @8%-30, Notfor-Profit Entities, Revenue
Recognition, I nitial Measur ement ” .

Fundraising expenses magrsist of direct and indirect expenses requiring allocation. SOP, 98
Accounting for Costs of Activities of Noir-Profit Organizationsand ASC 958720-25-4, Notfor-
Profit Entities, Other Expenses, Fundraising Expense Recognition, contains guidamoeefuable
cost allocation methodologies.

Gift Acceptance Guidelines

Consistent with the precepts of Canon 1262 and other relevant Canons, it is important for a Diocese

to carefully consider the need to establish guidelines for the proper handlingsabgifie Church.

The primary purpose of such procedures is to
specifically the prescripts of Canon 126783, “C
may only be used f achDiocdseavwouldpestablsio sich guidelivgls through its a

own particular law, consideration should be given to incorporating the following general principles

for all types of gifts:

1 All gifts should be properly accepted, including written acknowledgment pptbpriate tax
correspondence so that receipts are generated that fully comply with IRS regulations (see Chapter
X1V).

2 Restricted Gifts- Acceptance of a restricted gift imposes an obligation to comply with the terms
established by the donor. Therefotasinecessary that the nature and extent of this obligation be
clearly understood. If a gift is deemed unacceptable because of the restrictions the donor has
placed on its use, the donor should be informed immediately and provided with the opportunity
to remove and/or modify the identified restriction(s) or revoke the gift. Typically, only the
Ordinary can refuse such gifts unless the Dio
(Canon 126782).

3 Unacceptable Gifts In addition, certain other dg to the Diocese or parishes, whether restricted
or not, may need to be refused or returned when the gift:

» Is inappropriate or not conducive to the best interest of the mission or ministry of the Diocese
or parish.

* Is known or suspected to be from an illegal or questionable source.

* Would obligate the parish or the Diocese to undertake responsibilities, financial or otherwise,
which it may not be capable of meeting for the period required by the terms of the gift.

» Creates excessive administrative, recording, tracking or reporting procedures for the Diocese
or parish.
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» Creates a conflict of interest or could damage the reputation of the Diocese or parish.

» Contains a perpetual condition (that is, no matter how egtitia gift may be, those gifts
requiring conditions for greater than 20+ yearsght oftenbe refused, as such conditions
could become very onerous). Should a condition be attached totaagifs more specific
than the basic mission of the entand is ofan extendediuration, the gift should not be
accepted unless it provides a mechanism for the Bishop to change the purpose.

Likewise, when receiving gifts in kind, gifts of securities, gifts of real estdtayned gifts and
bequests and/or other types of gifts, it is important to understand that such gifts can result in
complicated transactions that must be evaluated carefully to ensure that the Diocese and/or parish are
not accepting potential or real lility upon acceptancésuch as environmental liabilities associated

with real estate)Detailed guidelines should be developed by the Diocese for each of these types of
gifts, including how to value such gifts in order to properly record such contributiaordance

with generally accepted accounting principlesnd how to properly acknowledge these gifts for
donor s’ i ncome tax purposes.
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XI1V. Income Tax

Please note that IRS regulations are being constantly updated and that this section is meant only as a
general guide to issues. You should verify the current accuracy of any section before placing a final
reliance on it.

USCCB Group Tax Exemption Ruling

Annually since 1946, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has issued to the United States Conference
of Catholic Bishops, a group tax exemption ruling with respect to the Catholic organizations listed in
The Official Catholic Director(OCD) for a particir year ("Group Ruling”). The Group Ruling
establishes (1) that organizations included in the OCD are exempt from federal income tax under
section 501(c) (3) of the Code and from federal unemployment tax; and (2) that contributions to such
organizations & deductible for federal income, gift, and estate tax purposes. The current Group
Ruling is available on the USCCB websitenatw.uscch.org/ogdAt that website there is also a full
explanation of what the Group Ruling provides as well as application fimmsacluding newly

formed organizations in the Group Ruling and OCD. Inclusion in the Group Ruling has no effect on
an organization's liability for any federal excise taxes, nor does it automatically establish an
organization's exemption from state atdbincome, sales, or property taxes.

Accounting Treatment

The accounting treatment for income taxes is specified in Accounting Standards Codification Topic
740- Income Taxes.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles require that entities disttheseffect of uncertainties in

tax positions. This is a two step process where first a determination is made whether or not benefit
should be recognized. Second, if the recognition threshold is met, determine the amount of benefit.
While this may not affeécmost dioceses, they will need to document for their files that they have
examined their tax positions, including nprofit status and whether they need to file forms 990,
990N or 990T. Because there are complex issues involved it will be helpfulvolvie outside
experts including auditors in this examination.

The following is intended to provide general information about income tax issues (other than
accounting treatment) to dioceses in the United States.

Deductibility/Substantiation of Contributions
One of the primary benefits of section 501(c) (3) exemption is deductibility of contributions for

federal income (8 170), estate (8 2055), and gift (8 2522) tax purposes. Cash contributions by
individuals to organizations listed in the OCD generally ardudible up to 50% of the donor's
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adjusted gross income [IRC § 170(b)(1)(A)], with a firwar carryover for any excess [IRC §
170(d)(1)]. Noncash contributions can have different limitations. Corporate gifts are deductible up
to 10% of taxable income [IR§ 170(b)(2)], with a fiveyear carryover (IRC 170[d][2]).

In order to be deductible, a payment must first qualify agfta which is defined as a voluntary
transfer of money or property without receipt of or expectation of a commensurate return benefit
Thus, for example, the payment of tuition, whether made directly to a school or to a church operating
the school, is not deductible. In addition, payments made in various fundraising contexts may or may
not be deductible, depending on whether goods biices are received in return. For example,
payment for a purchase at a charity auction will be deductible only to the extent the payment exceeds
the fair market value (FMV) of goods or services received in return. Payments for charity raffle
tickets are ot deductible, since the amount paid is not a gift, but rather payment for the chance to
win whatever prize is being offered.

In response to abuses with respect to charitable contributions, in 1993 Congress enacted enhanced
substantiation rules applica&bto contributions of $250 or more. Section 170(f)(8) provides that no
contribution of $250 or more will be deductible unless the donor obtains, prior to filing his or her tax
return, written acknowledgment from the donee charity verifying the amoung abtitribution and

whether any goods or services were received in return. If so, such goods or services must be
identified and must be valued by the donee charity. If the benefits received consist solely of
intangible religious benefits, a statement tot thikect must be included. Although the burden of
requesting appropriate acknowledgment is placed on the donor and not imposed on the donee charity,
charities that knowingly provide false written substantiation statements may be subject to penalties
for aiding and abetting an understatement of tax liability under section 6701.

Beginning in 2007 donors must retain written documentatiomlfanonetary donations in the form

of a cancelled check, bank record or receipt from the donee organization showiragnthef the

donee organization, the date of the contribution and the amount of the contribution. This will make it
important that donors use checks or contribution envelopes. This requirement is in addition to the
section 170(f)(8) substantiation requirents noted above.

Certain payments are considered quid pro quo contributioasnely, they are made partly as a gift

and partly in consideration for goods or services furnished to the donor. An exception is provided for
payments made to an exclusively religious organizatiaeturn for which the donor receives solely
intangible religious benefits. Under section 6115, charitable organizations must inform donors in
writing that quid pro quo contributions in excess of $75 are deductible only to the extent that they
exceed theralue of any goods or services provided by the charitable organization in return, and the
organizations must provide a gofaith estimate of the value of such goods or services. This
disclosure must be made either at the time of solicitation or uporpremfethe quid pro quo
contribution. Penalties are imposed on any charity that fails to make appropriate disclosure under
section 6115 at $10 per contribution, capped at $5,000 per particular fundraising event or mailing.
Typical quid pro quo contributiosituations include charity golf tournaments, auctions, dinner
dances, and so forth, where part of the payment constitutes a contribution. In such situations, the
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disclosure statement may be placed in solicitation materials, in event programs or brarhones,
the face of event ticketsi.e., in any reasonable manner likely to come to the attention of the donor.

Additional substantiation requirements are imposed with respect to certain contributions. Most non

cash contributions require that the donor reee receipt from the charitable organization showing

the name of the charitable organization, the date and location of the contribution and a reasonable
description of the item(s) donated. Items dropped off at collection boxes and valued at less than $250

do not require a receipt however the iitems don:
provided on what constitut es -cdshggifte dalued atn$800 ori o n " .
more must complete Form 8283 and attach it to Form 1040. iRatotrs of norcash gifts valued at

$5,000 or more (other than gifts of publicly traded securities) must

» Obtain a qualified appraisal and submit an appraisal summary with the Form 8283 attached to
Form 1040, and

» Have the donee charity complete and rettonthe donor the "Donee Acknowledgment
Section" (in doing so, the donee charity is not vouching for the appraised value)

The donee charity is required to report to the IRS on Form 8282 if such contributions are
subsequently sold or otherwise disposeditthin three years of receipt.

The IRS has issued special rules for the claiming of deductions for donated vehicles. In general, the
deduction will be limited to the actual sales price the charity receives for the vehicle. Donors may
claim a deductiondr the fair market value under the following circumstances:

» The charity makes a significant intervening use of the vehicle, such as using it to deliver
meals on wheels.

» The charity makes a material improvement to the vehicle, i.e., major repairs thittangly
increase its value and not mere painting or cleaning.

» The charity donates or sells the vehicle to a needy individual at a significantly-iveldwet
price, if the transfer furthers the charitable purpose of helping a poor person in need of a
means of transportation.

Sales of donated vehicles are reported to the IRS and to donors on form 1098 C. Copy A must be
filed with the |IRS. Copies B and C must be fur
attachment to his or her tax return) fader than 30 days after the date of sale if box 4a is checked, or

30 days after the date of the contribution if box 5a or 5b is checked. ForaCli8%8ailable on the

IRS website atvww.irs.govunder Forms and Pubétons.

Finally, diocesan entities often benefit from contributed services. A parishioner may volunteer to
clean the church every week, or a carpenter may replace the windows and only charge for materials.
These acts of charity are welcomed, and oftenvolunteer asks for a tax receipt for the contributed
services. While it is permissible to write a letter thanking the volunteer for donating his or her time,

it is not permissible to give the volunteer a tax receipt or include the value of servithe on
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volunteer’s annual contribution statement. The

donor may deduct his or her unreimbursed out of pocket expenditures.

Lobbying Activities

Section 501(c) (3) organizations may not engage in ntwae insubstantial lobbying activities.
Lobbying includes contacting, or urging the public to contact, members of a legislative body for the
purposed of proposing, supporting, or opposing legislation or advocating adoption or rejection of
legislation [Trea. Reg. § 1.5019(c)(3)(c)(3)(ii)]. Legislation includes any action by Congress, by a
state or local legislative body, or by the public in a referendum, initiative, constitutional amendment,
or similar procedure [Treas. Reg. 8 1.501(c)183)(3)(ii)]. No distinction is made between "good"

and "bad" legislative activity. (See Rev. Rul-3393, 19672 C.B. 185.)

The IRS has never defined "insubstantial” in this context or identified a percentage safe harbor for
legislative activities. Court cases sugge® to 15% range, but the IRS comfort zone is at the lower
end. SedMurray Seasongood v. Commissioif227 F.2d 907 (6th Cir. 1955)), which ruled that less
than 5% time and effort is not substantial; &fabwell v. U.S(500 F.2d 1133 (Ct. CI. 1974), cert.
denied, 419 U.S. 1107 (1975)), which ruled that 16 to 17% of a budget was substantial. A more
specific elective lobbying standard was enacted in 1976 as section 501(h) of the Code. Churches,
conventions of churches, and integrated auxiliaries at theireguest were made ineligible [IRC 88
501(h)(5) and 4911(f)(2)].

Political Activities

A section 501(c)(3) organization may not engage in any political campaign activity. Unlike the
lobbying limitation, this is an absolute prohibition. The statute sti&is501(c)(3) organizations
may not "participate in, or intervene in (including the publishing or distributing of statements), any
political campaign on behalf of (or in opposition to) any candidate for public office.” The prohibition
applies only to cattidates for elective public office. The IRS has indicated that it will be paying
speci al attention to so called “issue advocacy”’
content and the manner of distribution. They have also indicated himatwiill scrutinize links
provided on website to determine if there is inappropriate advocacy of candidates.

Although very little additional interpretation is provided in the regulations, the penalties for violating
the prohibition are severe. In additiomloss of taxexempt status and deductibility of contributions,
two-tiered excise taxes may be imposed on the exempt organization (10% and 100%) and on the
organization manager {22% and 50%) for political expenditures (IRC 8§ 4955). In flagrant cases,
the IRS may seek an injunction against further political expenditures (IRC § 7409[a]) and immediate
determination and assessment of income and excise taxes (IRC § 6852). For more information, check
the OGC websitewyww.usccb.org/ogc

86



Donor Advised Funds

Section 1231 of the Pension Protection Act of 2
includes for the first time a definition of the
separately identified by reference to contribngaf a donor(s); (2) is owned and controlled by a
sponsoring organization; and (3) with respect to which a donor (or his appointee or designee) has, or
reasonably expects to have, advisory privileges with respect to the distribution or investment of
amoun s held in the fund/account by reason of the
satisfied in order for a fund or account to be classified as a donor advised fund.

The following funds or accounts amet classified as donor advised fund$) a fund or account that

makes distributions only to a single identified organization or governmental entity; or (2) a fund or
account with respect to which the advisor (including donor, appointee and designee) advises as to the
recipients of grants fotravel, study or similar purpose if (i) the advisory privileges are performed
exclusively as a member of a committee appointed by the sponsoring organization, (ii) no
combination of advisors (or related parties) directly or indirectly control the compattee(iii) all

grants are awarded on an objective and nondiscriminatory basis under procedures that are approved

in advance by the sponsoring organization’s b
requirements of section 4945(g)(1), (2) and (3).
A “sponsoring organization” is defined as any o

than a government entity and without regard to the requirement to be created or organized in the
U.S.), is not a private foundation, and maintains omaare donor advised funds.

The most | ikely candidates for holding donor ac
of dioceses, parishes, schools, hospitals and other diocesan organizations. If a diocesan organization
maintains donor advised fundspwever, it may need to make changes in terms of operations,
including relationships with donors/advisors, fund distributions, investments, reporting, and donor
acknowledgments.

Excess Benefit Transactions - Intermediate Sanctions

In 1996, Congress eaed section 4958 of the Internal Revenue Code, theaked "intermediate
sanctions" provisions, which were designed to provide the IRS with a sanction other than revocation
of exemption for nofair market value transactions with insiders, defined oiige 4958 as "excess
benefit" transactions. Section 4958 applies to transactions occurring on or after September 14, 1995
(with the exception of transactions pursuant to certain binding written contracts in effect before that
date). In 1998, proposed rdgtions were issued to provide interpretive guidance under section 4958.
Public hearings were held in March 1999. In January 2001, the IRS issued temporary regulations;
and in January 2002, the IRS issued final regulations. Some of the major provisibes fiofal
regulations are summarized below.
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Applicable TaxExempt Organizations

Section 4958 applies to any organization that, without regard to any excess benefit, would be
described in section 501(c)(3) or (c)(4) and exempt from tax under s&idga) (EO, or "exempt
organization"), at any time during a fiyear period ending on the date of the excess benefit
transaction ("lookback period"). An organization is described in section 501(c)(3) for purposes of
section 4958 only if it provides notiaender section 508 (filing Form 1023), unless it is otherwise
described in section 501(c)(3) and is specifically excluded from application of section 508.
Accordingly, churches, their integrated auxiliaries, and conventions and associations of ehurches
which are statutorily excepted from section %08 nonetheless subject to section 4958.

Excise Taxes Imposed

Section 4958 imposes excise taxes on any excess benefit resulting from an excess benefit transaction
between the EO and a disqualified person (CEgnificantly, these taxes are not imposed on the
organization. Rather, the DP is liable for a 25% iiest tax, and for a 200% secotidr tax, if the

excess benefit transaction is not corrected within the correction period. In addition, a tax equal to
10% of the excess benefit (up to a maximum tax of $20,000) is imposed on an organization manager
(OM) who knowingly participates in an excess benefit transaction, unless participation was not
willful and was due to reasonable cause. An OM will not bddi&tr tax if he or she opposed the
transaction. If more than one person is liable for tax under section 4958, all such persons are jointly
and severally liable.

"Disqualified Person" Defined

Section 4958 defines a "disqualified person” as any personwesoin a position to exercise
substantial influence over the affairs of the organization at any time during-gefivdookback

period ending with the date of the transaction. The term also encompasses certain members of the
DP's family and certain 35%ontrolled entities.

Persons Having Substantial Influendene final regulations state that individuals holding any of the
following powers, responsibilities, or interests are in a position to exercise substantial influence over
the affairs of an EO: (1)ating members of the governing body; (2) individuals who, regardless of
title, have ultimate responsibility for implementing the decisions of the governing body or for
supervising the management, administration, or operation of an EO (persons serviagidenpr

chief executive officer, or chief operating officer have such responsibility unless they demonstrate
otherwise); and (3) individuals who, regardless of title, have ultimate responsibility for managing the
finances of an EO (persons serving assuear or chief financial officer have such responsibility
unless they demonstrate otherwise).

Persons Deemed Not to Have Substantial Influefle.final regulations state that the following are
deemed not to have substantial influence over the affaias &O: (1) organizations exempt under
section 501(c)(3); (2) certain section 501(c)(4) organizations; and (3) employees receiving direct or
indirect economic benefits of less than the "highly compensated employee” amount in section
414(g)(1)(B)(i) ($115,00 for 2013), who are not otherwise classified as DPs by virtue of position,
family relationship, or substantial contribution. In all other cases, whether an individual is a DP
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depends on all relevant facts and circumstances. The final regulationsttlarifn organization can
be a DP.

"Organization Manager" Defined

An "organization manager" is defined as any officer, director, or trustee of an EO, or any individual
having similar powers with respect to the EO, regardless of title. An officer inciudesdividual

who (1) is so designated in organizational documents, or (2) "regularly exercises general authority to
make administrative or policy decisions on behalf of the organization.” The final regulations provide
that independent contractors, actsaely in their capacity as attorneys, accountants, or investment
managers/advisors, are not officers. In addition, individuals who are not officers, directors, or
trustees, but who serve on a committee of an EO's governing body that is attempting ¢cthevok
rebuttable presumption of reasonableness (discussed below) based on the committee's actions, are
considered OMs for purposes of section 4958.

"Excess Benefit Transaction" Defined

The final regulations define an "excess benefit" as the amount loh e value of the economic
benefit provided by an EO directly or indirectly to or for the use of any DP exceeds the value of the
consideration (including the performance of services) received by the EO for providing such benefit.
With certain exceptionsxplained below, all consideration and benefits exchanged between a DP and
an EO (including any controlled entities) must be taken into account in order to determine whether an
excess benefit transaction has occurred. The final regulations provide thdgtemmining the
reasonableness of compensation that is paid (or vests, etc.) in one year, services performed in prior
years may be taken into account.

Rebuttable Presumption of Reasonablen€smsistent with the legislative history of section 4958,

the final regulations establish a rebuttable presumption whereby compensation paid by an EO to a
DP, or the transfer of property or other benefit between the EO and a DP, will be presumed to be at
FMV, provided three conditions are satisfied: (1) the compemsat terms of transfer are approved

in advance by the organization's governing body (or a committee of the governing body) composed
entirely of individuals who do not have a conflict of interest with respect to the arrangement or
transaction; (2) the gevning body or committee obtained and relied upon appropriate data as to
comparability prior to making its determination; and (3) the governing body or committee adequately
and concurrently documented the basis for its determination. The IRS may relpueégheption

only if it develops sufficient contrary evidence to rebut the probative value of the comparability data
relied upon by the governing body or committee.

Certain Economic Benefits Disregardedll fringe benefits that are excluded from incomedan

section 132 (except certain liability insurance premiums, payments, or reimbursements) are
disregarded for purposes of section 4958. The final regulations also disregard expense
reimbursements paid under an accountable reimbursement plan that meetguinements of
section 1.621(c). Thus, as is the case with section 132(d) on working condition fringe benefits, the
existing standards under section 162 and 274 will apply to determine whether employee expense
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reimbursements are disregarded or shoulttdeted as part of a DP's compensation for purposes of
determining reasonableness under section 4958.

Written Contemporaneous Substantiatiohm EO must provide written substantiation that is
contemporaneous with the transfer of benefits at issue irr ¢dodprovide clear and convincing
evidence of its intent to treat benefits provided to a DP as compensation for services. To satisfy this
requirement, either (1) the EO must report the economic benefit as compensation on an original or
amended federal taseturn with respect to the payment, e.g., Forr2Wr 1099, filed prior to
commencement of an IRS examination; or (2) the DP must report the benefit on his or her original or
amended federal tax return, e.g., Form 1040, also filed prior to commencemeamt KBS
examination.

If a benefit is not reported on a return filed with the IRS, other written contemporaneous evidence,
e.g., employment contract, may be used to demonstrate that the appropriate decision making body or
an authorized officer approved atsfer as compensation for services in accord with established
procedures. The final regulations clarify that the term "established procedures” refers to the EO's
usual practice for approving compensation and does not require that an EO have a foreral writt
procedure for approving compensation.

Correction. An excess benefit transaction is corrected by undoing the excess benefit to the extent
possible and by taking any additional measures necessary to place the EO in a financial position not
worse than thain which it would be if the DP were dealing under the highest fiduciary standards.
The correction amount equals the sum of the excess benefit and the interest thereon. Generally, a DP
corrects an excess benefit by making a payment in cash or cash egsiyatg a promissory note)

to the EO equal to the correction amount. However, with the agreement of the EO, the DP may make
correction by returning specific property previously transferred in the excess benefit transaction. The
DP will be treated as malgna payment equal to the lesser of the following: either the property's
FMV determined on the date the property is returned or the FMV determined on the date the excess
benefit transaction occurred. If such payment is not equal to the correction ameuD® timust

make additional cash payment to the EO in the amount of the difference. If the DP makes payment of
less than the full correction amount, the 200% tax is imposed only on the unpaid portion.

The final regulations clarify the rules governing coti@t when an EO no longer exists or is no
longer taxexempt by requiring that another section 501(c)(3) organization receiving the correction
amount be a publicly supported charity that has been in existence as such for a continuous period of
at least si¥t calendar months ending on the correction date. This-itiregistence requirement is
designed to prevent a DP from creating a new EO to receive the correction amount. The final
regulations also require that the organization receiving the correction amatuallow the DP to

make or recommend any grants or distributions by the organization. Finally, the DP may not also be
a DP with respect to the organization receiving the correction amount.

Special Rule for Churches
The final regulations provide thahe church audit procedures under section 7611 of the Internal
Revenue Code will be used in initiating and conducting any IRS inquiry or examination into whether
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an excess benefit transaction has occurred between a church and a DP. The reasonableitegdief req
to initiate a church tax inquiry will be satisfied if there is a reasonable belief that taxes under section
4958 are due from a DP with respect to a transaction involving a church.

Embezzlement

Any economic benefit received by a DP (who by definithas substantial influence) from the assets

of an EO is considered to be provided by the EO, even if the transfer of the benefit was not
authorized under the regular procedures of the organization. The practical result of this rule is that
funds embezeld by a DP generally constitute excess benefit transactions. The final regulations

clarify that in no event will an economic benefit that a DP obtains by theft or fraud be treated as

consideration for the performance of services.

Substantive Exemption Rpiirements Still Apply

The final regulations verify that section 4958 does not affect the substantive requirements for
exemption under sections 501(c)(3) or (4), including the requirements that the EO be organized and
operated exclusively for exempt purpssand that no part of the net earnings inure to the benefit of
any private shareholder or individual. Thus, regardless of whether a transaction is subject to excise
taxes under section 4958, existing exemption principles and rules apply (e.g., a taribatis not

subject to section 4958 because of the initial contract exception may still jeopardize the EO's exempt
status). The preamble to the temporary regulations indicated that the IRS would exercise its
administrative discretion in enforcing sect4958, 501(c)(3), and 501(c)(4) in accordance with the
direction provided in the legislative history, and would publish guidance concerning factors it will
consider with respect to revocation of exemption in excess benefit transaction situationsidintil s
time, the IRS will consider all facts and circumstances in the administration of section 4958. (See
Final Regulations on Excise Taxes on Excess Benefit Transactions, 67 Fed. Reg. 3076 [January 23,
2002].)

Automatic Excess Benefits

An economic benefimay not be treated as consideration for the performance of services (and
therefore looked at together with other reasonable compensation for services) unless the church has
clearly indicated its intent to treat the benefit as compensation when the hkienpfid. In
determining intent the relevant factors include whether (1) the appropriate decision making body has
approved the transaction as compensation in accordance with its procedures or (2) the church has
provided written substantiation (such as ustbn of the benefit as taxable wages on Fora2 \bf

other IRS return or form) that is contemporaneous with the transfer of the economic benefit at issue.
Failure to provide this documentation would cause the provision of such benefit to be outside the
realm of reasonable compensation for services and thereby considered a transfer of assets/benefit
without a return benefit to the church. Such automatic excess benefits are subject to the penalties
outlined above and include perquisites such as comparawsltrpersonal services, housing and
similar benefits not otherwise excluded from taxable wages under the Code or as a properly
substantiated and qualified expense reimbursement.
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Filing Requirements for Form 990

All organizations included in the Official Catholic Directory (OCD) must file Form 990, Return of an
Organization Exempt from Income Tax, unless they are eligible for a mandatory or discretionary
exemption to this filing requirement. There is no automeakiemption from the Form 990 filing
requirement simply because an organization is included in the Group Ruling or listed in the OCD.
Organizations required to file Form 990 must do so by the 15th day of the fifth month after the close
of their fiscal yearAmong the organizations not required to file Form 990 under section 6033 of the
Code are: (i) churches and interchurch organizations of local units of a church; (ii) integrated
auxiliaries (including a men's or women's organization, a youth group, aowsligchool, and a
mission society), and conventions or associations of churches; (iii) the exclusively religious activities
of religious orders; (iv) schools below college level affiliated with a church or religious order; (v)
organizations with gross rapés normally not in excess of $50,000; and (vi) certain chaffiliate
organizations that finance, fund or manage church assets, or maintain church retirement insurance
programs, and organizations controlled by religious orders that finance, funchagenassets used

for exclusively religious purposes. Diocesan entities not covered by the above exemptions are
required to file Form 990, or 990 if annual revenues are less than $50,000.

Special Rules for Section 509(a)(3) Supporting Organizatidbhe Pension Protection Act of 2006
eliminated discretionary exceptions to the Form 990 filing requirement as applied to section
509(a)(3) supporting organizations. The discretionary exceptions likely to be affected by this
provision are exceptions (v) and Y\above. This means that if an organization exempt under the
Group Ruling is classified as a section 509(a)(3) supporting organization, it may no longer rely on
exceptions (v) or (vi) above as the basis for not filing Form 990. However a section 509(a)(3)
supporting organization that qualifies as an integrated auxiliary of a church under section 6033 may
continue to rely on that exception as a basis for not filing Form 990. Because it is a statutory
exception, the integrated auxiliary of the church exceptias not affected by the Pension Protection
Act.

Form 990N Filing Requirementg)nder the Pension Protection Act of 2006, an organization exempt

under the Group Ruling that claims exception (v) above (gross receipts normally not in excess of
$50,000) asts sole basis for not filing Form 990 must file annual electronic FormrN99Q- “ e
postcard”) as required by IRS, setting forth t
organization; (2) any name under which the organization operates or dseesky (3) the
Organi zation’s mailing address and I nternet we
name and address of a principal of ficer; (6) ev
exemption from the Form 990 filing reg@ment; and (7) notification of termination, if applicable.

Form 996N must be submitted electronically through the IRS website on or before the 15th day of

the fifth calendar month following the close of the fiscal year for which it is filed.

Public disclosure and Inspectiony organization that is required to file either Form 990 or Form
990N must upon request make a copy of the form and its schedules and attachments (other than
Form 990 contributor lists) available for public inspection during leegbusiness hours at the

92



organization’s principal of fice and at any regi
Form 990 or Form 990l for a particular year must be made available for a three year period
beginning with the due date of theturn. In addition, any organization that files Form 990 or Form

990N must comply with written or Hperson requests for copies of the form. The organization may
impose no fees other than a reasonable fee to cover copying and mailing costs. If recoigiste of

the forms for the past three years must be providegetson requests must be satisfied on the same

day. Written requests must be satisfied within 30 days.

Public Disclosure of Form 99T. Under the Pension Protection Act of 2006, Form-39&xempt
Organization Unrelated Business Income Tax Return, is subject to the same public inspection and
copying rules that apply to Forms 990 and-99@xcept that only attachments to the form that relate

to the imposition of tax must be disclosed.

Revaation for Failure to File Under the Pension Protection Act of 2006, theggempt status of an
organization, including an organization exempt under the Group Ruling, that is required to file either
Form 990 or Form 990! but that fails to do so for theeconsecutive years will be considered
revoked. Reapplication to IRS (not through the Group Ruling process) will be required in order to
reinstate exemption.

Because the requirements for filing form 990, ®8@nd 996T are complicated and the questions
with regard to financial governance need to be answered in a uniform manner, it is suggested that all
990 forms be reviewed centrally at the diocesan level prior to being filed.

Filing Requirements for Form 5578

Rev. Proc. 750, 19752 C.B. 587, sets ftin notice, publication, and record keeping requirements
regarding racially nondiscriminatory policies that must be complied with by private schools,
including churchrelated schools, as a condition of establishing and maintaining exempt status under
section 501(c)(3) of the Code. Under Rev. Proc:5I5 private schools are required to file an annual
certification of racial nondiscrimination with the IRS. For private schools not required to file Form
990, the annual certification must be filed on Form 55A8nual Certification of Racial
Nondiscrimination for a Private School Exempt from Federal Income Tax. Form 5578 must be filed
by the fifteenth day of the fifth month following the close of the fiscal year. Form 5578 may be filed
individually by school or ¥ the diocese on behalf of all its diocesan schools.

Filing Requirement for Foreign Investments

All organizations that have investments in offshore funds are also subject to various informational
filings, with failure to file penalties of $10,000 pertio or greater. The forms required depend on

the type of investment and the percentage of ownership of such investment, but include Forms 926,
8865, 8621 and 5471. The investments can be directly held through a domestic limited partnership,
or held by a US. investment advisor on your behalf. The requirement to file is triggered by
transferring cash of $100,000 or any amount of-cash asset in a rolling 12 month period or a
change in, or actual ownership of, 10% or more of the investment vehicle itar gimesholds.
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Foreign financial accounts with a value that exceeds $10,000 at any time during the year must also
file a Report of Foreign Bank and Financial Accounts.

Unrelated Business Income Tax (UBIT)

Although organizations included in the Group Ruling are exempt from federal income tax, they are
subject to tax on the income from any unrelated trade or business in which they regularly engage.
Unrelated business income is governed by sectionsb®4Iofthe Internal Revenue Code. UBIT is
imposed at the normal corporate rates. A Form-BD3@ust be filed if an organization has gross
income from unrelated trade or business of $1,000 or more, regardless of whether tax is due or
whether the organization is ngiged to file Form 990. The Form 990must be filed no later than the
fifteenth day of the fifth month after the close of the organization's tax year (IRC 8 6072[e]). If taxes
are owed, organizations are expected to file quarterly estimated incomeutas.ret

An "unrelated trade or business" is as follows: (1) a trade or business as defined under section 162 of
the Code (generally, any activity carried on for the production of income from the sale of goods or
the performance of services); (2) one tisatagularly carried on; and (3) one that is not substantially
related to an organization's exempt purposes. The IRS applies a "fragmentation rule" to classify
different aspects of what might otherwise appear to be a unitary business endeavor as being eithe
related or unrelated. For example, the sale of advertising in an otherwise exempt educational
periodical is considered a trade or business, which will generally be unrelated to its exempt purposes.
This provision will apply to most diocesan newspapeas &ccept paid advertising.

To be considered "regularly carried on," a trade or business must exhibit "frequency and continuity"
and be carried on in a manner similar to its commercial counterpart [Treas. Reg.-&(&)81)3. In

order to qualify as "lated,” IRS requires a substantial causal relationship between the activity and

an organization's exempt purposes [Treas. Reg. 8§ -ILl2]). The fact that an organization uses

funds derived from its unrelated business activity in order to furthexéset programs does not

convert an unrelated activity into a related one. Further, even if an activity relates to exempt
purposes, it may be carried on to an extent greater than necessary to achieve those purposes. In such
situations, income derived frorx@ess activity will be subject to unrelated business income tax.

There are a number of exceptions to the UBIT rules, including the following:

Volunteer Exception.This exception applies when substantially all of the work in a particular
activity is performed by volunteers [IRC § 513(a)(1)]. The IRS's standard for "substantially all" is
85%. This exception typically applies to activities like church raffle, bingmega and other
fundraisers, although many such activities could also avoid being characterized as subject to UBIT
because they are not regularly carried on.

Convenience Exceptionlhis exception applies to any trade or business carried on primarilyefor th
convenience of its members, students, patients, officers, or employees [IRC 8 513(a)(2)]. Classic
examples of this exception include the hospital pharmacy sales made to patients, the sale of books by
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a university bookstore to students, sales in hosgitakhops, and laundry and vending operations
provided for student use.

Donated Merchandise and Low Cost Item Exceptioiitie donated merchandise exception applies

to the sale of merchandise that has been received as a contribution or gift [[RC $33[13(his
exception applies to thrift stores operated by churches and other charitable organizations. The Code
also contains an exception for the distribution of-lmest items incident to charitable solicitations. If

a church mails unrequested, l@ostitems as part of a fundraising effort, the church is not liable for
UBIT on the income received [IRC 8§ 513(h)(1)(A)]. The dollar amount is indexed for inflation and
changes each year.

Mailing List Exception Section 513(h)(1)(B) of the Code provides timabme from the rental or
exchange of mailing lists between or among section 501(c)(3) organizations is not subject to UBIT.
The IRS has taken the position that rentals or exchanges with(iqo)(3) organizations is subject

to UBIT. However, after a strg of litigation losses, the IRS will agree that properly structured
licensing agreements for the use of mailing lists can generat@axable royalty income (see

below).

Bingo and Gambling Activities ExceptionAn important UBIT exception for many chalres and

related entities is the bingo exception, which applies to bingo games where participants place wagers,
winners are determined, and prizes are distributed in the presence of all persons placing wagers in the
game [IRS 8§ 513(f)]. The bingo exceptidaesnot apply to scratctoff bingo cards, bingo machines

or to other forms of "waHaway" games. In addition, there are various IRS reporting and
withholding requirements related to awards frotl
ExemptOrgni zati ons and Gaming."”

Miscellaneous ExceptionsThere are also UBIT exceptions for qualified convention and trade show
activities conducted by section 501(c)(3), (c)(4), (c)(5), and (c)(6) organizations, and for certain
services, including data procesginfood services, and laboratory services provided at cost to
hospitals with one hundred or fewer beds [IRC 8§88 513(d), (e)]

In addition to the above exceptions to the definition of unrelated trade or business, the Code provides
certain modifications to theomputation of UBI, primarily for passive income sources. Thus,
although unrelated, income from certain sources will be excluded from the computation of unrelated
business income. The major modification categories under section 512(b) include diviademest, i
annuities, rents, and royalties.

Royalties.A "royalty" is a payment for the use of a valuable intangible property right, e.g.,
use of an exempt organization's name and logo. Payments for services provided by the
organization are not considereayalties [Rev. Rul. 81178, 1981 C.B. 135]. Royalties are

not included in the computation of unrelated business income [IRC § 512(b)(2)]. The scope
of the royalty exception has been unclear for the past several years, particularly in the context
of affinity credit card and similar arrangements. However, after a string of litigation losses,
IRS determined in late 1999 to stop litigating affinity card and mailing list rental cases except
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where the factual record clearly established that the exempt organinats providing more

than incidental services in exchange for payments received. Thus, income from an exempt
organization's licensing of the use of its name, logo, mailing lists, or other valuable intangible
property rights will generally be treated astexable royalty income, provided that no more
than incidental services i.e., those inherent in and necessary to the nature of the
arrangement-are provided in return.

Rents from Real PropertyRents from real property are not subject to UBIT under @ecti
512(b)(3) of the Code. Rents from personal property rented with real property may also be
exempt provided that the rent attributable to personal property is no more than 10% of the
total. If 10 to 50% of the rent is attributable to the rental of petgmogerty, then a pro rata
share of the rental income will be subject to UBIT. However, if more than 50% of the rent is
attributable to personal property, then the modification is lost and the entire rental amount
will be taxed.

Further, an exempt orgamtion may not provide services in connection with the rental of real
property, with the exception of services customary in connection with the rental of space: such as
light, heat, trash collection, and cleaning of common areas. This issue of sertgécearises in the
context of retreat houses and parking lots. For example, if an exempt organization rents its parking
lot to a third party, which is responsible for all aspects of its operation, the income is considered the
rental of real property not sjget to UBIT. If, on the other hand, a church rents certain spaces in its
parking lot during the week for use by nearby business people, these rents will generally be subject to
UBIT. They do not qualify for the rental of real property exception becawsehbrch remains
responsible for lot maintenance, snow removal, signs, barriers, security, line painting, etc. [See, e.g.,
PLR 9301024 (October 15, 1992).] In the retreat house situation, frequently church organizations
rent excess capacity in their fatidis for business retreats, weddmegeptions, and the like. Because

a full range of services is typically provided in such situations, including maid service, food service,
etc., it is not considered the rental of real property, but rather is more amskoghotel operations.

Sales or Exchanges Under Section 512(b)(5), all gains or losses from the sale, exchange, or other
disposition of property is excluded from the computation of UBIT, with the exception of stock in
trade or other property that walbe classified as inventory, and property held primarily for sale to
customers in the ordinary course of business.

There are two major exceptions to the exclusions from UBIT under section 512(b) outlined above
that render income taxable despite the sachil2(b) modifications:

1. DebtFinanced IncomeUnder the provisions of section 514 of the Code, income that would
otherwise be excluded from taxation under section 51PXb)Z), (3), and (5) (i.e., dividends,
interest, royalties, rents and certain gains and losses from the sale of property) may
nonetheless be subject to UBIT if it is subject to acquisition indebtednesswas acquired
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or improved with borrowed funds.rdelated debfinanced income from such property is
taxable in proportion to its acquisition indebtedness.

Certain exceptions to the defitanced income rules are relevant to church property. First,
where substantially all (at least 85%) of the propgnige is substantially related (aside from

the need for funds) to the organization's exempt purposes, it is not treated-asatheled
property [IRC 8 514(b)(1)(A)]. Second, where property is owned by one exempt organization
and is used by certain reldterganizations, it is not treated as dibanced property to the
extent that the property is used by either organization in furtherance of its exempt purposes
[IRC § 514(b)(2)].

. Third, under the "neighborhood land rule" exception, if an organizatmuiras real property

and intends to convert it to use for exempt purposes within ten years, the property will not be
treated as dedinanced property if it is in the neighborhood of other property used by the
organization for exempt purposes and if thiein to use the property for exempt purposes
within ten years is not abandoned [IRC § 514(b)(3)(A)]. Note, however, that section
514(b)(3)(C)(i) vitiates the neighborhood land rule exception with respect to any structure on
the land, when it is acquiredhdt is not required to be removed or demolished as part of the
conversion. Special consideration is given to churches and conventions or associations of
churches. Among other things, a fiftegear period applies instead of the regularyear
period, andhe requirement that the acquired land be in the neighborhood of other property
used for exempt purposes is eliminated {IRC § 514(b)(3)(E)].

a. Controlled Subsidiary Exceptio®ection 512(b)(13), which was significantly revised
in 1997, provides that rentpyalty, annuity, and interest income, which is generally
excluded from unrelated business taxable income, is not so excluded if it is received
from a controlled subsidiary of a texempt organization. Under section 512(b)(13)
prior to 1997, a controlledubsidiary was defined as 80% controlled by the tax
exempt parent organization. The control test did not incorporate any indirect
ownership rules, so that rents, royalties, annuities, and interest from g&gond
subsidiaries generally did not constituterelated business taxable income to the tax
exempt parent organization. In an attempt to thwartetempt organizations'
attempts to elude UBIT on amounts received from subsidiary organizations, Congress
lowered the threshold for "control" from 80% toetcurrent 50%. With respect to
stock subsidiaries, "control" means ownership by vote or value of more than 50% of
the stock. For partnerships or other entities, "control" means ownership of more than
50% of the profits, capital, or beneficial interests. dddition, the constructive
ownership rules of section 318 of the Code were made applicable to section
512(b)(13). As a result, a texempt parent organization will be considered to
control a subsidiary in which it holds, directly or indirectly, morent®8% of the
voting power or value. Any rent, royalty, annuity, or interest received by an exempt
organization from its controlled entity will be unrelated business taxable income to
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the extent that the payment reduces the net unrelated income or inc¢reases
unrelated loss of the controlled entity.

Corporate Sponsorship Regulations

The Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997 amended the Internal Revenue Code to add section 513(i), which
provides that the receipt of qualified sponsorship payments by an exegaptzation subject to tax
imposed under section 511 of the Code does not constitute receipt of income from an unrelated trade
or business. Section 513(i) applies to payments solicited or received after December 31, 1997. In
March 2000, the IRS issued paged regulations interpreting section 513(i). The IRS has issued
final regulations under section 513(i), which are effective as of April 25, 2002, and are applicable for
payments solicited or received after December 31, 1997.

Applicability

The final quéified sponsorship payment regulations apply to the following: single events conducted
by an exempt organization (e.g., a bowl game, TV show, or walkathon); a series of events (e.g., an
athletic tournament or concert series); or an activity conductedaoperiod of time (e.g., an art
exhibit). It is irrelevant whether the sponsored event is substantially related to the exempt
organization's taxexempt purpose. The qualified sponsorship provisions do not apply to payments
made in connection with exempt argzation trade shows [governed by section 1-31& the
regulations] or to income derived from the sale of advertising or acknowledgements in exempt
organization periodicals [governed by section 1.522(8]. A "periodical” is defined as "regularly
scheduled and printed material published by or on behalf of the exempt organization that is not
related to and primarily distributed in connection with a specific event conducted by the exempt
organization.” The final regulations clarify that printed matenaludes material that is published
electronically.

Qualified Sponsorship Payments

The final regulations define a "qualified sponsorship payment" as a payment made by any person
engaged in a trade or business for which there is no expectation or aresmdbat the payer (or
persons designated by the payer) will receive any substantial return benefit from the exempt
organization. "Payment" means the payment of money, transfer of property, or performance of
services.

Substantial Return Benefit

Substarnial return benefit is defined as any benefiher than(1) a use or acknowledgment or (2)
certain disregarded benefits. With respect to the latter, the final regulations delete the $79 cap (the
2002 inflatioradjusted figure) found in the proposed regalat, so that benefits may be disregarded

if the aggregate fair market value of all benefits provided to the payer (or persons designated by the
payer) is not more than 2% of the payment. If the aggregate fair market value of the benefits exceeds
2%, then(except to the extent that the benefit constitutes an acknowledgment) the entire fair market
value of such benefits, not merely the excess amount, is a substantial return benefit. Benefits to the
payer (or persons designated by the payer) may includeltbeihg: advertising; exclusive provider
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arrangements; goods, facilities, services, or other privileges; and exclusive-exatasive rights to
use an intangible asset (trademark, patent, logo, etc.) of the exempt organization.

Use or Acknowledgment

For purposes of section 513(i), a substantial return benefit does not include the use or
acknowledgment of the name, logo, or product line of the payer's trade or business. Use or
acknowledgment does not include advertising but may include the followiolyisese sponsorship
arrangements; logos and slogans that do not contain qualitative or comparative descriptions of the
payer's products, services, facilities, or company; a list of the payer's locations, telephone numbers,
or Internet address; a vakmeural description, including displays or visual depictions, of the payer's
product line or services; and the payer's brand or trade names and product or service listings. Logos
or slogans that are an established part of the payer's identity are not @zhsideontain qualitative

or comparative descriptions.

Advertising

For purposes of section 513(i), "advertising" means any message or other programming material that
is broadcast or otherwise transmitted, published, displayed, or distributed, and that promotes or
markets any trade, business, service, facility, or proddbiertising includes messages containing

the following: qualitative or comparative language; price information or other indications of savings
or value; an endorsement; or an inducement to purchase, sell, or use any company, service, facility,
or product.Mere display or distributior-whether for free or for a chargeof a payer's product to

the general public at the sponsored activity is not considered an inducement to purchase, sell, or use
the product. A single message with both advertising content andkaoowledgment is advertising.
These provisions do not apply to activities a payer undertakes on its own (e.g., the purchase of
broadcast time from a television station during commercial breaks in a sponsored program).

Exclusivity Arrangements

The final regulations adopt the distinction between an "exclusive sponsor® and an "exclusive
provider" that was delineated in the proposed regulations. An arrangement that acknowledges a
company as the exclusive sponsor (or the exclusive sponsor reprgsergarticular business or
industry) of an exempt organization activity does not, by itself, constitute a substantial return benefit.
However, if the arrangement is an exclusive provider arrangement that limits the sale, distribution,
availability, or useof competing products in connection with the sponsored activity, the payer has
received a substantial return benefit.

Allocation of Payments

The final regulations adopt a reasonable allocation rule. If an arrangement provides that a payer will
receivesubstantial return benefit, only the portion, if any, of the payment that exceeds the FMV of
the return benefit is a qualified sponsorship payment. The burden of establishing valuation is on the
exempt organization. The final regulations clarify thatfdie market value of the substantial return
benefit generally is to be determined when the benefit is provided. However, if the parties enter into a
binding, written sponsorship contract, the fair market value of any substantial return benefit provided

99



pursuant to that contract is to be determined on the date the parties enter into the sponsorship contract
(except in the case of material changes).

Contingent Payments

The amount of a qualified sponsorship payment may not be contingent, by contracrwisethan
attendance at the exempt organization's event, on broadcast ratings, or on other indications of public
exposure that would be typical of advertising. A qualified sponsorship payment may, however, be
contingent on the sponsored activity's actutking place.

Public Support DeterminationsQualified corporate sponsorship payments in the form of money or
property (but not services) will be considered as contributions for purposes of the public support tests

of sections 170(b)(1)(A)(vi) and 509(2) of the Code. However, this "contribution” classification

with respect to the exempt organization does not determine whether the corporate sponsorship
payment is deductible by the payer under section 162 as a business expense or under section 170 as a
charitable contribution.

Written AgreementsThe final regulations maintain that neither the existence nor the detail of a
written sponsorship agreement, by itself, disqualifies payment from classification as a qualified
sponsorship payment.

Sponsor Hyerlinks. For purposes of section 513(i), the final regulations address the issue of
whether a hyperlink constitutes an acknowledgment or advertising in two new examples. In Example
11, a symphony orchestra maintains a website with information about fitsnpence schedule. A

music shop makes a payment to fund a concert series. The symphony posts a list of sponsors on its
website, including the music shop's name and Internet address, which appears as a hyperlink from the
symphony's website to the music stsoprebsite. The symphony's website does not promote or
advertise the music shop. The entire payment by the music shop is a qualified sponsorship payment.
The posting of its Internet address as a hyperlink does not constitute advertising.

In Example 12, dealthbased charity sponsors a yang program to educate the public about a
particular medical condition. A drug company that produces a drug used in treating the condition
provides funding for the program to help the charity produce educationaliatsatend post
information on its website, which contains a hyperlink to the drug company's website. The drug
company's website contains an endorsement by the charity of its drug, which was reviewed and
approved in advance by the charity. The endorsemevertising, the fair market value of which
exceeds 2% of the total payment from the drug company to the charity. Thus, only the portion of the
payment, if any, in excess of the fair market value of the advertising can be classified as a qualified
sponsaship payment.

The preamble to the final regulations cautions that these two examples deal with hyperlinks in the

section 513(i) context only and should not be relied upon with respect to the treatment of hyperlinks
for purposes of other sections of thedg.
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Safe Harbor Application.The final regulations reiterate that the UBIT treatment of any payment or
portion thereof that does meet the requirements for the qualified sponsorship payment safe harbor
will be determined by application of the ordinary UBIT rules under sections 532abd 514.

See Final Regulations on Taxation of TExempt Organizations' Income from Corporate
Sponsorship, 67 Fed. Reg. 20433 (April 25, 2002).

Caveat

The general information provided herein is not a substitute for specific legal advice. You should
contact your (arch) diocesan tax/legal counsel for advice concerning the application of the tax law to
particular fact situations.
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XV. Investments

All institutions with investments should develop written investment policies governing significant
investment criteria for each class of funds being invested. Among the matters which should be
included in the investment oy are the following:

T

=a =4

Investment objective- A statement addressing the time horizon of the investment or fund,
the use of sound investment practices that emphasize time horizon and the overall
expectation of return on investment.

Responsibilities of th Investment Committeee Membership: number and appointment
authority. To serve as faithful stewards in safeguarding the assets of the Diocese: with respect
to those assets of the Diocese, with respect to those assets deposited by participating
institutiors. Also, to make changes in the investment policy and fund design, and to
implement the approved policy, guidelines and objectives.

Responsibilities of the Investment Manager§o manage the funds in a manner consistent
with the investment objectives, igelines and constraints outlined in the investment policy
and in accordance with State and Federal law. This includes fiduciary responsibilities,
security selection/asset allocation, and proxy voting.

Risk tolerance- Financial ability to accept risk witn the investment program and extent of
willingness to accept return volatility.

Asset allocation- Setting the minimum and maximum amount of each asset class,

(e.g. fixed income, stocks, cash, cash equivalents and other investment categories) that the
institution may holgd the establishment of rebalancing procedures and tactical asset
allocation anddiversification (core, value, growth, etc.)

Investment strategy criteria for investment manager selection.

Expected investment returJsually this wil be expressed as a comparison to a specified
benchmark or as a percentage above a standard such as the consumer price index and will
include a time frame over which the return will be measured, usually a period of several
years. Periodic investment maeagerformance evaluations should be part of this process.
Quality ratings— minimum quality ratings acceptable for investments. This is particularly
applicable to fixed income investments but can also apply to the minimum market
capitalization necessary for investing in the stock of publicly traded companies.

Prohibited investments- specific investments or categories of investments that will not be
held by the institution.

Socially responsible guidelinesguidelines for a socially responsible investment policy
should be developed and should be modeled on ikelmes published on the website of the
USCCB.

Other matters that should be considered in preparing any written investment policy or guidelines
include: 1) the purposand the prioritiedor investing the funds, 2)quidity needs ofthe funds 3)
investment style preferences, andegulatory requirements suchBRISA

Institutions increasingly makuse of alternative investments such as hedge funds, private equity
funds, real estate funds, venture capital funds, etc. to increase both yiettlvarsification of
investments. Prior to investing in such alternatives, institutions should investigate if there will be
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problems with valuation, unrelated business income taxes, etc. They also should be aware that it may
be difficult to determine if Soal Responsibility guidelines are being observed by alternative
investment funds.

The AI CPA has published a PractdAudai Ai dCoersti idtelr ead
that explores many of the issues with regard to alternative investmentsy kIso be a good idea to
consult with outside auditors prior to utilizing alternative investment vehicles.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has issued pronouncements concerning fair value
measurements that apply to accounting for investmeThis guidance is contained in FASB
Codification Section 820Fair Value Measurements and Disclosuresid is effective for years
beginning after November 15, 2008.

In developing the Fair Value Statement, the FASB recognized there are differertiaefiof fair
value in generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and little guidance for applying those
definitions.

The Statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under GAAP, and
expands disclosures about failue@ measurements. Where applicable, the Statement simplifies and
codifies related guidance within GAAP.

The Statement does not expand the use of fair value measurements but increases the consistency and
comparability of fair value measurements. It retains exchange price notion of fair value and
clarifies that the exchange price is the price in an orderly transaction between market participants.
The expanded disclosures focus on the inputs used to measure fair value and for recurring fair value
measurerants using significant unobservable inputs. To increase consistency and comparability in
fair value measurements and relate disclosures, the Statement establishes a fair value hierarchy,
which prioritizes into three broad levels the inputs to valuatiomiigces used to measure fair value.

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). Level

2 inputs ae inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either
directly or indirectly.

The Statement also encourages entities to combine the fair value information disclosed under the
Statement with the fair value information dise®d under other accounting pronouncements.
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XVI. Property and Equipment

Recognition of Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are property, plant, and equipment that typically consist divetgangible assets that

arenot expected to be sold or consumed in less than one year. Common fixed assets include, but are
not limited to: land, buildings, machinery (boilers, organs, etc.) and furniture and fixtures (desks,
chairs, etc.) Everyliocese should establishfixed asse policy to determine which expenditures
should be capitalized and which expenditures should be exp&mgithlized fixed assets should be
recorded to the balance sheet and depreciated throughout the expected useful life of the asset.
Expenditures thatra not capitalized should be recognized as an expense on the income statement
during the period the expenditure is incurred.

The fixed asset policy should state a reasonable minimum amount for an expenditure to be
classified as a fixed asset. For exampléxed asset policy states that any equipment less than
$xxx should be expensed. In this instance if the total cost to replace a boiler in a rectory is less
than minimum $xxxx the diocese should expense the total cost. Conversely, if the replacement
costof the boiler was more thahe minimum the boiler would be capitalized. The diocese

should also note in the fixed asset policy that items purchased individually may fall below the
minimum but exceed the minimum when purchased in aggregate. For exangs&,vaould fall
below the minimum threshold. However, if the diocese purchased 75 desks at a price of x per
unit at the same time the total expended would exceed the minimum and should be capitalized as
a fixed asset. Care should be taken to write offramaining book value on an asset that is
replaced.

The fixed asset policy should address the difference between repairs & maintenance and capital
improvements. Repairs and maintenance to existing structures or equipment should only be
capitalized if the xpenditure extends the expected useful life of the asset. For example, a repair
to a small section of a church roof exceeds the minimum capitalization threshold but does not
extend the useful life of the asset. In this instance, the repair should beeskipetie year in

which the expenditure is incurred. Conversely, if a complete new roof is installed it would
extend the useful life of the structure and the costs to replace the roof should be capitalized.

Depreciation is the recognition of the costlue# fixed asset on the income statement spread over

the expected useful l i fe of the asset. The di
consistent, systematic depreciation methodology. For expediency, the fixed asset policy may

state general guidels for the expected useful life on equipment. Depreciation expense should

be recorded opposite an “accumul ated deprecia
are several types of depreciation methods that can be used by a diocsgécdilyt not-for-

profit organizations depreciate assets on a strilghtasis oveits useful life Straight line

deprecation is calculated by the total acquisition cost of the asset, less salvage value, dividend by the
expected useful life. For example, theeiation expense for a new vehicle purchased for $5000

with no expected salvage value and a 5 year expected useful life would be $1,000 per year.

The diocese should start depreciation when the fixed asset is available and ready for use. This is
particdarly relevant for significant construction projects that may take several years. Costs related to
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construction should be capitalized when incurred but not depreciated until the asset is available and
ready to be used. The critenito start depreciatiorhowever, does not necessarily mean a project is

full completed. For example, construction of a new parish center has been ongoing for two years. The
hall portion of the center is ready and available for use but the library and classroom portions are still
under construction. In this instance the costs related to the construction of the hall should be
depreciated in the current year. The costs incurred for the library and classroom portions of the
building should be depreciated when those parts of the peojeavailable and ready for use.

All fixed assets, except land or property held for sale, should be depreciated in accordance with the
di ocese’s fixed asset policy. Property classifi
carrying amout or fair value less cost to sell (FASB Codification 36855-43) and should only be

classified as held for sale when the criteria outlined in FASB Codificatiorl38®-9 have been

met.

Organizations that have not capitalized fixed assets previously should do so retroactively. If
historical costs are not available for assets already in service, another reasonable basis can be used to
value such assets. Other bases might bebasstd apgisals, insurance appraisals, replacement cost
values, or property tax appraisals adjusted for market value. An alternative basis should be used only
if historical cost information is unavailable and only to establish the initial value at the date of
recoding. Subsequemurchaseshould be recorded at cost and donated assets at market value.

Any fixed asset, purchased or donated, greater than or equal to the mioapitalizationamount,

should be categorized as a fixed asset and depreciated ovesfitslifes. If a purchased or donated

fixed asset is less than the minimum amount, it should be expensed in the period obtained rather than
capitalized.

Carrying Value of Fixed Assets

Generally, fixed assets should be carried at the acquisition coshdessulated depreciation. A
diocese, however, is required to recognize an impairment loss if the carrying value of the fixed asset
is no longer recoverable. For example, if a building is completely destroyed by a fire the diocese
should write off the caying value of the structure and record an impairment loss in the year in
which the loss occurs in accordance with FASB Codificatior#B35-3. If the diocese rebuilds the
structure the costs incurred to do so should be capitalized.

Many dioceses purchasproperty in advance for future growth and development. Care should be
taken periodically to review and inventory such properties to determine the future suitability for
needs within the diocese. Property so purchased and held should be carried dueostthaany
necessary adjustment for retirements as required by FASB Codification Subtopi86®58
Consideration of the possibility of property taxes being charged to the diocese should be given to any
unoccupied properties. Despite the tax exempt stattise diocese some towns and municipalities
may charge property taxes on unoccupied properties.

Property acquired by contribution should be carried at fair value at the date of contribution, in
accordance with FASB Codification 9885-25-2. Should thduture use of the property change, the

continuing value of the property should be reviewed. Property held that no longer meets its original
intended use should be written down to the lower of its cost or net realizable value. Likewise,
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facilities that areclosed and no longer serve their intended purpose should be considered for proper
valuation in accordance with FASB Codification Section-868-35 and Section 3600-35.

Net Asset Classification

Fixed assets may represent a significant dollar amouheitotal assets of a dioce3éese assets do

not reflect the same liquidity and values as do other maremtassets.To differentiate the relative

values of net assets held by a diocese, consideration should be given to a separate net asset
classifcation for fixed assets on the balance sheet. Within the category of unrestricted net assets
(what might have been more commonly called "fund balances" in the past), "Net Investment in
Property and Equipment" could be further designated. This furthenglisghes the amount of net

assets that may be less liquid in the financial statement of the diocese.

Not-for-profit organizations may receive contributions of ldivgd assets (such as property and
equipment) or of cash and other assets restricted tputhehase of londjved assets, for which

donors have not expressly stipulated how or for how long thelieed) asset must be used by the
organi zation or how to use any proceeds resul ti
an organizatiormay adopt an accounting policy of implying time restrictions on the use of such
contributed assets that expire over the assets’
policy, the contributions received should be reported as restrictpdrsupat increases temporarily
restricted net assets. Depreciation should be
should be reclassified periodically from temporarily restricted to unrestre$edepreciation is
recognized.

Alternatively, organizations may adopt a policy of not implying time restrictions on contributions of
long-lived assets (or of other assets restricted to the purchase diedgssets) received without

donor stipulations about how long the contribudsdets must be used. If an organization adopts such

a policy, contributions of lontjved assets with no donémposed time restrictions should be

reported as unrestricted support. Contributions of cash and other assets restricted to the acquisition of
long-lived assets should be reported as restricted support that increases temporarily restricted net
assets; those restrictions expire when the-loragl assets are placed in service by the organization.

A diocese should refer to current tax law for guidacmecerning holding periods for donated fixed
assets to assure that the donor 'Adiodese shouldealdou ct i or
refer to its gift acceptance policy with respect to donations oflierd assets.

Oversight of Fixed Assets

Property should be classified as to its use, and management responsibilities should likewise be
classified by use. Property of parishes and schools should be placed under the oversight of the
individuals in charge of such institutions, and the rexjugnts of Canon 1283, 2° and 1283, 3°
should be considered when there is a change in administrators. Canon 1283, 2° and Canon 1283,
3°call for an inventory to be made as administrators begin their function and for a copy of the
inventory to be preserved #te location and for a copy to be sent to the archives of the curia.
Typically, a pastor or principal will be in charge of property maintenance at a related facility.
Recognizing the specialized skills needed to care for fixed assets, #yaglgnon thesupport and
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assistance of committees and volunteers to help maintain, advise, and coordinate these activities.

Careful consideration should be given to the development/improvement of existing real estate for
future needs within the diocese. Improvemeatiand should be considered along with the lergn
nature of these assets and their expectedtemmy use.

A number of procedures should be followed to carefully institute and exercise oversight and
stewardship responsibilities for fixed asset holdinghe first procedure is a complete inventory of
fixed assets. This inventory should include the following:

1 A complete legal description of each real estate parcel and related buildings and
improvements

1 A description of buildings and improvements ocleeeal estate parcel and a

detailed picture or drawing of such

A description of the use of the property

A description of the form of ownership of the property

A description of any mortgages or encumbrances related to the property

An identification ofeach parcel's property manager, if applicable

= =4 =4 =4

Other procedures should be established to provide for the physical safeguard of assets from theft,
vandalism, or unauthorized disposition.

Procedures likewise should be established to provide for the onguamgenance of facilities.
Maintenance should consist of both daily and routine activities, while a plan should be established
for long-term improvements, such as roof replacement and major maintenance. Institutional budgets
should include a capital budgas well as an operational budget. The capital budget should consider
necessary longerm repairs and improvements to the facilities to keep them safe and operational.

Procedures should be established to ensure that adequate insurance is maintaimechize mi
liability with respect to use of facilities. Insurance coverage should be reviewed on an annual basis.
Periodic insurance appraisals should be obtained to ensure that property insurance coverage is
adequate.

Alienation and Acts of Ordinary and Extraordinary Administration

Certain acts relating to temporal goods are more significant than others and require a more elaborate
system of authorization. Th€ode of Canon Lawclearly distinguishes acts aidministraton
(whether ordinary or extraordinary) from actsadienation of property, whereby a juridic person
divests itself of all or part of its stable patrimony.

To place acts of ordinary administration of greater importance, a diocesan bishop, for validity, must
first hear the finance council and college of consultors. A diocesan bishop's acts of extraordinary
administration, as defined by the USCCB, requireyv#idity, the consent of the finance council and
college of consultors. No permissions from outside the diocese are required for acts of ordinary or
extraordinary administration.
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Canon 1277 reads as follows:

The diocesan bishop must hear the finance cdbamd college of consultors to
place acts of administration that are more important in light of the economic
condition of the diocese. In addition to the cases specially expressed in universal
law or the charter of a foundation, however, he needs theenbwof the finance
council and of the college of consultors to place acts of extraordinary
administration. It is for the conference of bishops to define which acts are to be
considered of extraordinary administration.*

To place acts of extraordinary adnstration, as defined in the statutes of public juridic persons other
than the diocese, administrators require, for validity, the consent of the Ordinary (see c. 1281).

Canons 1291 and 1292, 88 1, 2, and 3, deal with the validity of acts of alienateaselk involving
alienation of stable patrimony, permission from the Holy See might be required, depending on the
value of the property to be alienated.

Canon 1291 reads as follows:

The permission of the authority competent according to the norm a$ leeguired

for the valid alienation of goods which constitute by legitimate designation the
stable patrimony of a public juridic person and whose value exceeds the sum
defined by law.

A commentary on alienation reads as follows:

Since alienation is thieansfer of ownership, there is no alienation if no transfer of

ownership takes place. Mortgaging property is not an act of alienation. A mortgage

gives rise to rights in regard to property, and creates the potential of a future loss of

ownership in the\eent of default in payments on the loan for which the mortgage

serves as collateral, but there is no immediate transfer of ownership and, hence, no

alienation. The same is true of assuming a mortgage when purchasing property

which already has a mortgage itriGranting a right of way or an easement to come

across or ot herwi se use one’s l and, since
ownership, is not an act of alienation. (If the easement also includes the right to

remove minerals, timber, or other naturadaerces from the land, then, of course,

the easement would entail alienation of such resources.) Nor is leasing, or granting

an option to purchase one’'s property, or bor
or without collateral, or refusing a gfft.

Canm 1292, § 1, reads as follows:

Without prejudice to the prescript @an. 638, § 3, when the value of the goods
whose alienation is proposed falls within the minimum and maximum amounts to be
defined by the conference of bishops for its own region, thepetent authority is
determined by the statutes of juridic persons if they are not subject to the diocesan
bishop; otherwise, the competent authority is the diocesan bishop with the consent of
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the finance council, the college of consultors and those cweteThe diocesan
bishop himself also needs their consent to alienate the goods of the diocese.

In March 2010, the United States Conference of Catholic Bishops promulgated the proscribed
amounts in accord with canon 1292, 8§ 1:

1. The maximum limit foralienation and any transaction which, according to the norm of law,
can worsen the patrimonial condition is $7,500,000 for dioceses with Catholic populations of
half a million persons or more. For other Dioceses, the maximum limit is $ 3,500,000 (cf.
can.1295).

2. The minimum limit for alienation and any transaction that, according to the norm of law, can
worsen the patrimonial condition is $750,000 for Dioceses with Catholic populations of half

a million persons or more. For other dioceses, the minimuinigr$250,000.

3. For the alienation of property of other public juridic persons subject to the Diocesan Bishop,
the maximum | imit is $5,000, 000 and the mini

. - . . . 1
ordinary annual income, whichever is higher.

Anaccompanying memorandum from the USCCB Preside
modestly lower than those that [were previously] in force. They are also no longer subject to an
annual adjustment according to the Consumer Pri

Therehave beerfurther updatesince December 1, 2014 the proscribed amounts promulgated by
the USCCB for Canon 1292, § 1.Canon 1292 § 2 and § 3 read as follows:

The permission of the Holy See is also required for the valid alienation of goods whose value
exceeds thenaximum amount, goods given to the Church by vow, or goods precious for artistic or
historical reasons. (c. 1292 § 2).

If the asset to be alienated is divisible, the parts already alienated must be mentioned when seeking

permission for the alienationtherwise, the permission is invalid. (c.1292 §C3)nons 1292, § 4;
1293; and 1294 prescribe conditions for the liceity of acts of alienation, as follows:

Those who by advice or consent must take part in alienating goods are not to offer
advice or consent unless they have first been thoroughly informed both of the

economic state of the juridic person whose goods are proposed for alienation and of
previous aknations (c. 1292, 8§ Alf).

The alienation of goods whose value exceeds the defined minimum amount also
requires the following:

1° A just cause, such as urgent necessity, evident advantage, piety, charity, or some
other grave pastoral reason. (c. 1293).8

2° A written appraisal by experts of the asset to be alienated (c. 1293, § 1).
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Other precautions prescribed by legitimate authority are also to be observed to avoid
harm to the Church (c. 1293, §12).

An asset ordinarily must not be alienated doprice less than that indicated in the
appraisal (c. 1294, 8 i).

The money received from the alienation is either to be invested carefully for the
advantage of the Church or to be expended prudently according to the purposes of
the alienation (c. 1294 2).1

As a result of canon 1295, the procedures for alienation must be applied not only to transactions
where the stable patrimony of a public juridic person is alienated, but also to those transactions where
the overall economic condition of a publiciglic person is jeopardized or placed at risk.

The application of canon 1295 is contingent on the level of risk and on the economic condition of the
public juridic person. The canon deals with such matters as the transfer of rights such as easements,
mortgages, liens, and options as well as with incurring debt, including guarantees, surety and gift
annuities, and the making of unsecured loans. The canon encompasses accepting an obligation,
giving up a right, assuming a debt, or being responsible forahiitly of another.

For a greater discussion of alienation and ordinary and extraordinary acts of administration,
suggested reading includdhe New Commentary on the Code of Canon bad theChurch
Finance HandbookKevin E. McKenna, Lawrence A. DiNardand Joseph W. Pokusa; Washington,
D.C.: Canon Law Society of America, 1999).

Leasing
Canon 1297, in part, reads as follows:

Attentive to local circumstances, it is for the conference bishops to establish norms
for the leasing of Church goods, espdgiakgarding permission to be obtained
from the competent ecclesiastical authority (c. 1297).

Effective August 15, 2007, the following USCCB Complimentary Norms for Canon 1297 became
effective:

1) Prior to leasing of ecclesiastical goods owned by aedmcthe diocesan
bishop must hear the finance council and the college of consultors, when the
market value of the goods to be leased exceeds $400,000.

2) Prior to leasing of ecclesiastical goods owned by a diocese, the diocesan
bishop must obtain the csent of the finance council and the college of
consultors when the market value of the property to be leased exceeds
$1,000,000 or the lease is to be for three years or longer.
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3) The valid leasing of ecclesiastical goods owned by a parish or other public
juridic person subject to the governance of the diocesan bishop requires
consent of the diocesan bishop when the market value of the goods to be
leased exceeds $100,000 or the lease is to be for one year or longer.

4) The valid leasing of ecclesiastiogbods owned by a pontifical institute of
consecrated life or society of apostolic life requires, in addition to the consent
of the competent major superior and council, riitel obstatof the diocesan
bishop when the market value of the property to besel@aexceeds
$1,000,000 or the lease is to be for three years or longer.

5) The valid leasing of ecclesiastical goods by any public juridic person requires

the consent of the Holy See when the market value of the goods exceeds
$5,000,000.
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Guidance and Suggestions Concerning Canon 1297

Key Concept- Canon 1297 applies when a diocese, a parish or any other qualifying entity within
the territory of the diocese is the lessor, i.e., they lease their property to another entity.
Accordingly, thisdecree does apply to situations when a diocese, parish or other qualifying entity
enters into a lease transaction whereby they are the lessee.

1. Determination of which entities within the diocese does canon 1297 apply to is important.
9 Parishes and oéhn public juridic persons (norms 1, 2, 3 and 5).

9 Pontifical Institutes of Consecrated Life or Society of Apostolic Life (norm 4).

2. Market value should be established by obtaining a qualified appraisal of the property to be
leased.
Various commentges addressing the implementation of canon 1297 have
suggested that market value can be obtained by (i) obtaining the tax value of
the property adjusted if the tax value is based on a percentage of the actual
market value or, (ii) the depreciated valuetloé property as given in the
latest financial audit. The APC does not recommend these approaches.

Consideration will need to be given for special situations, including:
X Leases may involve only a portion of a facility creatingagon difficulties.

X Leases may include botbal and personal properirtworks, etc.) requiring
additional appraisal experts.

3. Suggested guidance for Diocesan Finance Officers

(a) Implementation of canon 1297 should be done in close collaboration with Judicial
Vicar or Canonist of the diocese.

(b) Create a Ilist of those “qual iUliligngng ent.i
the Official Catholic Directory listingr other sourcesletermine what entities are:

1 Parishes and other public juridic person
1 Pontifical Institutes of Consecrated Life

1 Societies of Apostolic Life

(c) Update the particular norms/laws and/or guidance of the local diocese to address
requirements of canon 1297. While each diocese sets forth its own particular law in
varying mamers (e.g. policy and procedure manuals), such policies include the
parishes and other juridic persons within the territory of each diocese.

(d) Consideration should be given to establishing materiality levels for canon 1297 when
obtaining fair value appraisals. For exan
and what, i f any, are the requirements
<$100000, between $100,05.0M and > $5.0M).
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(e) In addition, each diocese must determine what constitutes a lease. For instance, it is
doubtful that a parish making a facility available for wedding receptions or other
Catholic group meetings falls underoffe norms. In these situations, a license
agreement with proper insurance coverage is most appropriate.

(f) Prepare a Diocesan notification letter to be sent to the administrator of those qualifying
entities to notify them of the required norms of cangf@7land how these norms will
be implemented as particular law of the diocese.

Notes

1 All canon law quotes in this section are taken fromGbde of Canon Lawatin-English
Edition (Washington, D.C.: Canon Law Society of America, 1998).
2 R.T.Kennedy, "Book V: The Temporal Goods of the Church (cc.-13340)," in John P.

Beal, James A. Coriden, and Thomas J. Green, Mda,,Commentary on the Code of Canon
Law (Mahwah, N.J.: Paulist Press, 2000), 1-4934.
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XVII. Records Retention

Introduction

A records management and retention policy is an important component of the administration of each
diocese. Records are important for sacramental purposet)-day management and

administration, when needed for litigation, efficient management of spimcé&ach diocese should
review and comply with the retention requirements applicable to that particular jurisdiction and the
nature of the diocese’s documents.

Many dioceses have developed and implemented such policies after careful thought, amhlysis an
consultation with legal counsel. It is recommended that dioceses that do not have such a policy
consult with those that do, particularly in the same province or state. The formulation of a compliant,
practical policy should be done in collaboration vdtbcesariegal and canonicaounsel, the Vicar
General, CFO, Chancellor and Archivist.

Definition of Records

Records retention policies should include paper records and electronic files, dataaiisl e
Such records would likely be included in the following categories:

Administrative
Personnel
Financial
Legal
Property
Cemetery
Publications
Sacramental

= =4 4 =8 -4 -5 -4 -4

Within each group, records could be categorized into the respective appropriate retention periods.
Records older than the retention period should be destroyed. Those of permanent value should be
stored appropriately.

Confidentialrecords should be made #daale only to diocesan/parish representatives with a
legitimate right to know, unless their disclosure is compelled by some legal action.

A comprehensive records retention policy should include the following:

1. Complete listing of all types of records atheir retention periods.

2. Documentation to be used in storing, including indexing, labelingd@termined
destruction dates, inventorying, etc.

3. Internal controls over retrieval, returns and destruction, along with appropriate
documentation standards.
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4. A process and calendar for updating records into and out of storage and destruction at least
annually.

5. Security over stored records.

6. Training and education of all staff on the entire policy and the actual processes. Particular
attention should be giveto appropriate retention and deletion policies and practices for
emails, recorded voice mails, etc. as electronic media, technology and related state and
federal laws continue to evolve.

7. If an external shredding service is used for the destructiortofde no longer needed, it will
often be prudent for the archivist to bring the documents to the shredding service and to
witness the actual destruction.

A sample policy from a large diocese is included herein for reference purposes. Please cahsult loc
counsel when developing a records retention policy.
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SAMPLE POLICY - Consult with Legal Counsel
Record Management and Retention Policy and Schedule Roman Catholic Diocese of XXXX
[date]

1) Definition of records: The word records
information, documents, letters, maps, books, photographs, films, sound recordings,
tapes (magnetic and otherwise), electronic data processing records, emails sent and
reeived, recorded voice mails, electronic data banks and other documentary material
created, received, maintained or preserved by any department or engiéyeecook
of the Diocese of XXXX in the course of transaction of business or ministry or in pursuit
of its legal obligations.

2) Ownership of records: All records as defined above and created or preserved by a
department, ministry or employee of the Diocese of XXXX in the course of employment
or in the transaction of Diocesan business are solelyrtpepy of the Diocese.

3) Conservation of records: No records shall be removed, destroyed, trasstored,
transferred intmther medianethemediaor otherwise disposed of except in compliance
with Diocesan policies.

4) Retention periods: Retgan periods in this policy are absolute, except when legally
halted by official notice. They are not minimum guidelines. There are no exceptions.

5) Electronic records: Records generated and/or stored electronically, including emails, are
subject to these policies in the same manner as printed documents. Retention decisions
will be based on the content of the electronic record in the same mann@riated
document. As is the case with all records, they must be accessible and retrievable for the
stated retention period.

6) Disposal of Expired Records: Annually, the second week of [month], each department
of the Diocese of XXXX will dispose of reods whose retention time has expired.
Records may be shredded or, if electronic, deleted or destroyed by another approved
method. No exceptions may be made, the retention times are absolute. Arrangements
will be made for commercial shredding. A copy of @ertificate of Destruction will be
executed and signed by the department head. One copy should be sent to Archives and
the other retained by the department.

7) Certification of disposal of expired records: Each year, by [month] 1, every department
headwill submit to the Chancellor a letter testifying to the fact that all expired records
pertaining to his/her department have been destroyed in accordance with the Record
Retention Schedule.

Sample 1 of 10
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8) Off-Site Storage of Inactive Records: Retothat are generally inactive but must be
retained permanently or for a set period of time will be stored off site. Records will be
prepared for storage annually during the second week of [month]. Boxes will be
provided for the records. Each box will bdentified with a label to be provided. A
Certificate of OffSite Storage must be completed in triplicate. One copy should be
placed in the storage box. One copy sent to Archives and one copy retained by the
department.

9) Conversion of Records to Eleatioc Medium: Paper records may be scanned or
otherwise transferred to an electronic medium. When the conversion is complete the
paper records will be destroyed in accordance with 6) above.

10) Administration: Administration of the Record Management aneéiiRetn Program will
be the responsibility of the Chancellor of the Diocese and will be the specific
responsibility of the Diocese of XXXX Archivist, who will publish the exact dates and
confirm conformance to this policy by all departments. The Archivifit submit a
written report of conformance to the Chancellor by [month date] of each year.

11) Changes and implementation: Changes to this policy or the Record Retention Schedule
may be made only with the written approval of the Bishop of XXXX. This paolid
become effective upon approval of the Bishop of XXXX with the first period for record
disposal the [month] following promulgation.

Sample2 of 10
(Continued on next page)
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Record Group Type of Record Time Medium Retained Disposal

The fact that a record is electronic or Email should n
effect its retention. The schedule to be followed shol
be determined by the content of the record. For
example, an Email about finance matters would follo
the schedule for financial records. An
Administrative Records All Departments
Administrative Records (correspondence, memoranda, rules and regulations| etc.

a. Records originating in the organization that do@emaanent Paper/electronic |On site

policy, procedure, rules or regulations

b. Records that document routine activities 2 years Paper/electronic |On site Shred/elec
Abstracts, deeffgoperty Permanent Paper On site
Annual Reports to (Status Animarum) Permanent Paper On site
Articles of Incorporation (of the church corporation, pBesianent Paper On site
Bequest and estate papers Permanent Paper On site
Bi shopb6s Decrees Permanent Paper/electronic |On site
Communications from the Bishop regarding the parishermanent Paper/electronic |On site
Constitution and Bylaws (Diocesan Agencies) Until dissolved Paper On site
Correspondence, legal Permanent Paper/electronic |On site
Correspondence, offigiaper and email) Regarding |Permanent Paper/electronic |On site

directives and/or procedures
Correspondence, routine Biennial review On site Shred/elec
Donor lists Permanent Paper/electronic |On site
Finance Committee Minutes Permanent Paper/electronic |On site
Insurance policies Permanent Paper On site
Inventories of property and equipment Permanent Paper/electronic |On site
Leases Expiration + 7 years Paper On site Shred/elec
Office files, general Biennial review Paper/electronic |On site Shred/elec
Diocesan Pastoral Council constitutions Until superseded Paper/electronic |On site Shred/elec
Diocesan Pastoral Council minutes Permanent Paper/electronic |On site Shred/elec
Policy statements Permanent Paper/electronic |On site

Subject files (Memos, rules, schedules, etc.)

Annual review

Paper/electronic

On site

Wills, testaments, codicils

Permanent

Paper/electronic

On site
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Archives

Parish History Files Permanent Paper On site
Deceased Clergy Files Permanent Paper On site
Photo FilesRriests, parishes, institutions, general) |Permanent Paper/elec On site
Clergy Card Files Permanent Paper On site
Clergy Information Files Permanent

Baptism Record Index files Permanent Paper/elec/micro On site
Official Catholic Directories Permanent Paper On site
Former Bishops's Files Permanent Paper On site
Annuario Pontifiicio Directories Permanent Paper On site
Parsh Boundaries Decrees and maps Permanent Paper/elec On site

Historical mater{@lippings, photos, booklets, etc. rele

diocese and parishes) Permanent Paper/electronic |On site
Diocresan directoi(Ege copies) Permanent Paper/electronic |On site

Publications Diocesan/parish histories Permanent Paper/elec On site
Diocesan/parish anniversary books Permanent Paper/elec On site
Newslettelsliocesan, parish, affiliated organizations)|Permanent Paper/elec On site
Parish directories Permanent Paper/elec On site
Parish bulletins Permanent Paper/elec On site

Bishop's Office

Bishop's calendar One year Paper On Site Archives
General Correspondence Perm Y Fi Paper On Site Archives
HolySee/Nuncio Correspondence Perm Y Fi Paper On Site
Official Diocesan Correspondence Perm Y Fi Paper On Site
USCCB Correspondence Perm Y Fi Paper On Site
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Catholic Schools Office
General Standardized Test Results 10 years Paper On site/school |Shred
Curriculum Standards Until supeceded Paper/elec On Site Shred
Federal Program Allotments 5 years’ Paper/elec On Site Shred
NCEA Reports Permanent Paper On Site 5 yrs archive
AHERA School Management Plans* Permanent Paper On Site/school
Periodic Surveillence Reports * Permanent Paper On Site/school
Abatement documents & manifests * Permanent Paper On Site/school
TCCED School Annual Report for Conntinued Accreditation [Permanent Paper On Site/school
School Self-Study Document Permanent Paper On Site/school
VT Consensus Report/Notification of Status Permanent Paper On Site/school
School Required Actions Permanent Paper On Site/school
Interim Reports Permanent Paper On Site/school
Guide to Quality and Effectiveness Manual Until supeceded+ 5 year®aper/elec On Site/school |Shred
TCCED Health Manual Until superceded Paper/elec On Site/school |Shred
Individual Deficiency Removal Plans/Verification Termination + 5 years |Paper On Site/school |Shred
Education
Personnel Certificates and Licenses * Termination + 5 years |Paper On Site/school |Shred
Employee Service Record including wage & salary * Permanent Paper/elec On Site/school
Official Teacher Service Record * (included above) |Permanent Paper/elec On Site/school
Employment Applications (Potential Hires) * 2 years from receipt Paper/elec On Site Shred/deletg
Official Transcripts * Termination + 5 years |Paper On Site/school |Shred
Employment Contracts * Last Effective date+4 ye@aper On Site/school |Shred
Grievance Records * (not EEOC) 2 years Paper On Site/school |Shred
Training and Educational Attainment Records Termination + 5 years |Paper/elec On Site/school |Shred
Catechetical Services
Catechetical Student Database Death of Student Electronic On site Delete
Contracts with educational institutions 7 years Paper On site Shred
Course evaluation 3 years Paper On site Shred
Diocesan Ministry Day Program Booklet Permanent Paper On site to Archives
Handbooks and Manuals 3 years Paper/elec On site Shred/deletg
Institutes (Christ the Servant and John Paul II) Permanent Paper/elec On site to Archives
Parish Catechetical Profile 5 years Paper On site Shred
Renew/Why Catholic? Training Material 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/deletg
TCC-RE Annual Reports Permanent Electronic On site to Archives
TCC-RE Diocesan Reports 1 year Electronic On site Delete
Religious Education Reffmtsliocesan offices) Permanent Paper/electronic |On site
Sample5 of 10
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Chancellor

Claimant Files Permanent Paper On site
Ordination Records Permanent Paper/elec On site
Settlement Files Permanent Paper On site
Clergy Assignment Letters Permanent YPapari est '|Gnsifei | e
Communications
News Media Clippings Permanent Paper/elec On site
Employee Performance Reviews 3 years Paper On site Shred
Diocesan News Releases 5years Electronic On site Delete
Pastoral Center News Permanent Electronic On site
Clergy Newsletter Permanent Electronic On site
Financial and Accounting
Risk Management |Incident Reports (accidents/injury) 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Employee medical complaints 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Employee medical records 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Environmental test records/reports Permanent Paper/elec On site
Haxzardous exposure records Permanent Paper/elec On site
Toxic Substance explore reports Permanent Paper/elec On site
Workers Compensation Records 12 years Paper/elec On site
Payroll Permanentanent earnings and records Termination + 7 years |Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Attendance records Termination + 7 years |Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Employee contracts Termination + 7 years |Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Employee deduction authorization Termination + 7 years |Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Employee salary schedules Termination + 7 years |Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Labor contracts Termination + 7 years |Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
W-2 years Forms Filing + 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
W-4 years Forms Filing + 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Time Cards Filing + 3 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Time Records Filing + 3 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Banking Bank deposits 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Bank statements 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Cancelled checks 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Check registers/stubs 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Sample6 of 10
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General Audit reports Permanent Paper/elec On site
Balance sheets, annual Permanent Paper/elec On site
Balance sheets, monthly/quarterly 1 year Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Budgets, approved, revised 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Financial reports, annual Permanent Paper/elec On site
Financial reports, monthly 1 year Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Financial statements Permanent Paper/elec On site
Investment/Insuranc¢€ertificates of deposit, cancelled Redemption + 3 years |Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Insurance policies, active Permanent Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Insurance policies, cancelled Permanent Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Mortgage records Permanent Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Letters of credit 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Securities sales 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Stock investment Sale + 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Accounting Accounts payable, invoices 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Accounts payable, ledgers 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Accounts receivable, ledgers 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Credit card statements/charge slips 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Invoices and paid bills, major building construction |Permanent Paper/elec On site
Invoices and paid bills, general accounts 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Cash books 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Cash journals 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Cash journal, receipts on offerings and pledges 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Receipts 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Mortgage payments 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Chart of accounts 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Other records |General ledger, annual Permanent Paper/elec On site
Journals, general and specific funds Permanent Paper/elec On site
Journal entry sheets 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Ledgers, subsidiary 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Payroll journals 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Payroll registessinmary schedule of earnings, deduc
& accrued leave 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Pension records Permanent Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Pledge registers/ledgers 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Permanentanently restricted gift documents Permanent Paper/elec On site
Temporarily restricted gift documents 7 yrs after restrictions  |Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
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Tax Records

Employment tax@ontributions and payments includi

withholding & FICA) file + 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
W-2 years forms file + 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/e/ec
W-4 years forms file + 7 years Paper/elec On site Shred/e/ec
IRS exemption determination Ightigvesr than OCD liste|
organizations) Permanent Paper/elec On site
Form 9 years9 yearsO Permanent Paper/elec On site
IRS exemption determination Igtteosne, excise, propy
sales, use, etc.) Permanent Paper/elec On site

Property Records |Architectural records, blueprints, building designs,
specifications Permanent Papetr/elec On site
Architectural drawings Permanent Paper/elec On site
Deeds files Permanent Paper/elec On site
Mortgage documents Permanent Paper/elec On site
Property appraisals Permanent Paper/elec On site
Real estate surveys/plots, plans Permanent Paper/elec On site
Title search papers and certificates Permanent Paper/elec On site

Cemetery Records |Account car@eecord of lot ownership and payments) | Permanent Paper/elec On site
Annual report Permanent Paper/elec On site
Bank statements 7 years Paper/elec On site
Board minutes Permanent Paper/elec On site
Burialcardsr ecor d of i nterr edfefmartem me, dadpager/efet \Oh &ita | etc.)
Burialrecordgsr ecor d of i nterr e/gdnfaneita me , d|papetlelee f bonsiieal , et c. )
Contracts documenting lot ownership Permanent Paper/elec On site
Correspondence BANR Paper/elec On site
General ledger Permanent Paper/elec On site
Lot maps Permanent Paper/elec On site

Sample8 of 10
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Human Resources

Administrative RecoEeisiployee Policy Manual Permanent Paper/elec On site
Job Descriptions Permanent Paper/elec On site
Organizational Chart Permanent Paper/elec On site
I-9 years Audit Permanent Electronic On site

Personnel Records |[Employee Application Termination + 4 years |Paper On site Shred
Resume Termination + 4 years |Paper On site Shred
Employee Contracts/Offer Letters Termination + 4 years |Paper On site Shred
Salary Information Termination + 4 years |Paper/elec On site Shred
Attendance Reco(dsry, PTO, STD, LTD, FMLA,
Bereavement) Termination + 4 years |Papetr/elec On site Shred
Eligibility Verification Form 1-9 years Termination + 4 years |Paper On site Shred
Performance Reviews Termination + 4 years |Paper On site Shred
Write Ups Termination + 4 years |Paper On site Shred
Promotions/Transfers Termination + 4 years |Paper On site

Benefit Records Open Enrollment Termination + 4 years |Paper On site Shred
New Hire Termination + 4 years |Paper On site Shred
Life Event Termination + 4 years |Paper On site Shred
Cont. of Benefits Termination + 4 years |Paper On site Shred
Term of Benefits Termination + 4 years |Paper On site Shred
Disability Records STD/LTD Termination + 4 years |Paper/elec On site Shred
FMLA Termination + 4 years |Paper On site Shred
403B Retirement Plan Termination + 4 years |Paper On site Shred
Life Insurance Policies Termination + 4 years |Electronic On site Shred
Benefit Plan Description Rollout + 4 years Electronic On site Del;ete
Benefit Plan Annual Reports 6 years Electronic On site Delete
Personnel File Termination + 4 years |Paper On site Shred
Rejected Applications/Resumes 1 year Paper On site Shred

Pastoral Planning
Ad Limina Reports (Quinquennial Report) Permanent Paper On site 10 yeargo Archives
Annual Vatican Report Permanent Paper On site 10 yeargo Archives
Official Catholic Directory Report Permanent Paper On site 10 yeargo Archives
May and October Mass Counts Permanent Paper On site 10 yeargo Archives
Census records (parish) Permanent Paper/electronic |On site 10 yeargo Archives
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Safe Environment

Application Termination + 7 years |Paper On site Shred/elec
Screening Form Termination + 7 years |Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Interviews Termination + 7 years |Paper On site Shred/elec
References Termination + 7 years |Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Criminal Background Check Termination + 7 years |Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Training Records Termination + 7 years |Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Policy Acknowledgement Termination + 7 years |Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Computer/Internet Policy Termination + 7 years |Paper/elec On site Shred/elec
Newspaper
Newspaper back Issues Permanent Paper/elec On site
Other newspaper back issues Permanent Paper On site
Photos Permanent Paper/elec On site ten yeafArchives
Photos Permanent Paper/elec On site ten yearArchives
Subscription Database Permanent Paper/elec On site
Subscription Database Permanent Paper/elec On site
Website Permanent Electronic On site
Freelancer Information Permanent Electronic On site
Advertising Contracts Permanent Paper/elec On site
General Information Files Permanent Paper On site
Tribunal
Prenuptial Files 6 years paper/then electi®ajger/elec On site
Nullity File Decisions Permanent Paper On site
Nullity File Acta (other than decisions) Permanent Paper
Vicar for Clergy
Priests' Personnel Files Permanent Paper On site Archives on
death
Deacons' Personnel Files Permanent Paper On site Archives on
death
Clergy Rescript Files Permanent Paper On site
Youth Ministry
Waiver of liability forms 7 years Paper On site Shred
Medical release forms 7 years Paper On site Shred
Code of Conduct forms 7 years Paper On site Shred
Incident report forms 7 years after resolution |Paper On site Shred

SamplelOof 10
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XVIII. Group Programs

Most dioceses and their affiliated entities establish group programs to administer financial activities
of common interest and need. These activities have also been referré®éovice Funds The two

most common examples aienefit Plans and Propetfyiability/Casualty Insurance Plans that
include all of the affiliated ministry entities of the diocese and their employees. These Programs are
usually administered by or at the Central Administrative Offices of the diocese.

The following are general matts that must be considered in administering the financial activities of
the Programs:

T

T

Legal Structure of the ProgramPrograms operate within the legal structure of the diocese

or throughseparate corporations, trusts or other legal entdsablishedo manage the
activities of the Programs.

The Governing Body of the Prograneparate governing bodies for these Prograrag be
establishedvith varying degrees of accountability to the Ordinary, in accordance with Canon
Law.

Federal, State and Loc#&egulation— Federal, State and Local laws and regulations
applicable to these Programs must be considered. Legal Counsel should be consulted in these
matters.

The following are major financial administration matters pertinent to these Programs:

T
T

ThesePr ograms should be accounted for as sepa
Profit accounting principles, distinct from the other operating activities of the diocese.
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States (GAAP) should beddllo

in accounting for and reporting on the activities of these Programs. Generally accepted
industry accounting and reporting standards (i.e., Insurance industry) should also be
considered.

The form and content of Program financial reports prepared ordexece with GAAP must

take into consideration the scope of the entity for which financial statements are being
prepared.

The main sourceof revenue to these Programs shouldcbetributions angremiums paid

by thepatrticipatingentities Similarly the benefits, claims or other expenses of the Programs
should be on behalf of or for benefit of the same entities.

The financial activities of these Programs are reported as Unrestricted activities. In individual
financial reports prepared in accordance ViAAP, the Net Assets of the Programs could

be reported as Unrestricted. When these Pro
Consolidated reports of a larger entity, the Net Assets of the Program should be reported as
Unrestricted, Designated funds.

As with all designated funds, the Governing Body of the Program may change its Net Asset
Designations from tim#o-time based upon the financial needs and plans of the Program.
With insurance funds, an example would be the need to carry sufficient se$erveelf

insured claims (a liability).
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1 Effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2014, ASUB)iRjuires a recipient not
for-profit entity to recognize all services received form personnel affdiate that directly
benefit the recipient ndbr-profit entity. Those services should be measured at the cost
recognized by the affiliate for the personnel providing those services. Under certain
circumstances, these provisions may apply to GroagrBéms.
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XIX. School Tuition vs. Donation

Payments made to a parish by parents of children enrolled in a Catholic school may qualify as
deductible contributions if they are gifisg., if they are voluntary transfers of funds made with no
expectation ofobtaining commensurate benefit. Specifically, enrollment in the school must in no
manner be contingent on making the payment; the payment must not be made pursuant,to a plan
whether express or implietb convert nondeductible tuition into charitable edmitions; and the

receipt of the benefischooling or reduced tuition paymentsust not otherwise be dependent upon
suchpayment.

Rev. Rul. 83104, 19832 C.B. 46, cites the following factors as creating a presumption that a
payment is NOT a charitabé®ntribution:

1. The existence of a contraexpress or impliedvhereby a taxpayer (i.e., parents,
etc.) agrees to make a contribution and which insures school admission for the

taxpayer ‘s chil d;
2. A plan allowing taxpayers either to pay tuition or make contributions in exchange for
schooling;

3. The earmarking of contributions for the direct benefit of a particular individual; or
4. The otherwise unexplained denial of admission/readmission afrehibf taxpayers
who are financially able but who do not contribute.

Additional adverse factors include:

o

The absence of a significant tuition charge;

6. Substantial or unusual (different from that applied to-parents) pressure applied to
parens of children attending school;

Contribution appeals made as part of the admissions or enrollment process;

8. The absence of significant school revenue sources other than parent contributions;
and

9. Other factors suggesting a contribution policyateel as a means of avoiding
characterization of payments as tuition.

™~

Situation 6 of Rev. Rul. 8304 sanctions differential tuition for parishioners and-parishioners in

certain limited circumstancess follows This is a case in which there is natitun to the parish

school for parishioners, but nqarishioners are charged tuitiomhe parish receixgecontributions

from all its members. These contributions are available to support all parish activities, a substantial
portion of which are unrelatetb the school. The parish has full control over the use of the
contributions it receives. Most parish members do not have children in the school. The methods of
soliciting contributions from parishioners with children in the school are the same as hoelsnait
soliciting members without children in the school. In this situation, IRS concluded that the
contributions made by parishioners with children in the school are ordinarily deductible, unless there
is a showingthat @ntributions by parishioners witbhildren in the school are significantly larger
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than those of other parishioners. The IRS has indicated in other rulings that it will compare parental
giving levels to nosparental giving levels in evaluating deductibility of payments.

Any attempt tdink school enrollment or tuition reductions/benefits to parish contribsibofevel of
parish contributios jeopardizes the deductibility of contributions by parishioners who benefit from
such practices. Various labels given to parish contributmgs,sacrificial giving, tithing, negotiated
tuition, stewardship, minimum giving, etc., are not determinative of deductibility. Further, parishes
cannot qualify under Situation 6 by defining parish membeyshiptherwise qualifying for reduced

or no tuiton, according to level of contribution. All such practices undercut parish claims that parish
contributions are gifts, th&ne qua normf charitable deductibility.

Factors which may be considered in determining eligibility for tuition reductions/benefits
include:
1 Being baptized as a Catholic,
1 Being registered in the parish, and
1 Attending Mass regularly.
Additionally, consideration may al so be given
the parish. It is important for the parish to clearly communicate the determinative factors to
parents of children attending Catholic schools.
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XX. National Special Collections

Canon Law
Canon 1266 of the revis€&lbde of Canon Lawstates:

In all churches and oratories which are, in fact, habitually open to the Christian
faithful, including those which belong to religious institutes, the local ordinary can
orde the taking up of a special collection for specific parochial, diocesan, national,
or universal projects; this collection must be diligently sent afterwards to the

diocesan curia.
TheNew Commentary on the Code of Canon kaplains this further:

The wollection must be for a specific, not indeterminate, undertaking, but it need
not be diocesan; it can be parochial (i.e., aid to a poor or struggling parish) or
national or international. Nor does the undertaking or project which is the object of
a mandate collection have to rise to the level of a need or necessity, as in the case
of a tax (see canon 1263), suggesting that the motivating causes for collections can
be less urgent than those for taxes.

The final clause in Canon 1266 requires that the pdseta mandated collection be sent diligently
(sedulg to the diocesan curia. The import of the adverb is twofold: that the proceeds are sent without
delay and in their entiretyAll proceeds should be remittedthin five (5) monthsof the collection

date Unless contributors have been so informed in advance, no part of the proceeds may be withheld
at the parish or any other level; not to turn over the entirety of the collection immediately is to violate
the intentions of the donars In addition, as such withholding becomes knowit, seriously

compromises the perceived integrity of furaising in the Church.
Collections
The United States Conference of Catholic Bishops administers eight national collections:

Church in Latin America

Catholic Relief Services (formerly the Amer
Catholic Communication Campaign

Retirement Fund for Religious

Catholic Campaign for Human Development

Aid to the Church in Central and Eastern Europe

Catholic Home Missions Appé

Church in Africa

=4 =8 -4 -8 -4 -8 -4 -2
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Other collections include the following:

Black and Indian Missions

The Catholic University of America

Good Friday Collection for the Holy Land

Operation Rice Bowl

Peter’s Pence (Charities of the Holy Father)
World Mission Sundy

=A =4 -4 -8 -4 -9

Accounting Treatment

Special collections are freeill offerings of the faithful with no mandatory quota placed on a parish

or a diocese. To do so would transform a collection into a tax (canon 1263). A tax would be revenue
and accounted for accordiggParagraph 3, canon 1267, states, "Offerings given by the faithful for a
certain purpose can be applied only for that same purpose.”

Accounting for speci al collections is primari/|
Codification Topic #958— Not for Profit Entities and, its related stdpic 605 — Revenue
Recognition.

Special collection proceeds that are not retained by a diocese should be accounted for as an agency
transaction (liability) by the diocese, unless the diotesebeen grantedelpower by the donors to
determine the beneficiarieq. “ vari ance power ") . To the extent
portion should be accounted for as temporarily restricted revenueearmbrarily restrictechet

asses until the funds are remitteid the beneficiaries chosen by the diocese.

Where donors have been so informed, portions of certain collections are permitted to be retained by a
diocese and used by the diocese. Those funds are classified as a temporarily restricted revenue and
net asseuntil they are used for the same intent as a portion transmitted nationally or internationally.
The donor provided the offering for a particular purpose; therefore, there is a donor restriction on the
retained portion, causing the revenue to be temprastricted.

Notes

"Code of Canon Law: LatiEnglish Edition, New English TranslatigWashington, D.C.: Canon
Law Society of America, 1999).

‘R.T. Kennedy, "Book V: The Temporal Goods of the Church (cc.-13390)," in John P. Beal,

James A. Coriden, and Thomas J. Green, bidsv, Commentary on the Code of Canon Law
(Mahwah, N.J.: Paulist Press, 2000), 1-48%9
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XXI. Parish Financial Management

There are more than 19,000 parishes in the United States with a vast amount of Church assets that are
entrusted to them. Strong systems of internal controls are needed to reduce the risk of fraud, misuse,
waste or embezzlement. An effective internaltoanenvironment consists of written policies that

are communicated regularly, welbcumented procedures that are operating effectively, proper and
frequent training of personnel, and effective monitoring of systems and procedures, with appropriate
feedb@k. The existence and effectiveness of parish internal controls should be evaluated
periodically.

Each diocese should consider implementing the financial management practices outlined herein to
enhance its internal control environmehhe Committee on Biget and Finance of the USCCB has
endorsed these recommendatioftsese recommendations are designed to improve existing diocesan
policies and procedures relative to financial management at the parish level and, therefore, should be
viewed in the context of enhancements to, and/ordubling of, existing efforts.

In the foreword tdiocesan Internal Contro)Jsvhich was created by the United States Conference of
Catholic Bishops’ Accounting Practices Committ e
Budget and Finance in 1995, Archbishop Murphy, iiesasurer, notes hat “ Canon 1284 s
all administrators are to perform their duties with the diligence of a good househu\iide the

parish pastor/administrator is the administrator of the parish and its property, it is the responsibility

of the diocesan bisip "to exercise careful vigilance over the administration of all the goods which

belong to the public juridic persons subject to him, without prejudice to legitimate titles which
attribute more significant rights to him" (c. 1276 § 1). Furthermore, theedan bishop is "to take

care of the ordering of the entire matter of the administration of ecclesiastical goods by issuing
special instructions within the limits of universal and particular law" (c. 1276 8§ Phe executive

sumnary of that document pats out:* Al t hough the bishop wil.l not
details of the internal control system, he is the only person who has the power to ensure that each
area of a diocese carries out its responsibility for the system. The proper tone seisitiibe top of

the organization, and for a diocese, that 1is th
the bishop for compliance with all diocesan policies in each area of the diocese, and each of the
following recommendations are madéhin that overarching mindset.

1. A properly functioning parish finance council is integral to good parish financial management, is
required by canon lac. 537) and a key element of a parish internal control system. To that
end, and similar to the WZCB resolution entitlediocesan Financial Reportingeach parish
should send a letter to the diocesan bishop annually containing:

a. The names and professional titles of the members of the parish finance council

b. The dates on which the parish finance columas met during the preceding fiscal year
and since the end of the fiscal year

c. The date(s) on which the approved (i.e. by the parish finance council) parish financial
statements/budgets were made available to the parishioners during the precediygdiscal
and since the end of the fiscal year. A copy of said published financial statements/budgets
should be provided to the bishop.
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d. A statement signed by the parish pastor and the finance council members that they have met,
developed, and discussed flr@ancial statements and budget of the parish

2. Thorough diocesan training should be provided by the diocese to parish finance council
members relative to their roles and responsibilities.

3. Diocesan policies addressing conflicts of interest, protection of whistleblowers, and fraud
(including prosecution in all cases) should be regularly communicated by the diocese to all parishes.

4. All parishes should complete an annual internal contrestjonnaire, and a proper review and
follow-up be made by qualified diocesan personnel.

5. Parish financial manuals should be developed by dioceses, containing best practices, similar to
Diocesan Financial Issueshich has been developed for dioceses.

6. Financial training should be integrated into current seminarian programs such that students will
be better prepared to handle these eventualities.

The following tools have been developed to assist dioceses in implementing the above
recommendations:

A. Sampleparishr eporting form to be used for certifica
activities Sample A

B. Sample agenda for parish finance council trainBanipleB)

C. An example of parish finance council guidelines. This document reprekergsitelines
promulgated by the Archdiocese of Chicago and is provided solely as an ex&apipld ¢

D. Sample parish internal control questionnaBartiple D).
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Sample A
Page 1 of 2

Sample A: Parish Reporting Form
Parish Letterhead
Dear (ArchBishop:

Enclosed are the financial statements that were made available to parishioners for the fiscal period
ended . Please accept this statement as the annual certification concerning
financial management of the parish for the curresgfiperiod. This is to certify to the following:

1. that the annual budget was made available to parishioners on (date);

2. that periodic financial statements (including, but not limited to a Statement of Financial Position
and Statement of Ailities) were made available to parishioners, as follows:

Date of financial statements Date Issued to Parishioners

=A = =2 =4

1.

3. that the finance council regularly reviews and discusses the budget and periodic financial
statements. Meetings of the finance council during the above period, anthsirecel of the period,
were held on the following dates:

T

T
T
T
T
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Page 2 of 2

The above is hereby attested to by the Pastor and the members of the Parish Finance Council:

Printed Name Occupation Signature

Insert (Arch)diocesaspecific requirements for certification here.

Sincerely yours,

Pastor

cc: Diocesan Chief Financial Officer
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Page 1 of 2

Sample B: Parish Finance Council Training

Introduction

The Parish Finance Coundihe "Council”)is integral to good parish financial management. The
Council is a consultative body that assists the pastor in the financial administration of the parish.
Canon law mandates that all parishes have a Finance Council:

In each parish there is to be a finamaeincil which is governed, in
addition to universal law, by norms issued by the diocesan bishop and
in which the Christian faithful, selected according to these same
norms, are to assist the pastor in the administration of the goods of the
parish, withouprejudice to the prescript of canon

532. (¢ 537).

To be effective, the Parish Finance Council should meet regularly (no less than quarterly) with
specific agendas and should have access to all relevant financial information of the parish. The
Council should consist of no less than three members who are chosen based on demonstrable
skills or expertise in management, finance and accounting.

The Parish Finance Councdssists witthe financial management of the parish. Major
responsibilities of the Path Finance Council include input to, and review of the parish annual
budget and periodic financial statements; review of internal controls and procedures; and planning
for the temporal needs of the parish.

Each diocese should consider developing a Parish Finance Council charter containing guidelines
for the proper functioning of the Council, an example of which is attached. In addition, each
diocese should consider providing periodic training for ParishnEma&ouncil members relative

to their roles and responsibilities.

Agenda:

1. Review of the Parish Finance Council charter: roles & responsibilities (see sample provided),
addressing-
1 Consultative nature of the council
Recommended areas for consultation

1 Membership
a. Representation and background

=

b. Number of members
c. Officers
d. Conflicts of interest
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e. Role of parish employees

f. Terms
1 Meeting protocol
g. Scheduling meetings

h. Agendas
i. Minutes
J. Confidentiality

k. Record retention
1 Subcommittees

1 Relationship to other parish groups/councils
1  Checklist of major activities

2. Financial interrelationship between the Parish Finance Council and the (Arch)diocesan
Central Administrative Office:

Review and discussion of

1 Services provided by the Central Office

1 Assessments

1 (Arch)diocesan/Special collections
3. (Arch)diocesaiissued financial polices & guidelines for parishes
Review and discussion of

1 Financial reporting requirements of the diocese
1  Clergy remuneration policy
1 Other significant policies

4. Internal control considerations
1 (Arch)diocesan internal control questionnaire (see sample provided)

5. Notfor-profit accounting
1  Restricted vs. nrestricted donations
1 Reporting for programs

6. Legal and regulatory compliance issues
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Sample C: Parish Finance Council Guidelines
(Printed with the permission of the Archdiocese of Chidagersion as of August 9, 2003ee
website)

This document is intended as an overview of the responsibilities and roles of Parish Finance
Councils as defined by Canon Law and best practices of padismistration. An active and well

formed Parish Finance Council is an important and necessary support to the parish administrator in
fulfilling his duty of being a good steward of parish resources. A Parish Finance Council supports
the good management af parish and helps there be accountability to the diocese and to the
parishioners. Each individual diocese is encouraged to review this document and the best practices
contained herein and modify the document to conform it to the specific norms andlaalae of

that diocese.

Table of Contents

l. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

1. CONSULTATIVE BODY TO PASTOR

1. MEMBERSHIP

IV. MEETING PROTOCOLS

V. SUBCOMMITTEES

VI. RELATIONSHIP TO PASTORAL COUNCIL

VIl. RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER PARISH GROUPS/ COUNCILS
VIll. A CHECKLIST OF MAJOR ACTIVITIES

Appendix A. ReferencesCanons 1281288

Appendix B. RESOURCES and REFERENCE INFORMATION
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I. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Parish Finance Councils assist the pastor in the administration of parish temporal matters.
These guidelines are designed to aid Pastors and Finance Council members in the effective
functioning of a Parish Finance Council by supporting the pastor inegvisstship of parish
resources while being accountable to the parish and the diocesan bishop. An active, well
formed Parish Finance Council is a key element for promoting the financial health of a
parish, assuring accountability and assisting the pastbrhigttemporal responsibilities.

In the administration of temporal goods of the parish, Canon 532 defines the role of the
pastor as the authoritative representative of the parish. Canon 532 says,
“The pastor represent sinacbhoed wphaheinagnm i n al |
of law; he is to see to it that the goods of the parish are administered in accord
with the norms of canons 12412 8'8 . ”
Canon 537 introduces the Parish Finance Council maraated body having an advisory
and consultative role Wi the pastor. Canon 537 says,
‘“Each parish is to have a finance counci l
well as by norms issued by the diocesan bishop; in this council the Christian
faithful, selected according to the same norms, aid the pastotha
administration of parish goods with due regard for the prescription of canon
532."7

Every parish therefore is required to have a Parish Finance Council, both by adherence to the
Code of Canon Law and by local norms issued by the diocesan bishbe. &ftective the

Parish Finance Council should meet regularly with specific agendas and should have access
to all the relevant financial information and policies of the parish.

What follows is an outline of suggested ways to organize and operate a Faasice
Council. Each diocese may also establish particular norms that more specifically define how
a Parish Finance Council is expected to operate. Additionally, depending on the legal
structure of a parish (either canonically or civilly), its corporatatutes may define
additional roles and responsibilities for the Parish Finance Council.

II. CONSULTATIVE BODY TO PASTOR

The Finance Council works closely with the pastor, who is accountable to the diocesan
bishop for the administration and stewards#fithe temporal goods of the parish. The pastor,
according to Canon Law, has among his responsibilities, the responsibility for parish
financial and temporal management. The Parish Finance Council is a consultative body that
assists the pastor in meetingese obligations. While the Parish Finance Council does not
have decision making authority, consultation is at the heart of the demisking process

sharing information, listening, contributing to the discussion, and promoting cussen

1
Note: the @l texts of Canons 1281288 may be found in Appendix A to this document.
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Canon law states that the pastor is obligated to consult the Finance Council on certain matters.
Although the pastor is not obliged to follow the recommendations of the Finance Council, the pastor
should not act against such advice, especially when the@nsensus, unless there is an overriding
reason. In other words, the prudent pastor would not ignore the advice of the Finance Council unless
there was a serious reason to do so. When acting contrary to its recommendations the pastor should
provide an gplanation to the Finance Council regarding the reasons for his decision.

In order to be effective in their responsibilities as members of the Parish Finance Council, members
should have a love for the Church and its mission and develop a thorough understanding of the
parish’s mi ssi on, goal s, p earspsharld Rawvedknowleédyeeaf res.
di ocesan statutes and policies regarding tempor
responsibility to give the members appropriate background and enrichment so they are able to carry

out their duties.

Recommended Areas for Finance Council Consultation:

1. The advice of the Finance Council should be sought both for acts of ordinary administration and
acts of extraordinary administration. However, the degree of consultation varies. For certain actions

of day-to-day administration, the pastor does not need any specific authorization to carry out such
acts, but may find it helpful to seek the advice of the Parish Finance Council even in these matters.
(For example, while the purchase of ordinary amounts of ofe s uppl i es is with
authority, the Finance Council may provide useful advice on strategies that reduce the cost of such
recurring purchases.)

2. Diocesan norms require the pastor to consult with the Parish Finance Council at some level of
financial commitment. For example, in the Archdiocese of Chicago the pastor must consult with the
Parish Finance Council regarding any commitment of parish resources over $10,000. In some other
dioceses, this threshold is tied to the level of parish incémnexample, any commitment more than

1% of parish revenue requires consultation with the Parish Finance Council.

3. A parish will also need to seek written approval of the diocesan bishop prior to performing
extraordinary acts of administration (c. 12B). Extraordinary acts of administration are defined by
local norms and sometimes by the particular statutes of the parish. Extraordinary acts taken without
such approval of the diocesan bishop are invalid acts and may also be invalid from a civil law
standpoint. Examples of actions that some dioceses consider to be extraordinary acts of
administration include: instances where the expenditure is greater than $20,000 (or such amount as
determined in a particular diocese) and involves a contract (employroenstruction/repair,
equipment, consulting, or services such as landscaping or cleaning), the acquisition or alienation of
real property, the entering of a lease, the collateralization or mortgaging of real property, the sale of
religious artifacts thawoul d be considered as part of a par
windows) and other matters. In the case of acts of extraordinary administration, the pastor must
consult with his Finance Council prior to seeking approval of the diocesan bishop.

4. The advice of the Finance Council should be sought in the management of parish funds and
banking arrangements. A limited number of bank accounts should be established and procedures for
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approving new accounts should be in placee Fimance Council should approve a new bank
account before it is opened. This also applies to bank accounts for auxiliary groups.

5. The Finance Council should review the parish annual budget and parish annual report. They
should ordinarily be involvedh the preparation of both reports, particularly the budget report. After
review, the chairperson of the Finance Council is tsiga each report before it is submitted to the
diocesan bishop.

6. Annually, along with the parish annual report, eaclspasi required to send a letter to the
diocesan bishop containing:

a. The names and professional titles of the members of the Parish Finance Council.

b. The dates on which the Parish Finance Council met duringstfa year for which the report
was prepared, along with the dates of all meetings since fiscal year end.

c. The date(s) on which the approved (i.e. by the Parish Financeij@arish financial
statements/budgets were made available to parishioners during the preceding fiscal year an
since the end of the fiscal year. A copy of said published financial statements/budgets should
be provided to the bishop.

d. A statement signed by the pastor or parish administrator and the Parish Finance Council
members that they have met, develgmedl discussed the financial statements and budget of
the parish.

7. The Finance Council should provide assistance in the formulation and communication of the
Annual Financial Report to the parish community, as required by Canon 1287.2. The Annual
Finarcial Report to the parish community often includes more than just financial information (e.g.
description of key issues, programs and events, statistics related to church attendance, sacraments,
school and religious education enrollment, etcAdditionaly, many parishes find it helpful to

provide parishioners with serain n u a | or even quarterly wupdates o
Understandable, regular and complete communication to parishioners is a key responsibility of the
parish administratoand an important area for the Parish Finance Council to assist. Communication
keeps parishioners informed of the parish’s «coc
previously announced initiatives.

8. The Finance Council should review anyahtedness of the parish and assist the pastor in
fulfilling his obligations under canon 1284. 5,
due and take care that the capital debt i tself
should be an integral part of the budget process. In some cases local norms require the Finance
Council chairperson to esign, with the pastor, any parish loan to acknowledge that the loan has

been discussed with the Finance Council.

9. Regularly review peodic (at least quarterly) financial reportdalance sheet, income statements,
comparisons to budget as well as prior year results and cash flow analysis.

10. Detail of budget to actual comparisons should be reviewed by individual program category, suc
as the elementary school and religious education. Significant variances from budgeted figures should
be investigated and explained
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11.Review of internal control and procedures

a. If written procedures do not exist, participate in the development of written procedures
for cash receipts, cash disbursements, administration of bank accounts, petty cash, and
payroll.

b. Review the financial reports for parish general operations, pacishol(s) and other
parish organizationsor programs with bank accounts or revenue
collection responsibilitiedp determine that proper accounting practices and internal
control procedures are in place.

c. Alternatively, after consultation with éhdiocesan finance office, the parish may engage
a CPA firm to perform an audit.

12. Review the activities of any parish auxiliary groups and verify cash balances of bank accounts.
Annually meet with auxiliary groups to review
the budget for the coming year. Assess the accountirgigea and internal control procedures in

use to insure compliance with diocesan policies. Review the activities of the auxiliary groups to
assure that they are not jeopardizing theebeampt status of the parish.

13. Consult on the construction or reaten of parish facilities, the sale or purchase of parish
property, and lease agreements. The Finance Council assists the pastor in planning for repair,
replacement, or service of property and equipment to ensure that the parish buildings and property
areadequately maintained. Review maintenance and utility costs seeking to minimize costs through
preventative maintenance, energy conservation, and the implementation of risk management
programs and recommendations.

14. Assess effectiveness of existing faraising programs and recommend new programs or changes
to existing programs if revenues are insufficient. Support parish and diocesan stewardship programs.

15. Review of fundraising activities, such as raffles, bingo, and concession sales for acaafisition
required licenses, support documentation for tax filings, and actual tax filings.

16. Provide advice on matters requiring proxies by the parish civil corporation when it is
incorporated separately.

17. Become knowledgeable on diocesan fiscal polié@sl norms to provide advice on
implementation. Evaluate compliance with diocesan fiscal policies and assist the pastor in meeting
these obligations.

18. Provide advice on what the parish needs to do to comply with diocesan policies and USCCB
recommendatins with respect to conflicts of interest, protection of whistleblowers and fraud
detection, reporting and prevention.

19. Provide advice on how to use undesignated bequests or other unbudgeted revenue.

20. Provide advice on hiring and evaluating a bessnmanager or anyone providing business
services to the parish. Provide advice on training that might be helpful for parish staff.
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21. Where possible, help the pastor establish and manage a parish endowment program. Particularly,
help insure that the purpose of the endowment is-agefihed considering the lotgrm needs and

life of the parish and that any restricted gifts are first reviewed to assure that the padsbegirthe
restriction and, once accepted, that the funds srent consistent with the donor restriction(s).
Similarly, provide advice and oversight if an endowment already exists.

I11. MEMBERSHIP

The Parish Finance Council is about the life of a community of faith and, as such, its members
should be memberd that community of faith. As in other matters, the Pastor may use his discretion
in the selection of qualified members from the parish community.

1. Representation
a. Members should be drawn from the parish community and reflect its diversity. This
requirement may be waived if special expertise is sought. Where appropriate, outside advice
and counsel can also be engaged to obtain needed specific expertise.

b. Members of the Parish Finance Council should be chosen based on demonstrable skills or
expertise in management and/or finance. Skill sets to consider include business, law,
accounting, and communications. Additionally, persons with professional knowledge a
experience in engineering, construction, maintenance, and purchasing could also make a
significant contribution and should be recruited when available. Expertise can vary widely
and include a business executive, accountant, lawyer, and small business (awy
business, even a small neighborhood business). The unique talents within the parish
community should be sought. A parish Time, Talent, and Treasure survey may be helpful in
identifying parishioners having the desired skills and willingness t@serv

2. Number of Members
a. Membership should consist of no less than three members.

b. A quorum shall consist of the majority of members.
c. It is recommended that the Parish Finance Council have an odd number of members and
that, except for unusualrcumstances, membership be capped at ho more than nine voting

members.
d. It may be helpful to form subcommittees.
3. Officers

a. The officers of the Parish Finance Council shall be a Chairperson and a Secretary.

b. The pastor shall appoint the &lperson after the members have gone through a period of
discernment.

c. The Chairperson will preside in a parliamentary manner at all meetings and, in consultation
with the Pastor or Parochial Administrator, will be responsible for selecting the hdur a
location of meetings, preparing the meeting agenda, and any other duties so assigned by the
Pastor or Parochial Administrator.

d. The Secretary will be responsible for the recording and distribution of minutes, notifying
members of upcoming meetinggai nt ai ni ng a per manetenurer ec or
and of business conducted by the Parish Finance Council, and any other duties so assigned
by the Chairperson.
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4. Conflicts of Interest / Preclusion to Membership
a. Parish Finance Council members owe the parish a duty of loyalty. The duty of loyalty
requires a Parish Finance Council member to act in theegttef the parish rather than
in the personal interest of the member or some other person or organizegpartidular,
the duty of loyalty requires a Parish Finance Council member to avoid conflicts of
interest that are detrimental to the parish.
b. Any person who may have a conflict of interest in view of other services, eithepipaid
unpaid, renderedtohe pari sh by the Parish Finance Co

or the member’s business is ineligible to s
c. On an annual basis the Parish Finance Council members should disclose in writing any
knownf i nanci al interest that the individual,

any business entity that transacts business with the parish.

d. No parish employee or member of the family of an employee or relative of the pastor
may serve on thitnance council.

e. Members of the Parish Finance Council may serve in other volunteer service roles in the
parish such as other committees or boards if, in the judgment of the pastor, such dual
service will not create conflict of interest situasoi he role of the Parish Finance
Council should not be vitiated.

f.  Itis recommended that no member should serve on the Parish Finance Council at the
same time as a closely related person (e.g. husband and wife, mother and son).

5. Role of Parish Employee

Parish employees are not members of the Parish Finance Council; they are staff and support the
Parish Finance Council. Parish employees should be available to answer questions regarding parish
programs, accounting, financial reporting, and intecitrols. The Finance Council should be
provided relevant and timely information including financial reports (balance sheet, income
statement, budget to actual comparisons, loan balance payments and interest payments, investment of
surplus funds, and steg of fundraising drives) to review.

The parish Business Manager should attend meetings in a consultativeptimgn capacity.
Likewise, when parish buildings and grounds are to be discussed, inviting staff responsible for these
areas can enhance theatission.

6. Acknowledgement of Members
Acknowl edge member s’ contributions to the Finan
minutes, in the bulletin and in other appropriate ways.

7. Terms
a. Members are to be appointed by the pastor for fixed terms to be determined at the local
l evel, and may be reappointed or terminated
discretion. It is suggested that reappointments are limited to a specifid jpé time. It
may be helpful to stagger the terms so that there is continuity of service and no disruption
to the function of the Finance Council. For example, a parish may adopt a term of three
years, renewable once.
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b. When apastorate becomes vacant, it is recommended that the Parish Finance Council
remain in place to assist the administrator and to provide continuity in a transition. After a
suitable period of transition with a new pastor, the new pastor can ask the coeimtiers
if they are willing to complete their respective terms or whether he would like some or all
of the members to resign so that new members can be recruited to the Parish Finance
Council.

IV. MEETING PROTOCOLS

In striving for openness and accounlk@pin its practices, meeting minutes summarizing the items
discussed and the decisions reached should be recorded. Prepared agendas, distributed in advance,
will keep meetings focused.

Plan meetings in advance and create an annual schedule ofgnaetés and times. This will
increase participation by members.

1. Schedule Meetings

Schedule meeting times at least once a quarter, or more frequently if required. Some parishes use a
format of the finance council meeting every other month with subctisesimeeting during the off
months. Meeting times and dates should be predictable, such as a day and week of each month. Since
the purpose of the Parish Finance Council is to provide advice and support to the pastor, the pastor
should be present at therBa Finance Council meetings.

Formulate a communication method among officers to deal with Parish Finance Council matters
between meetings.

2. Use of Agendas and Review Materials

Meeting agendas should be prepared in advance of the meeting by cmmsbkaiveen the Pastor

and Parish Finance Council Chair. The agenda should list the major items for discussion. Supplying
information in advance to members will lead to more productive meetings.

3. Recording of Meeting Minutes
Minutes should be recordeby the Parish Finance Council Secretary and archived as part of the
parish permanent record.

4. Confidentiality

Members should maintain confidentiality on those matters designated as confidential. Materials such
as agendas, meeting minutes, and revigterials should not be disclosed to others if designated as
confidential.

Parish Finance Council meetings are typically not open to the parish community. Reports to the
community will be shared once decisions are finalized. Communication with the gaoigt also
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occur at the onset of studying an issue to solicit needs and concerns, gifts and resources of the parish
community. The primary purpose of the Parish Finance Council is to provide open and honest advice
to the pastor, if the meetings occurred in a puldimrm, the discussion may be too limited. The
Finance Council should advise the pastor on the best ways to keep the parish informed and involved
in key issues and decisions facing the parish.

5. Record Retention

The parish should retain meeting minuteggradas, handouts, reports, and materials reviewed during
the meeting for future reference by either internal or external parties.

V. SUBCOMMITTEES

It often makes sense to divide the Finance Council into subcommittees to deal with responsibilities
and dutes. The magnitude and complexity of the different subcommittees depends upon the size,
resources, obligations, and needs of each particular parish. The Finance Council, following the
priorities established by the Parish Pastoral Council, coordinateotkeofithese subcommittees.

The work of the subcommittees may encompass the following:

1. Budget Subcommittee

1 To assist the pastor in the preparation, presentation, and review of an annual budget for both
operating and capital expenditures based upergtals and objectives determined by the Parish
Pastoral Council. This approved budget should be published and made available to parishioners.

9 To assist other programs and ministries in preparing and submitting their annual budgets to the
parish.

1 To stuly parish revenue and make recommendations to the Parish Pastoral Council for maintaining
and increasing revenues in order to meet parish objectives and priorities.

9 To periodically (e.g. monthly or quarterly) review income and expenditures and make
recommadations as necessary to see that expenses are within set limits. Monitor parish
contribution trends.

1 To provide parishioners with periodic (e.g. seannual or annual), comprehensive written reports
on the parish’”s fi nancitaflactytyp and balanca sheet acoounts.d i n g
Consider oral reports to parishioners to elaborate on key results and issues.

1 To work with the elementary school and the religious education program regarding the budget,
review internal controls of the businesiiae, and prepare recommendations regarding subsidy
approval. The same applies if supporting a regional school or consolidated school and may involve
communication with other Parish Finance Councils or with a School Finance Council.

1 To review periodic faancial audits of the parish performed by an independent auditor and advice
on how to address and correct identified weaknesses.

1 Assist in communicating results of audits to parishioners.
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1 Conduct seHadministered audits of internal controls and procedures. Particularly focus on areas
involving cash receipts and any disbursements. Review procedures used for gathering, counting
and recording Sunday collections and tuition and control of lckunts. Confirm duties are
adequately segregated. Share findings with appropriate diocesan personnel.

9 To ensure that tampe@vident cash bags along with a robust collection and counting procedure is
routinely used in the parish. Tamparident bags wit robust handling procedures are required for
any event or activity handling cash

1 To ensure that bank reconciliations are regularly completed very soon after each bank statement is
received and that the reconciliations are checked by someone other tpanstire performing the
reconciliation.

9 To educate parishioners about stewardship and the need for parish involvement and support. If a
parish has a separate stewardship committee this responsibility would fall to that committee.

1 To review costutting masures when necessary.

2. Facilities and Maintenance Subcommittee
1 Advise the Pastor regarding the results of quarterly inspection of all parish facilities.

1 Recommend repairs or replacements based on priorities established by these inspections.

1 Developa detailed inventory of all parish assets in accordance with Canon 1283.2 and update the
inventory on an annual basis.

1 Assist in the development of guidelines concerning use of parish facilities.
1 Assist in the development of parish energy conservation programs.

9 Develop teams of parishioners who will donate time and talents for parish maintenance tasks,
taking note of the extent to which such work is allowed to be performed by volunteers under the
guidelines of the diocesan risk management and insurance programs.

fReview the parish’s risk management and | oss
action is taken where necessary.

1 Ensure that the safety and security of the parish campulslisssed and reviewed regularly.

3. Financial Planning and Development Subcommittee
1 To provide longrange planning for both the financial and physical needs of the parish.

1 To work closely with the budget and maintenance subcommittees, the ParistalRastorcil,
and other parish organizations to adequately plan and identify for the long range financial and
physical needs of the parish.
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VI. RELATIONSHIP TO PASTORAL COUNCIL

Since the Parish Finance Council relates to the administrative responsibilities of the pastor, it should
not be a part of the Parish Pastoral Council structure. However an officer from the Parish Finance
Council may serve as an-eXficio member of the P&h Pastoral Council. Communication between

the two councils is essential to share information regarding the parish finances in order to implement
the pastoral plans and priorities.

The Finance Council is distinct from the Parish Pastoral Council in dhewfing way: An
appropriate means of communication should be developed between the Parish Finance Council and
the Parish Pastoral Council and this should be done so as to ensure that the Parish Finance Council
does not enter into areas of policy and imisswhich are the prerogative of the Parish Pastoral
Council. The Parish Finance Council advises on the adequacy of resources to accomplish the
mission and specific ministries of the parish.

The Parish Finance Council reviews a draft of the parish ammalehdar prepared by the Parish
Pastoral Council.

VII. RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER PARISH GROUPS/ COUNCILS

Although there is no formal reporting process between the Parish Finance Council and other parish
groups/councils, the Finance Council should interattt parish groups/councils to study, create, and
revise plans for the effective management and use of parish resources.

VIll. ACHECKLIST OF MAJOR ACTIVITIES

The Parish Finance Council should establish an annual plan of its activities. Such a checklist
could include the following activities:

1. Parish Annual Report

a. Review completed report prior to submission to the diocesan bishop. The report should
be complete within 45 days of the end of the fiscal year.

b. Coordinate communication to parishnmmunity of the financial situation of the parish.
Consider using printed material, oral presentations, and parish hall meetings. Report
should be presented to the parish as soon as possible, but no later than 5 months after
the end of the fiscal year.

2. Parish Budget Report

a. Project and plan resources to meet specified goals.

b. Allindividual program budgets are reviewed: church, elementary school, religious
education, and auxiliary groups.

c. Share proposed budget with the Parish Pas@ahcil and the general parish.

d. Complete and submit to diocesan bishop as required.
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3. Financial Review

a.
b.

Financial report and significant financial facts should be prepared for every meeting.
Budget amounts are comparedhe actual income and expenditures to monitor results

in comparison to budget projections.

Year over year trend reports for programs, revenues, and expenses are analyzed to plan
corrective action.

At least quarterly, a representative from Eaeance Council should review the general
ledger detail and reconciliation of cash and investment accounts.

4. Accounting / internal control systembést practices

a.

b.
C.

Review accounting system to determine if it produces current and accurate financial
records.

Ensure that appropriate risk management practices are in place.

Identify all parish bank accounts, not just known operating accounts. Confirm that
these account balances are reflected in the financial statements. Determine if the
numberof accounts can be reduced to ease administration.

Review current bank account signature cards and account reconcilements for all parish
accounts on a regular basis.

Review the separation of duties, to the extent possible, of personnel inirothed

finances of the parish.

Review any statements received for any parish account related to a credit or debit card,
store account, purchase order, purchasing card or other similar instrument. Verify that
purchases had the necessary approvals, fweeeparish (not personal) purpose and are
coded to the proper general ledger account.

5. Auxiliary groups

a.
b.
c.

Review budget and upcoming activities for the next year.
Review revenue and expenses along with bank account reconcilements.

Meet with the groups to acknowledge their contribution of time, talent, and treasure.
Reinforce financial accountability from various groups to the parish.

6. Compliance Oversight

a.

b.

Taxable Activities: review support documentation and tax filings &yrqll taxes
(includingW2 ’ s ) , btabs, @ congessibnl sales.

Licensing Activities: review support documentation and filings for bingo;tpbi,
carnivals, raffles and other events that may be restricted by the local municipality.
Payments for Services Provided to Parish: Confirm that 1099 Federal forms are
complete and filed for independent contractors.

Deductions from parish employee pay: Confirm that payroll deductions are submitted
on a timely basis to the benefit providers.

Confirm that all compensation to employees and contractors, including bonuses or
gifts, is reflected appropriately on the respective fora2 {(for employees) or form
1099 (for independent contractors).
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Appendix A
References- Canons 12811288

Canon 1281 8% With due regard for the prescriptions of their statutes, administrators invalidly posit
acts which go beyond the limits and procedures of ordinary administration unless they first obtain
written authority from the ordinary.

82— The acts wich go beyond the limits and procedures of ordinary administration are to be defined
in the statutes; if, however, the statutes do not mention such acts, it is within the competence of the
diocesan bishop to determine such acts for persons subject tafteimhe has heard the finance
council.

83— Unless and to the extent that it is to its own advantage, a juridic person is not held to answer for
acts invalidly posited by its administrators. A juridic person, however, is responsible for acts
illegitimately but validly posited by its administrators with due regard for the right to sue or to have
recourse against administrators who have damaged it.

Canon 1282 All clerics or lay persons who through a legitimate title take part in the administration
of ecdesiastical goods are bound to fulfill their duties in the name of the Church and in accord with
the norm of law.

Canon 1283- Before administrators take office: £°they must take an oath before the ordinary or

his delegate that they will be efficiemicafaithful administrators; 2= they are to prepare, sign and
subsequently renew an accurate and detailed inventory of immovable goods, movable goods, either
precious or of significant cultural value, or other goods along with a description and appifaisal
them; 3°- one copy of this inventory is to be kept in the archives of the administration; the other, in
the curial archives; any change whatever which the patrimony may undergo is to be noted on each

copy.

Canon 1284 8% All administrators are bountb fulfill their office with the diligence of a
good housekeeper.
82— For this reason they must:

1° —take care that none of the goods entrusted to their care is in any way lost or damaged and take
out insurance policies for this purpose, insofar ab munecessary;

2° —take care that the ownership of ecclesiastical goods is safeguarded through civilly valid methods;
3° — observe the prescriptions of both canon and civil law or those imposed by the founder, donor or
legitimate authority; they must gscially be on guard lest the Church be harmed through the non
observance of civil laws;

4° —accurately collect the revenues and income of goods when they are legally due, safeguard them
once collected and apply them according to the intention of timeléswor according to legitimate

norms;

5°—pay the interest on a loan or mortgage when it is due and take care that the capital debt itself is
repaid in due time;
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6° —with the consent of the ordinary invest the money which ioledt after expenses and which

can be profitably allocated for the goals of the juridic person;

7° —keep well ordered books of receipts and expenditures;

8° —draw up a report on their administration at the end of each year;

9° —duly arrange and keep a suitable and safe archive the documents and deeds upon which are
based the rights of the Church or the institution to its goods; deposit authentic copies of them in the
archive of the curiavhen it can be done conveniently;

83 — It is strongly recommanded that administrators prepare annual budgets of receipts and
expenditures; however, it is left to particular law to issue regulations concerning such budgets and to
determine more precisely how they are to be presented.

Canon 1285- Within the limitsof ordinary administration only, it is permissible for administrators to
make donations for purposes of piety or Christian charity from movable goods which do not pertain
to the stable patrimony.

Canon 1286- Administrators of goods: 12 are to observe meticulously the civil laws pertaining to
labor and social policy according to Church principles in the employment of workersr@to pay
employees a just and decent wage so that they mayderapipropriately for their needs and those of
their family.

Canon 1287 8% Both clerical and lay administrators of any ecclesiastical goods whatsoever which
have not been legitimately exempted from the governing power of the diocesan bishop are bound by
their office to present the local ordinary with an annual report, which in turn he is to present to the
finance council for its consideration; any contrary custom is reprobated.

82 — Administrators are to render an account to the faithful concerningabdsgoffered by the
faithful to the Church, according to norms to be determined by particular law.

Canon 1288- Administrators are neither to initiate nor to contest a lawsuit on behalf of a public
juridic person in civil court unless they obtain the teritpermission of their own ordinary.

Definition: A juridic person is an artificial person constituted by competent ecclesiastical authority
for an apostolic purpose, with a capacity for continuous existence and with canonical rights and
duties like thosef a natural person. Like a ciMw corporation, it is a legal construct which can

and must be conceived of apart from the natural persons who constitute it, administer it, or for whose
benefit it exists. Of its nature, a juridic person is perpetual ande established, it can outlast all
natural persons or material goods which formed it.
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Appendix B
RESOURCES and REFERENCE INFORMATION

Besides these brief guidelines, there are many other materials available on church, fmanhesf

it on the web. Useful information can be found on such websites as the National Leadership
Roundtable on Church Finances, the Archdiocese of Chicago and other diocesan websites. Some of
the documents you might find helpful are listed below.

Archdiocese of Chicago:
T The Archdiocese of Chicago Policies & Proc
t he Chur c hhtp:/polick.archehEano.agl

1 The Archdiocese of Chicago PoliciesRqr ocedur e s, Book 11, “The
Access ahttp://policy.archchicago.org/

T “Best Practices”, issued annually by the D
www.archchicago.org/departments/financial_services/financial.shtm

T “Archdiocese of Chicago: Construction Guid

Archdiocesan Officeof Facilities and Construction. Accessvaiw.archchicago.org
Select "departments then "chancellor's office", "facilities and constructidn
"general information™" and finallthen"constructioimechanicaguidelines.

Catholic Finance Corporation:

9 Various policies and guidelines on parish finances and parish capital projects can be
found atwww.catholicfinance.org speci al ly under the ‘I nform

Archdiocese of St. Louis:

1 A Financial Management and Control Manual for Parisimeay be found at
www.archstl.org/financ@age/financiailmanagemerandcontrotmanuaiparishes This
manual provides tips on finance councils, budgeting, financial reporting, and contains
and internal controls questionnaire.

Church Finance Handbook, Editby Kevin E. McKenna, Lawrence A. DiNardo, Joseph W. Pokusa,
Canon Law Society of America, 1999.

United States Conference of Catholic Bishops (USCCB): I “Diocesan Financial Issues”, Access at
www.usccb.orgdbout/financialreporting/ 1 “Diocesan  Internal ~ Controls: A
Framewor k” , wwAascch.agrgbout&imancialreporting While written for
dioceses, these documents give a helpful framework on issues like reporting, internal
controls, conflicts of interest and other important topics.
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Sample D: Internal Control Questionaire

Parish School City,
State For the year ended

This questionnaire is to be completed by each parisis@mbl annually. Each question must be answered, and

"no" answers must be explained in the comment section next to the question. If you are in doubt as the meaning of a
guestion, please contact the diocesan Finance Office for assistance. This cogquastiehnaire must be submitted

to the diocesan Finance Office within 120 days of the end of the fiscal year, with the required acknowledgment
signatures affixed.

(X) appropriate box Yes No Comment

GENERAL

Doesthe parish have a Finance Council, established and operating in
accordance with Canon Law, and the policies issued by the Diocese? _

Do you have a copy of the current Diocesan Finaftidicies
and Procedures?

Have the Pastor, Business Manager and at least one FiGanoeil
member read the Diocesan Financial Policies and Procedures?

Is the parish in compliance with every policy as included in the
current Diocesan Financial Policies and Procedures?

Is access to the general ledger and supporting subsidiary ledgers
restricted to authorized personnel?

Are subsidiary ledgers maintained and reconcditethe general
ledger on a monthly basis?

FINANCIAL REPORTING

Has the budget been submitted at the beginning of the fiscal year
in accordance with diocesan policy?

Have interim financial reports been submitted in accordance with
diocesan policy during the fiscal year?

Have yeatend financial reports been submitted in accordance
with diocesan policy?

Has the paris/school given the parishioners a complete financial
report for the year?

Does the Finance Council review budget vs. actual variances on
a regular basis, and makadget adjustments as necessary?

Does he Finance Council review and approve interim and
yeaeend financial statements on a timely basis?
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Have all auxiliary groups been informed of diocesan and
parish financial policies, and are they in compliance with them?

ACCOUNTING SYSTEMS

Do you have written procedures ftwetfollowing accounting systems?

Cash Receipts; Cash Disbursements; Personnelagéanent;
Payroll; Purchasingylass Stipends and Stole Fees?

BANK ACCOUNTS

Are bank acounts established, maintained
and reported imaccordance Wi diocesan financial policies?

Is the pastor an authorizeigner on all bank accounts, including
all auxiliary activity bank accounts?

Are all auxiliary activity bank statements received directly at the
Parish and reviewed by parish personnel?

Are all authorzed signers on bank accountsagtordance
with diocesarpolicy?

Are unopened, monthly bank statements delivered directly to the
pastor, or his designee, someone who is independent of the
recording of receipts and disls@ments into the general ledger,
and is the statement opened and its contents reviewed by this
person?

Are monthly bank reconciliations performed for all bank
accounts, by someone who is independent of recording cash
transactionsand are all reconciling differences resolved on

a timely basis?

Are bank reconciliations reviewed by someone other than the
preparer on a periodic basis?

On a test basis, are endorsememtgleared disbursement
checks compared to theayee on the front of the check?

Are disbursement checks indicated as outstanding for more than
60 days investigated and resolved?

Does the Finance Couneipprove the opening and closing of
all bank accounts?

Does someone other than the Bookkeeper review the monthly

activity in the savings accounts with the diocese, and compare
such activity to the activity posted in the gendediyer?

Are funds received for Mass stipends recorded separately
from other funds, and a record kept of all Masses said in
accordancevith Canonical and diocesan requirements?

Are funds in excess of&0 day operating requirement
transferred to the Diocesan Savings & Loan Program
for investment?
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CASH RECEIPTS

Are responsibilities for collection and deposit preparation
functions segregated from thd®e recording casheceipts
and general ledger entries?

Is the parish/school in compliance with diocesan policies with
respect to ash receipts?

Has the parish established offertory count procedures in

accordance with diocesan guidelines, and are these
procedures being followed?

Is an envelope process for offertory in place, and are periodic

statements sent to parishioners giving them a record of their
contributions to the arish?

If a parishioner disputes their offertory statement, is the dispute
resolved by someone other than personnel who handle and
record cash receipts?

Are all cash receipts deposited and recordetiergeneral
ledger in the proper account on a timely basis (preferably, daily)?

Is all cash received deposited intact, and no funds removed from
the deposit?

Is a subsidiary record of all accounts rgedie kept, outstanding
amounts followeelp on, and is the record reconciled to the
general ledger on a mongtibasis?

Is a restrictive endorsement placed upon each incoming check
when it is received?

Are records of cash received, including offertory, compared to
bank validated deposit slips on a daily basis?

Are "NSF" checks followedip immediately, resolved and
adjusted as necessary?

Are restri¢ed donations recorded as restricted, and used only for
the restricted purpose imposed by the donor? Is a record kept of
the use of the restricted funds?

Are endowed funds received recorded as endowment, and is only
the investrent ircome expended for ministry use?

Are all bequests and trusts where the parish/school is a beneficiary
handled in accordance with Canonical and diocesan requirements

for the acceptance and receipt of such gifts?

CASH DISBURSEMENTS

Is the parish/school in compliance with diocesan policies with
respect to cash disbursements?

Do procedures exist to insure that disbursements are made only
for budgeted matters, or have specific Finance Council approval,
and to insure thatll disbursements are approved?
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Is cash disbursed only upon receipt of properly approved original
vendor invoices, or ppealy approved check requests?

Do check signers review support documents before signing
checks?

Do procedures exist to insure tlzditdisbursements are properly
classified in the general ledger?

Are unissued, blank checks under tight control and
accounted for?

Is the drawing of cheekto cash or bearer prohibited?
Is the use of facsir@ signature stamps prohibited?

Are credit cards issued and used only in accordance with
diocesan policy?

Is the use of debit cards prohibited?

Are all expenses paid when due, and are all vendor discounts
taken?

If a discretionary account exists, is the activity reported on
the parish financial reports? Is confidentialitintined
for the funds disbursed?

Are "voided" checks destroyed by someone independent of
the cash disbursement recordfagction, and is the voided
checkrecorded as voided immediately?

Have funds collected for National and Special collections been

remitted to the Diocese within 30 days of the collectibn

PERSONNELAND PAYROLL:

Is the parish/school in compliance with diocesan policy wit
respect to personnel management and payroll issues, including
USCCB and diocesan policy with respect to

Safe Environmen®rotection?

Are complete persomhfiles maintained for all employees?

Are all employees properly classified as "exempt" or
"nonexempt"?

Are all payments to individuals, other than to Religious,
and other than for properccounted for employee expense
reimburserents, reported on IRS Form-@p

Are the required tax withholdings made from indivals

paychecks and remitted to ttexing authority in accordance
with their rules and regulations?

Are all payments made to and for Religious who are subject to
policy and IRS regulations?

Is Form 1099 issued to indepmt contractors, in accordance
with IRS regulatios?
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Are all payroll tax returns filed, and payroll taxes remitted, in
accordance with IRS, State abdcal regulations, on a timedasis?

Are all diocesan clergy recognized and reported as employees
for Federal Incom&ax purposes, but as Self Employed
individuals fa Social Security Tax purposes?

Are clergy Mass stipends and stole fees reported to the IRS as
income in accordance with diocesan policy?

Are the elgibility requirements for all diocesan employee benefit
plans carefully observed with respect to each employee so that
no one will beinproperly included or excluded?

Are withholdings from checks to employees for contributory
paricipations in diocesan emplogdenefit plans remitted to the
plans on a timely basis?

Acknowledgment

We, the undersigned, acknowledge the following concerning this questionnaire:

1. We are familiar with these internal controls as recommended by the Diocese.

2. Where we have answered "no" to a control question, we have explained above why it was not practical or
appropriate to follow the internal control, and that we have implementaliieainative control procedure which
conforms as closely as possible to the spirit of the control procedure as established by the diocese.

3. We have met to review and discuss all of the above internal controls, and represent that they are functioning as
requred except as indicated otherwise.

4. We are not aware of any parish or school checking, savings or other accounts that have been omitted from the
accounting records and our financial reports.

SIGNATURES:
Pastor
Principal
Business/Office Manager

Bookkeeper
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Appendix A — Financial Statements and Notes — Samples

The following Accounting Standards Codification subtopics establish standards for general
purpose external financial statements provided by dargirofit entity:

1 ASC 958205: Presentation of Financial Statements

1 ASC 958210: Balance Sheet

1 ASC 958225: Income Statement

1 ASC 958230: Statement of Cash Flows

Even though ASC Topic 95&ecifies certain requirements, includihg classification of net assets
based upon the existenoeabsence of donor imposed restrictions, it does allow the organization a
certain degree of flexibility in their presentation of financial information.

In that context, the following links are provided to actual financial statements issued by various
(arch)dioceses based upon various factors including, size of the diocesan population, geographic
location, and function of diocesan entity. The links toricial statements included herein address

the myriad of functions that various (arch)diocesan administrations oversee and administer, such as,
Catholic Charities, a deposit and loan corporation, cemeteries, foundations, and other related
organizations. Theappendix is designed to be used as a guide to various financial statement
presentation and disclosure options for similar entities within dioceses.

LARGE (ARCH)DIOCESES:

Archdiocese of Chicago
http://www.archchicago.org/pdf/annual_report/cfs_13.pdf

Diocese of Orange
http://www.rcbo.org/images/stories/RCBO_Financial_Audit_Final FY13.pdf

MEDIUM (ARCH)DIOCESES:

Diocese of Davenport
http://www.davenportdiocese.org/development/developmentlibrary/CatholicFoundation2010

FINAL.pdf

Archdiocese of Kansas City (Kansas)
http://www.archkck.org/file/AKCKJunel3--Final.pdf

SMALL (ARCH)DIOCESES:

Diocese of Boise
http://www.catholicidaho.org/en/DiocesanOffices/FinanceDepartment/Documents/2014
%20files/June%2030%202013%20and%2012%20final.pdf

Diocese of Salt Lake City
http://www.dioslc.org/images/finance/2014 Audit RCB_final.pdf
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Appendix B — Resources

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA)—Promulgates auditing standards

for CPAs in the United States and is also a source of additional guidance on application of
accounting standards. Includes the Accounting Standards Executive Committee (AcSEC). Website:
www.aicpa.org Address: 1211 Avenue tie Americas, New York, NY 10036.

Association of Certified Fraud Examiners—Offers resources to help organizations implement
fraud protection environment and measures to reduce risk of fraud. Welsitecfenet.com
http://www.acfe.com/

Canon Law Society of America (CLSA)—A professional association whose members are dedicated
to the promotion of the study and application of canon law in the Roman Catholic Church. Website:
www.clsa.org Address: The Hecker Center, Suite 111, 3025 Fourth Street, NE, WashiDgl
200171102, USA. Website: http://www.clsa.org/

Conference for Catholic Facility Management (CCFM)—provides a forum and a network for
persons having responsibility for diocesan or religiowsed buildings and/or properties. Address:
P.O. Box 61846, Chicago, IL 60661Website: www.ccfm.net

Church Law & Tax Report—A review of legal and tax developments affecting ministers and
churches. Published bimonthly by Christian Ministry Resources, P.O. Box 1098, Matthews, NC,
28106. Website: http://www.churchlawandtax.com/cltr/

Diocesan Fiscal Management Conference (DFMC)—"Provides fiscal and administrative expertise
and professional services to the local and national Church." Address: 716 S. Koenigheim Street, San
Angelo, TX 76903 Website:www.dfmcohorg.

Diocesan Information Systems Conference (DISC)—maintains an wpo-date listing of financial
and other software used by member dioceses throughout the United States. Website:
www.discinfo.org

Ethics Resource Center—provides expertise and servidesstrengthen ethical leadership. Website:
www.ethics.org

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)—Promulgates accounting standards forprofit

and commercial entities in the United States. Source for Statements of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS). Address: 401 Merritt 7, P.O. Box 5116, Norwalk, CT €B6BBG Website:
www.fasb.org

Foundation and Donors Interested in Catholic Activities (FADICA)—An association of
independent foundations with interests in projects under Catholic sponsorsiigress: 1350
Connecticut Avenue NW, Suite 303, Washington, DC 20086&bsite: http://www.fadica.org/main/

Institute of Management Accountants—Predominately for "for profit" organizations, but, their
financial management resources still recommended for use in most dioceses. Website:
www.imanet.og

Internal Revenue Service (IRS)—Offers Publication 517Social Security and Other Information
for Members of the Clergy and Religious Workensg Publication 1828ax Guide for Churches
and Religiou®rganizations as well as other publications. Websgitew.irs.gov.
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Information Systems Audit and Control Association—Offers resources to aid in automated
systems environment, structure and controls. Wehsitav.isaca.org

National Association of Church Personnel Administrators (NACPA)—Offers resources fo
use in church personnel management. Address: 100 E. Eighth St., Cincinnati, OR345202
Website: http://www.nacpa.org/live/

National Association of Treasurers of Religious Institutes (NATRI)—Publishes Financial
Management and Accountid@danual forReligious Institutes, 3rd ed. (1999)
Address:8824CameronSt..SilverSpring.M0910 Website:
http://www.razoo.com/story/NationdissociationFor-TreasirersOf-ReligiousInstitutes

National Federation of Priests’ Council (NFPC)—Offersincome Taxes for Priests Ortby
Wayne Martin Lenell, C.P.A., Ph.D. Website NFPC.org. Address: 1337 W. Ohio Street,

Chicago, IL 60622Website: http://nfpc.org/

Practitioners Publishing Company (PPC)—Offers a variety of publications, includinguide to
Preparing Nonprofit Financial Statements, 990 Deskbook, and Audits of Nonprofit Organizations.
Address: P.O. Box 966, Fort Worth, TX 7610966. Websitewww.ppcnet.com

Society for Human Resource Management—Offers resources for use in personnel
management: Websiteww.shrm.org

United States Conference of Catholic Bishops (USCCB)—Offers this manual an®iocesan
Internal Controls: A FrameworKavailable from USCCB Publishing), as well as a variety of
resources from the Office of General Counsel. Address: 3211 Fourth Street NE, Washington, DC
200171194. PhonelUUSCCB Publishing, 80@358722; OGC or other offices, 2&241-3000.
Website:.www.usccb.org.

United States Office of Management and Budget (OMB)—Issues rules for entities receiving
federal assistance and for audits of those entitheidress: 725 17tht&et NW, Washington, DC
20503. Websitewww. whitehouse.gov/omb/grants.

Implementing Guidance for the Reports on Use of Funds Pursuant to the Recovery Act --
http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/omb/assets/memoranda fy2002/yodf
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